

Title	Surface doping and stabilisation of alternative CMOS material systems
Authors	Alessio Verni, Giuseppe
Publication date	2021
Original Citation	Alessio Verni, G. 2021. Surface doping and stabilisation of alternative CMOS material systems. PhD Thesis, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Doctoral thesis
Rights	© 2021, Giuseppe Alessio Verni https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/
Download date	2025-06-29 03:47:40
Item downloaded from	https://hdl.handle.net/10468/13239



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh

# Ollscoil na hÉireann, Corcaigh National University of Ireland, Cork



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh

## Surface Doping and Stabilisation of Alternative CMOS Material Systems

Thesis presented by

### Giuseppe Alessio Verni, BSc 0000-0002-5512-5930

for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

## University College Cork School of Chemistry

Head of School: Dr. Humphrey Moynihan Supervisor: Prof. Justin D. Holmes

2020/2021

### **Table of Contents**

Declaration
Abstract
List of abbreviationsix
Acknowledgments xi
Dedicationxiii
<b>CHAPTER 1: Introduction</b>
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Alternative Semiconductor Doping Methods
<b>1.2.1 The Evolution of the Transistor</b>
1.2.1.1 Scaling down Device sizes
1.2.1.2 Transistor Fabrication8
1.2.2 State-of-the-Art in MLD12
1.2.2.1 Monolayer Doping of Group IV Materials13
<b>1.2.2.2 Monolayer Doping of Group III-V Materials</b>
1.2.3 Alternative Materials to Silicon
1.2.3.1 Germanium
1.2.3.2 Gallium Nitride
1.3. Oxide Removal and Surface Passivation of MBE Grown Bismuth Thin
Films
<b>1.3.1 Potential of Bismuth</b>
1.3.2 Bismuth Oxide and Surface Functionalisation31

1.4 Bibliography	6
CHAPTER 2: Experimental	
2.1 Dopant Precursor Synthesis	5
2.2 Characterisation Techniques5	6
2.2.1 X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy5	6
2.2.2 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) and Attenuated Tota	l
Reflectance (ATR) FTIR5	7
2.2.3 Electrochemical Capacitance Voltage Dopant Profiling	8
2.2.4 Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry 5	9
2.2.5 Nanowire Electrical Measurements6	0
2.2.6 Electron Microscopy6	1
2.2.7 Atomic Force Microscopy 6	1
2.2.8 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance	1
2.2.9 Photoluminescence spectroscopy	2
2.2.10 Hall Measurements	2
2.3 Molecular Layer Doping (MLD) of Germanium Substrates and Nanowires	
using organoarsenic and organophosphorus precursors6	3
2.3.1 Functionalisation Procedure for Ge substrates using Triallylarsine	
(TAA) and Allyldiphenylphosphine oxide (ADPO)6	3
2.3.2 Fabrication of Ge-on-insulator Nanowire Test Structures	4
2.4 Molecular Layer Doping of GaN Substrates with Silicon	5
2.4.1 GaN Substrate Growth	5

2.4.2 Functionalisation GaN Substrates with (3-Aminopropyl)triethoxysilane
2.5 Oxide removal and stabilization of bismuth thin films through chemically
bound thiol layers
2.5.1 Bismuth Thin Film Growth66
2.5.2 General Passivation Procedure of Bismuth with 1-dodecanethiol67
2.6 Bibliography
<u>CHAPTER 3: Molecular Layer Doping (MLD) of Germanium Substrates and</u> Nanowires using Organoarsenic and Organophosphorus Precursors
<b>3.1</b> Abstract
<b>3.2 Introduction</b>
3.3 Results and Discussion
3.3.1 Surface Passivation and Functionalisation73
3.3.2 Thermal Budget and Capping Study77
3.3.3 Dopant Diffusion81
3.3.4 Resistance Reduction in GeOI Nanowire Devices
3.4 Conclusions
3.5 Bibliography
<u>CHAPTER 4: Monolayer Doping of GaN Substrates with an Organosilicon</u> <u>Precursor</u>
4.1 Abstract
<b>4.2 Introduction</b>
4.3 Results and Discussion

<b>4.3.1 Surface functionalisation</b> 10	0
4.3.2 Dopant profiling10	17
4.4 Conclusions 11	5
4.5 Bibliography 11	7
<u>CHAPTER 5: Oxide Removal and Stabilisation of Bismuth Thin Films</u> <u>Through Chemically Bound Thiol Layers</u>	
5.1 Abstract	27
<b>5.2 Introduction</b>	27
5.3 Results and Discussion	52
5.4 Conclusions 14	4
5.5 Bibliography 14	⊧5
<b>CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Future Work</b>	
6.1 Conclusions	3
6.2 Future Work 15	5
6.3 Bibliography	8

### **Declaration**

This is to certify that the work I, Giuseppe Alessio Verni, am submitting is my own and has not been submitted for another degree, either at University College Cork or elsewhere. All external references and sources are clearly acknowledged and identified within the contents. I have read and understood the regulations of University College Cork concerning plagiarism and intellectual property.

Giuseppe Alessio Verni

### Abstract

Current electronic devices are built by employing numerous materials and a diverse array of fabrication processes. Semiconductors are the main building block which are used to create transistors. For the past 50 years, the size of a transistor has halved every 18-24 months, in accordance with Moore's Law, allowing the semiconductor industry to pack more of them into a single chip, which has resulted in a significant increase in the processing power of computers over this period. However, this scaling of the transistor cannot continue indefinitely due to material limitations when dev ice sizes reach the order of only a few hundred atoms; this has led to the definition from the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) of key technical challenges and requirements to sustain this scaling by going More Moore. Some of the most interesting challenges include implementation of high-mobility CMOS materials, for example by introducing Ge or III-V compounds as channel materials, as well as scaling of Si (and its alternatives) CMOS, for which it will be necessary to tackle numerous issues such as parasitic control and gate stack engineering. The introduction of alternative CMOS channel materials comes with a wide array of problems, as each material comes with its set of advantages and disadvantages. Ge CMOS has higher intrinsic mobility than Si, both for *n*-type and *p*-type carriers, but *n*-channel implementation is challenging due to source-drain doping and contacting issues. III-V materials in general lack good mobility for *p*-type carriers and therefore would need to be integrated together for example with Ge, even if this then adds to the complexity of the whole process. As already mentioned, in addition to these integration challenges there is a whole set of scaling issues that must be addressed. In order to successfully continue scaling devices down and meet performance requirements, a wide array of process and material innovations will be needed,

particularly as we transition from planar transistor, to finFET and gate-all-around (GAA) architectures which come with some manufacturing challenges. One of such challenges is the engineering of the transistor junction by conformal doping, in which the dopant addition must be precisely controlled, both spatially and quantitatively. Monolayer doping (MLD) has the potential to satisfy these needs as it allows for precise dopant control, due to its intrinsic self-limiting nature, while also being inherently conformal as it relies on surface reactions between a dopant molecule and a target surface. Chapters 3 & 4 of the thesis describe the application of MLD on highmobility alternative channel materials, such as germanium and gallium nitride. Another challenge identified by the ITRS for future devices is the overall reduction of processes and materials used in device fabrication in order to simplify the whole process flow. For example, the implementation of a monolithic material CMOS *n*- and *p*-channel would simplify process and material requirements as there would be no need to engineer different gate dielectrics or gate metals for different channels. Bismuth has recently been shown as a potential material for the formation of monolithic transistors in which the source, drain and channel are all made of the same material and where thickness can be used as the knob to tune the electrical properties of each element of the device. This would in turn allow to greatly reduce the number of steps in the channel fabrication, thus reducing integration complexity. However, bismuth readily passivates in air and forms a surface oxide which can potentially hinder further processing steps. Chapter 5 of this thesis focuses on a novel method for the removal of the oxide and the subsequent bare bismuth surface passivation which then allows for ambient handling of the now stabilised material.

### List of abbreviations

2D	Two dimensional
3D	Three dimensional
ABAPE	Allyl boronic acid pinacol ester
ADP	Allyldiphenyl phosphine
AFM	Atomic Force Microscopy
APTES	Aminopropyl triethoxysilane
CFET	Complementary Field Effect Transistor
CMGT	<b>Confinement Modulated Gap Transistor</b>
CMOS	<b>Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor</b>
CVD	Chemical Vapour Deposition
DI	Deionised Water
ECV	Electrochemical Capacitance Voltage
EUV	Extreme UltraViolet
FET	Field-Effect Transistor
FFT	Fast Fourier Transform
FIB	Focused Ion Beam
FinFET	Fin Field-Effect Transistor
FTIR	Fourier Transform InfraRed
GAA	Gate All Around
GeOI	Germanium on insulator
HRTEM	High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy
IPA	Isopropyl alcohol
ITRS	International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors
MBE	Molecular Beam Epitaxy
MLCD	Monolayer Contact Doping
MLD	Monolayer Doping
MOCVD	Metal Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor
MOVPE	Metal Organic Vapour Phase Epitaxy
NGL	Next Generation Lithography
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
NMOS	n-channel MOSFET

NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NW	Nanowire
PMOS	p-channel MOSFET
PV	Photovoltaic
RCA	Radio Corporation of America
RTA	Rapid Thermal Anneal
SAM	Self Assembled Monolayer
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
SIMS	Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry
SOI	Silicon on insulator
ТАА	Triallylarsine
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
TOF-SIMS	Time-of-flight SIMS
UHV	Ultra-high vacuum
UV	Ultraviolet
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy

### Acknowledgments

After a lengthy writing process, I am very relieved to have finally managed to finish up my doctoral thesis. The journey that began in 2011 with my Erasmus over in UCC has come to an end. First and foremost, my thanks to Prof. Justin Holmes for giving me an opportunity to join his group and supervising me during these last years. Even after few years working in industry, I still consider him one of the best managers I have ever had the privilege to work for; extremely down-to-earth, a true lab leader and always ready to challenge and give criticism in order to form the spirit for whatever came after the labwork. I am also forever grateful to Dr. Brenda Long, for bringing me into the MLD world and for helping me in learning unvaluable skills both inside and outside the lab. Never once I was denied a chance to go outside my comfort zone and I was always encouraged to take on new challenges.

But the time over in the Kane, and Tyndall, has also led me to cross paths with so many other individuals with whom I have shared my daily routine for 4 years. Thanks to Ray, Gillian and Subha for their expert guidance as the group postdocs, teaching us poor grad students how to be a better scientist and giving a helping hand when in need. Thanks to the 115 crew, John, Jess, Darragh, Sally, Mark, Andres, Colm Glynn, Dave McNulty, Fionán, Elaine, Mohammad, Kamil and to the 343 troop, Hugh, Parvaneh, Elsa, Tim, Eileen, Davy Sulls, Tandra, Niall, Atul Thorat and Sankar. It was truly my family away from home and I am glad for all the laughs and the good times we had in the lab, Kampus Kitchen, tag-rugby field, or the ice-rink. A huge thanks also to everyone down at the ERI, Eoin, Jovanna, Joe, Russell, Hadi and Tommy; the hours spent over there collecting XPS data were definitely made more enjoyable thanks to you. I would also like to thank the Chemistry staff, from Christine and Ann to the lads in the workshop (Tony, Mick, and Johnny), Matthias in IT, and Tina and Dennis in the stores. Nothing could have happened, both inside and outside the lab, without your help as well. Also, thanks to Ian, Trevor, and Aoife for enduring my unorthodox teaching methods as a demonstrator for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> year labs.

A special thanks also to all the people I have met after UCC but that still have helped me (directly and indirectly) in becoming an even better scientist and nudged me towards the end of this path, Dries, Andrea, Michael, and Qi. Rami and Lucas, not only you have helped numerous times me moving apartments over here in Belgium, but you also have been an invaluable cornerstone of this thesis as you have also given me that last push needed to get things finished.

Last, but not least, I would like to thank my family; my mother and my father for supporting me in this never-ending quest, for always pushing me to give my best and constantly giving me opportunities to better myself. Thanks to Giorgia and Giovanni for being the best siblings I could ever dream of. And also, to my grandparents, who unfortunately are not here anymore, Giovanni, Giuseppe, Valeria and Adriana.

Valerie, my love, thanks for being by my side for all this journey; I have met you when I had just started, and we just got married now that I finish. You have been the pillar around which I have got this thesis done. I could not be here today without you and for this, and for Mariano, I am forever grateful to you. Dedication

## Dedicated to my family, my wife, and my son

# **Chapter 1**

Introduction

### **1.1 Introduction**

Materials for electronics play a dominant role in our everyday lives. Silicon, for example, is the foundation of the integrated circuit present in all devices we interact with daily, such as mobile phones, cars, or personal computers. The integrated circuit generates revenue of > \$300 billion for the semiconductor industry which, in turn, fuels the > \$1.5 trillion global electronics market<sup>1</sup>. Given the massive scale of this market, as devices have reached nanometre scales, where surface or interfacial properties can dominate over the bulk<sup>2</sup>, understanding materials properties and surface chemistry is a very important area of study.

This thesis explores novel, non-destructive methods for doping of silicon alternatives, such as germanium and gallium nitride, as well as passivation methods for bismuth, which has potential for future nanoelectronics applications. such as confinement modulated gap transistors (CMGT)<sup>3</sup>.

Semiconductor surface chemistry has been studied for several decades, where highly sensitive analytical techniques such as X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) or secondary ion mass spectroscopy (SIMS), have enabled an in-depth understanding of the first few nanometers of the surface. With the rapid growth of the semiconductor market, fuelled by device miniaturisation, the number of publications has steadily increased with currently more than 300 publications per year on semiconductor surface chemistry (**Figure 1.1**).



*Figure 1.1:* Web of Science Citation Report. Included are the total citations and publications per year with "Surface Chemistry" and "Semiconductor" in the title.<sup>4</sup>

To a degree, the reactivity of semiconductor surfaces parallels that of its solutionphase equivalents, *e.g.* silanes for Si and germanes for Ge, however, there are many cases where effects from the bulk can influence the reaction outcome<sup>5</sup>. Organic functionalisation of semiconductors is an actively growing field examining the attachment of organic groups to surfaces, both in vacuum and in solution<sup>2</sup>. Functionalisation can then lead to changes in the properties of surfaces which can be exploited in various ways, such as wetting<sup>6</sup>, sensing<sup>7</sup>, biomolecular applications<sup>8</sup> or nano-patterning<sup>9</sup>. Surface passivation<sup>10</sup> is one of the methods described in this thesis, highlighting the ability of certain classes of molecules to render a surface inert. As mentioned, one of the topics investigated in the research described in this thesis is monolayer doping<sup>11</sup> via organic functionalisation, for electronic applications. The surface chemistry of the semiconductor of choice is exploited in order to graft a dopant-containing organic molecule which, upon annealing, is decomposed and leads to diffusion of the dopant into the bulk of the material<sup>12</sup>.

The reactivity of a semiconductor is partly controlled by the dangling bonds present at its surface, due to the bulk structure being truncated; since the 1950s it has been known that these surfaces undergo reconstruction compared to the bulk<sup>13</sup>. Duke<sup>14,15</sup> has set out principles that describe the reconstruction of tetrahedral semiconductor surfaces, e.g. Ge and Si. The first principle describes how the semiconductor surface atoms re-arrange their position to remove any dangling bonds (which in turn would give rise to metallic bands) and revert the surface state to semiconducting to minimise Gibbs energy.<sup>14</sup> This energy minimisation is a trade-off between energy gained by eliminating the dangling bonds with energy lost because of bond strain, resulting from the new configuration. Consequently, both Si and Ge undergo extensive surface reconstruction, *i.e.* the surface atomic geometry differs significantly from that of the bulk<sup>2,15</sup>. This is true for both crystal orientation of Ge, *i.e.* (100) and (111). In the (111) surface the surface atoms retain the same position as the bulk. On the other hand, the (100) surface reconstructs to form germanium dimer pairs, thus reducing the amount of dangling bonds from two to one per surface atom; this leads to buckled dimer pairs in which the up atom is more nucleophilic and down atom is more electrophilic, which in turn affects how the surface behaves towards functionalisation<sup>15,16</sup>, as described in detail in Chapter 3 of this thesis..

The surface functionalisation of GaN was the focus of my research described in **Chapter 4** of this thesis. GaN presents a wurzite structure, with a polar axis that is parallel to the *c*-direction of the crystal lattice. Because of this axis, GaN grown on a heterosubstrate can have two inequivalent orientation, named Ga-face (also known as (0001), *c*) or N-face (also known as (000-1), -*c*) polarities according to the atoms of the Ga-N bilayer that are facing the surface (**Figure 1.2**)<sup>17</sup>. The polarity of the wurzite structure leads to piezoelectric behaviour along the [0001] direction leading to detrimental effects on optoelectronic devices.<sup>18</sup> However the Ga-polar GaN is the most widely used orientation, as it leads to higher quality epitaxial layers with lower dislocation density compared to non-polar layers<sup>19</sup>; due to these differences, the surfaces display different sensitivity towards chemical treatments, as well as different oxidation behaviour.<sup>20</sup>



*Figure 1.2:* Schematic of a GaN/sapphire interface with (right) or without (left) an AlN buffer layer. This causes polarity inversion<sup>15</sup>.

**Chapter 5** describes my research on oxide removal and stabilisation of bismuth thin films. The aim of working with bismuth was to remove the oxide and passivate the surface to enable ambient air handling. Semimetals, such as Bi, present a behaviour that, as the name suggests, is intermediate between a semiconductor and a metal;

depending on structural details or external parameters, *e.g.* materials thickness, the surface can be expected to either turn into a metal or a semiconductor<sup>21</sup>. The latter case is what happens in the case of bismuth, with its surface displaying semiconducting behaviour when reaching a critical thickness and behaving as a two-dimensional material<sup>21</sup>. However, as bismuth readily oxidises when exposed to air, it is necessary to either protect the surface against reoxidation, or remove the insulating oxides in order to restore the metallic behaviour of the thin films.

### **1.2 Alternative Semiconductor Doping Methods**

### **1.2.1 The Evolution of the Transistor**

### **1.2.1.1 Scaling down Device sizes**

The semiconductor industry has been driven since its inception, by what is long since known as Moore's Law<sup>22–24</sup>, which states that the density of components, *i.e.* transistors in an integrated circuit doubles roughly every two years (**Figure 1.3**). However, in recent years, the push from industry has been more targeted towards pushing this scaling by employing more complex architectures, such as nanosheet, forksheet and multi-tiered complimentary FET (CFET) (**Figure 1.4**). As a direct consequence, the size of features is constantly downscaling to accommodate as many transistors as possible per unit area. By industry standards, each generation of the technology node is designated by the gate length. While the first commercially available Intel CPU used in 1971 was manufactured using the 10  $\mu$ m node process, current Intel household processors are part of the 14 nm node (>700 times smaller), thanks to the development of more advanced fabrication techniques, as well as a better understanding of the behaviour of physics at extremely small scales. Smaller devices

lead to better manufacturing efficiency, lower production costs, reduced power consumption and better performing processors.



*Figure 1.3:* Moore's law showing transistor counts for commercially available processors used for logic CPUs and RAM modules, the two largest segments of the semiconductor market.<sup>25</sup>



**Figure 1.4:** Overview of the IMEC Logic Device technology roadmap; on top are the expected gate architectures for the next technology nodes. On the bottom are illustrate the material and process innovations that can enable the development and integration of the new architectures in the next nodes.<sup>26</sup>

### **1.2.1.2 Transistor Fabrication**

Although germanium (Ge) was the material of choice for the fabrication of the first ever transistor in 1947, the industry quickly transitioned to silicon (Si) as the material of choice for device fabrication; being the most abundant material in the Earth's crust, its cost is cheaper than all other potential materials, thus leading to cheaper devices despite its mobility being lower than most semiconductors. In addition, its native oxide (silicon dioxide, SiO<sub>2</sub>) is an excellent dielectric material due to its exceptional chemical and thermal stability, high dielectric strength and relatively wide band-gap<sup>27</sup>. SiO<sub>2</sub> can be easily thermally grown or deposited on numerous materials<sup>28</sup>, thus again keeping the overall device cost down and allowing for efficient production.

Current devices are being fabricated at the industrial level using photolithography, which involves a series of spin coating, baking and UV etching steps, used to transfer a predefined pattern onto the surface of a substrate with the final goal of building an integrated circuit. As the minimum resolvable linewidth is directly dependent on the wavelength of the source used during the etch, etching systems have evolved from using a UV light source at 365 nm, to deep-UV excimer laser exposure systems with wavelengths down to 193 nm, which allow for a minimum feature size of 100 nm. However, it is very challenging to create lasers with wavelengths lower than this as they require vacuum systems and purge equipment to prevent UV absorption from air. To further improve the resolution, the air gap between the focusing lens and the wafer surface was replaced by a liquid medium, thus increasing the resolution due to the different refractive index; immersion lithography allows resolutions down to 22 nm when using 193 nm ArF lasers. As we are currently moving towards the 7 nm node, lower resolutions are required; the current industry standard relies on ArF immersion

lithography, with up to 4 patterning steps used to achieve smaller features. However, this leads to an increase in production costs due to the added processing steps.

Consequently, next-generation lithography techniques (NGL) are being currently investigated, with the aim of replacing immersion photolithography. One of these candidates is e-beam lithography, which is currently being used to produce sub-10 nm features; instead of using light, a beam of electrons is used to directly write patterns into the resist, with the wavelength being adjusted by changing the energy (kV) of the incident beam. Thus, control over the generation of secondary and back scattered electrons is possible. Their lateral spread and interaction with the resist determine the resolution of the technique. However, the main drawback to this technique is that the patterning process is serial and not parallel, respectively, thus leading to very low throughput. This, together with its very prohibitive cost, makes EBL unviable for patterning on an industrial scale. Another candidate being actively explored by manufacturers is extreme ultraviolet (EUV) lithography, which allows for below 20 nm resolution in a conventional lithography setup; however, this comes at about a quarter of the throughput of immersion lithography tools, as well as stochastic printing failures<sup>29</sup>, which increases the number of defects on the patterned substrate, and the steep cost of the equipment.

With device size scaling down and new architecture designs being considered, such as free-standing nanowires and nanosheets, the relatively low carrier mobility of silicon is becoming increasingly more problematic. At sub-10 nm dimensions, scattering effects become more dominant, leading to higher power consumptions therefore higher mobility materials are required to compensate for this<sup>30</sup>.

Different enablers (**Figure 1.5**) have been implemented as industry standards in order to mitigate these issues; high-k dielectrics, such as HfO<sub>2</sub>, have long been used as substitutes of SiO<sub>2</sub> in order to better control the current flow by the gate using a thicker gate oxide layer. Different substrate materials, such as Ge, SiGe or III-V compounds, *e.g.* AlGaN, InGaAs, are also being slowly integrated as Si-channel substitutes due to their higher carrier mobilities, which leads to lower power consumption to achieve the same electrical performance of their Si counterparts. From an architecture perspective, devices have transitioned from planar designs to three dimensional geometries, such as Fin Field Effect Transistors (FinFETs), with gate-all-around (GAA) FETs being explored as next-generation solutions.



**Figure 1.5:** Schematic showing how the device scaling has been allowed to progress over time. At first, the lithography process was enough to scale down to roughly 45 nm gate length. Following that, higher-k material such as HfO<sub>2</sub> allowed further scaling of dimensions by substituting SiO<sub>2</sub> and, recently, architectural innovation in the form of FinFET, GAA FETs and CFET, allowing the scaling and increase in transistor density to continue.<sup>31</sup>

As in 3D architectures the gate encircles the transistor on different sides, it is possible to control the short channel effects more efficiently than traditional MOSFETs and reduce the drain currents at small sizes<sup>32,33</sup>. To confine the current at the semiconductor-dielectric interface and thus allow better current control, devices require ultra-shallow junctions with very sharp dopant depth profiles. Ideally, the dopant employed should have (i) low diffusivity to allow for better junction control as dimensions are reaching a limit and architecture complexity increases and (ii) high solid solubility in order to get high dopant concentrations.<sup>34</sup>

Doping is the intentional introduction of impurities inside a semiconductor to modulate its electrical properties by substituting atoms in the lattice. Two different types of impurities can be used for this purpose: acceptors (or p-dopants), or donors (or n-dopants). Acceptor atoms have fewer valence electrons than the target semiconductor. When introduced into the host lattice they leave a 'hole' which can carry current as it travels around the lattice. In a similar fashion, donor atoms have more valence electron than the target semiconductor. When introduced from the matrix and are free to move around. Electrons and holes are known as charge carriers.

The current industry standard technique used for semiconductor doping is ion implantation, due to its high adaptability and low cost compared to other methods such as epitaxy, MOCVD<sup>35</sup> or plasma doping<sup>36</sup>. Ion implantation relies on accelerating ions of one element into a solid target. However, there are major drawbacks when using ion doping on nanoscale structures, such as lack of depth control, shadowing effects and random dopant distribution<sup>37</sup>. In addition, the high-energy beam employed causes crystal damage to the irradiated substrate; while defects can be annealed out in planar devices, for sub-10 nm tri-dimensional structures, this process leads to irreversible

amorphisation and, as a consequence, to poor electrical performance<sup>38</sup>. The chemical doping methods herein discussed below in this Chapter have proven successful in the non-destructive and conformal doping tri-dimensional nanoscale structures, unlike more established techniques such as ion implantation.

### **1.2.2 State-of-the-Art in MLD**

Current doping techniques are becoming less suitable for sub-10 nm structures, due to irreversible substrate amorphisation and non-conformality, both proving to be problematic for the final electrical characteristics of the devices. Monolayer doping (MLD) is a potential substitute technique to more conventional methods.

First used on Si substrates by Ho *et al.*<sup>11</sup> in 2008 (see **Figure 1.6**), MLD it comprises of two main steps: (i) functionalisation of the semiconductor with a dopant containing molecule and (ii) diffusion of the dopant atoms into the semiconductor *via* an annealing step. Surface functionalisation is usually achieved through a reduction reaction between a hydrogen-terminated semiconductor surface and a labile C=C site on the dopant containing molecule<sup>11,12</sup>. Therefore, numerous aspects of the MLD process, such as surface termination, choice of molecule, capping layer or annealing parameters, can be tailored and optimised according to the required application of the material. The MLD process is, as such, very simple and straightforward; in its simplest form, it can be carried out in a research lab setting on a gas-vacuum manifold where substrate re-oxidation can be minimised prior to its functionalisation. The process can also be easily scaled up to 300mm wafer level<sup>39</sup> and has been successfully applied to

nanowires and other nanostructures with the formation of sub-5 nm junctions<sup>12,40</sup> using both p-<sup>11,41-43</sup> and n-dopants.<sup>44-46</sup>



*Figure 1.6:* Schematic of the MLD process described by Ho et al.<sup>12</sup> using allylboronic acid pinacol ester on a Si surface.

### **1.2.2.1 Monolayer Doping of Group IV Materials**

Ho *et al.*<sup>12</sup> used allylboronic acid pinacol ester (ABAPE) in mesitylene to dope a Si:H wafer with boron. A standard rapid-thermal-annealing recipe, with temperatures ranging between 950 – 1000 °C for 5 seconds, was used to drive in and activate the dopant. The B content of the samples was measured using Secondary Ion Mass Spectroscopy (SIMS) which showed a B peak carrier concentration of  $5 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, with the smallest junction depth achieved of 18 nm (see **Figure 1.7**). In the same study, the MLD process was also applied to CVD grown nanowires with metal contacts, which showed lowered resistance, and to silicon-on-insulator (SOI) substrates containing fabricated FETs<sup>12</sup>. This study laid the foundation to further research on MLD, with many parameters, such as substrate choice, molecular footprints, dopant

variation, thermal annealing parameters and impurity incorporation being investigated.



*Figure 1.7: SIMS profile of B-MLD doped Si with 5 s annealing at 950 and 1000* °C.<sup>12</sup>

Further studies from Ho *et al.*<sup>12</sup> proceeded to apply the same method to 4" wafers using spike annealing and phosphorus and boron-based dopant precursors, where peak carrier concentrations of up to  $5.5 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> were observed, exceeding the solid solubility limit of P in Si. Moreover, a junction depth of 2 nm was achieved for the B doped samples. The effect of C on the final electrical properties was also investigated and the leakage currents were found to be lower than the then state-of-the-art junction leakage currents<sup>47</sup>. Subsequently, Ang *et al.*<sup>39</sup> used the MLD approach of Ho *et al.* to conformally doped a silicon wafer with a phosphorous-based precursor; the SIMS

measurement of the samples post-MLD showed a peak P carrier concentration of  $1 \times 10^{22}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, with a junction abruptness of 0.6 nm/dec. By comparison, ion implanted samples showed an 11 nm/dec slope whereas in-situ doped samples had a 4.5 nm/dec slope (**Figure 1.8**) therefore proving how MLD can be an effective doping technique when it comes to high concentration/low junction depths. The same process was then applied to a FinFET with a 20 nm width; the data showed that it was possible to maintain a defect-free fin even after processing, which makes MLD a more suitable doping alternative when compared to ion implantation.

A variation of the traditional MLD process, named monolayer contact doping (MLCD) was reported by Hazut *et al.*<sup>40,48</sup>, where the dopant containing monolayer was formed not directly on the substrate of choice, but rather on a "donor" substrate which was then brought into contact with the target to be doped (**Figure 1.9**). The two substrates were then annealed together, resulting in the diffusion of the dopant from the donor to the target substrate. Compared to traditional MLD, this method does not require any capping layer and used phosphine-oxide based molecules bound onto a SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate. MLCD is more advantageous than traditional methods as fewer processing steps are needed. The same method was also employed to modify undoped silicon nanowires into parallel p-n junctions using a one-step MLCD process<sup>49</sup>. More recently Ye *at al.*<sup>50</sup> used silane chemistry to bind a boron containing molecule to an SiO<sub>2</sub> donor substrate which could be used to dope multiple substrates.



*Figure 1.8: SIMS analysis of (a) ion implanted, (b) in-situ doped and (c) MLD doped samples, highlighting the steep junction abruptness which will be critical in enabling pitch scaling.*<sup>39</sup>



**Figure 1.9:** Monolayer contact doping (MLCD) schematic: a monolayer containing dopant atoms is formed on a donor substrate. The donor and target substrates are brought into contact and annealed using rapid thermal anneal (RTA). During the annealing dopant atoms diffuse into both donor and target substrates.<sup>48</sup>

While the first MLD studies all relied on B- and P-containing molecules with short anneal times to reduce diffusion and form shallow junctions, subsequently different dopant atoms have been employed. Guan and co-workers<sup>46</sup> used MLD to introduced N into Si, a dopant with a low thermal diffusion coefficient, by employing a standard hydrosilylation reaction. Despite the negligible electrical activity of N in Si, the study clearly showed how the thermal diffusion coefficient does impact the junction depth without affecting other parameters; in their paper, a peak carrier concentration of  $4 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> was achieved for N, with a junction depth of ca. 50 nm, compared with 100 nm obtained for a P doped sample (**Figure 1.10**). The activation rates and diffusion coefficients were also found to be in line with literature values.



*Figure 1.10:* SIMS profile from a N-MLD doped Si sample. Inset shows the SIMS data in the log scale.<sup>46</sup>

O'Connell *et al.*<sup>45</sup> published the first application of As-based MLD on bulk silicon and on nanowire devices. A standard hydrosilylation reaction was used to bind the As

precursor to a Si:H surface; the samples were then capped and annealed using RTA. A peak carrier concentration of up to  $2 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> was achieved, with the shallowest junction depth of 75 nm; from the diffusivity data, an extrinsic diffusion regime was observed (see **Figure 1.11**), where the dopant concentration was above the intrinsic carrier concentration and the diffusion coefficient became concentration dependent. The doped nanowire devices displayed a significant reduction in resistivity and transmission electron microscopy data showed that the devices remained highly crystallinity, with no crystal damage, after the MLD process.



*Figure 1.11:* Data for As-MLD doped samples. (a) SIMS profiles of three samples processed at varying temperatures for 5 s. (b) Diffusivity data extracted from SIMS analysis. As can be seen in the measured data in red, the samples exhibit diffusivity in the extrinsic regime as the diffusion coefficient is concentration dependent.<sup>45</sup>

### **1.2.2.2 Monolayer Doping of Group III-V Materials**

III-V materials can be doped by introducing substitutional impurities into their lattice. However, unlike group IV semiconductors, a much wider range of dopants can be used, *e.g.* group II elements can be used as acceptors and group VI elements can be used as donors. In addition, isoelectric doping can be carried out by substituting either the group III or the group V parts of the compound with other group III/V elements. Lastly, group IV elements can be used to obtain amphoteric doping, as they can potentially be either donor or acceptors<sup>51</sup>. Given the challenging and relatively unexplored surface chemistry of III-V materials, when compared to group IV materials, the application of MLD has been quite limited. The first report of MLD performed on group III-V substrates was by Ho *et al.*<sup>52</sup> in 2009 on InAs. Exploiting the well-known ammonium sulphide cleaning procedure widely used on InAs, they were able to form a perfect sulphur monolayer on the substrate surface. They then employed the well-established MLD procedure of capping and annealing to in-diffuse this dopant, achieving a maximum electrically active concentration of *ca.*  $8 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> for S, which is still the highest active sulphur concentration reported in literature to date<sup>53</sup>.

In a similar fashion, Cho *et al.*<sup>54</sup> first performed sulphur MLD on InP nanopillars (see **Figure 1.12**). The organic layer was capped and annealed in a tube furnace at 650 °C for 15 minutes. An ultra-shallow conformal junction depth of *ca*. 10 nm was formed, with a peak chemical concentration of above  $10^{21}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> and an electrically active S concentration of of  $10^{19}$  -  $10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, estimated by Hall effect measurements.

Following this, research has moved towards InGaAs; the first application of solutionbased sulphur MLD on this material was performed by Yum *et al.*<sup>55</sup>; the surface functionalisation was again performed using ammonium sulphide, obtaining ultrashallow junctions and active carrier concentrations of  $4.9 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>. The study also showed that sulphur MLD is sensitive to capping conditions, such as the growth temperature and the capping precursor reaction energy at the surface and concluded that a SiNx/BeO bilayer structure as a capping layer should lead to higher activation efficiencies resulting in better performing III-V devices. Further studies explored the use of phosphorous pentasulfide (P<sub>2</sub>S<sub>5</sub>) as an additive to the ammonium sulphide solution in order to enhance the quality of the surface coverage with the aim of increasing the maximum dose<sup>56</sup>; SIMS was used to calculate a maximum dose of *ca*.  $7 \times 10^{14}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> for the ammonium sulphide solution with the P<sub>2</sub>S<sub>5</sub> additive versus *ca*.  $2 \times 10^{14}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> for the solution without the additive. Sulphur-MLD was scaled up and applied to 300 mm wafers, where shallow junction and dopant activations were found to be in line with previous results on coupons<sup>57</sup>. This study also incorporated advanced annealing techniques such as laser or flash lamp annealing, which showed that they might lead to better dopant activation efficiencies.



*Figure 1.12:* Schematics showing (a) the fabrication process for producing InP NPL solar cells and (b) the S-MLD process as reported by Cho et al.<sup>54</sup>

Recently Kong *et al.*<sup>58</sup> employed MOCVD to deposit silane monolayers on InGaAs substrates which were subsequently capped and laser annealed, achieving dopant concentrations of up to  $5 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> with depths of *ca*. 10 nm.
More in line with typical liquid-phase MLD procedures, O'Connell *et al.*<sup>59</sup> reported the first instance of Si/S and Sn doping of InGaAs using organometallic molecules (**Figure 1.13**). A mercaptosilane molecule was used to demonstrate the feasibility of Si/S co-doping using liquid-phase surface chemistry. Junction depths of *ca*. 50 nm were achieved but, due to the amphoteric dopant nature of Si and the simultaneous presence of both Si and S, it was not possible to characterise the active dopant concentration of these samples. The peak chemical concentration of S and Si were *ca*.  $1 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> and ca.  $1 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, respectively. In the Sn-MLD process, allyltributylstannane was reacted with the H-terminated surface of InGaAs substrates through the labile C=C site. In this study junction depths of *ca*. 75 nm were obtained with doping concentrations of *ca*.  $1 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>. The large junction depth suggests that more advanced annealing techniques are needed to obtain shallow doping.



*Figure 1.13:* General schematic for the InGaAs MLD process reported by O'Connell et al.<sup>59</sup>. The Si/S or Sn precursors were used to functionalise the surface. After capping and annealing, the dopants diffuse in the substrate, leading to doped InGaAs surfaces.

#### **1.2.3 Alternative Materials to Silicon**

# 1.2.3.1 Germanium

# **1.2.3.1.1** Overview of Germanium

Germanium (Ge) has been presented as a viable substitute material for silicon (Si). Being another group IV semiconductor, Ge and Si share many properties, such as its diamond cubic crystal structure, and its CMOS (complementary metal oxide semiconductor) compatibility would allow for its incorporation into already established production lines without requiring any alterations. From an electronic perspective when compared to Si, Ge has a mobility enhancement 4 times higher for holes (from 450 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs for Si to 1900 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs for Ge) and 2 times higher for electrons (from 1500 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs for Si to 3900 cm<sup>2</sup>/Vs for Ge) <sup>60</sup>. These enhanced mobilities would contribute to the lowering of power consumption and leakage currents in devices fabricated using Ge when compared to their Si-channel counterparts (see **Table 1.1**).

Semiconductor		Silicon	Germanium	GaN
Characteristic	Unit			
Bandgap	eV	1.1	0.66	3.49
Electron Mobility (300K)	cm <sup>2</sup> /Vs	1500	3900	1000-2000
Hole Mobility (300K)	cm <sup>2</sup> /Vs	450	1900	350
Critical Breakdown Field	MV/cm	0.3	1	3
Thermal Conductivity	W/cm·K	1.5	0.6	>1.5
Relative dielectric constant	ε <sub>t</sub>	11.8	16.2	9

Table1.1: A comparison of the characteristic properties of Si, Ge and GaN.<sup>23,60,61</sup>

#### 1.2.3.1.2 Germanium Oxides

One of the reasons that Si and not Ge is still used as the material of choice for transistors is due to the native oxides Ge. Ge exhibits a complex oxidation environment at the surface which makes it problematic as a gate dielectric. Germanium can form +1, +2, +3 and +4 oxidation states, with the +4 (GeO<sub>2</sub>) oxide, being the most stable and the full range of suboxides (i.e. GeO<sub>x</sub>) forming already at room temperature when exposed to  $O_{2.}^{62}$  GeO<sub>2</sub> is water soluble and upon annealing above 250 °C readily converted to Ge. GeO is thermally stable up to 420 °C, at which point it evaporates and acts as a reducing gas which negatively affects the electrical properties of the material<sup>63–65</sup>. This complex oxide behaviour makes surface handling and passivation of Ge substrates a challenging matter when compared to Si. HF and HCl have been shown to successful remove the  $GeO_2$  but have little impact on  $GeO^{66}$ . These two treatments leave the surface H- and Cl- terminated respectively; although the surface integrity is largely maintained, these surfaces are only stable for few minutes<sup>67</sup>. In order to remove the suboxide, HBr or an HF/HCl mix must be used<sup>66</sup>; in this case the Br-terminated surface (when treated with HBr) is more stable than its H- and Clterminated counterparts and can remain completely oxide free for up to 6 hours<sup>68</sup>.

#### 1.2.3.1.3 Functionalisation of Germanium

Like Si, the surface of Ge can be readily functionalised with organic molecules in solution and under vacuum; three main methods of wet chemical functionalisation have been studied for Ge: (i) Grignard reactions, (ii) alkanethiol reactions and (iii) hydrogermylation reactions<sup>16</sup> (see **Figure 1.14**). Grignard reactions have been performed on chlorine-terminated surfaces that are reacted with an alkyl Grignard reagent; different length alkyl chains, as well as phenyl and alkenyl groups, were

attached to the surface. The functionalised surfaces showed promise in terms of stability, with no change in the XPS spectra after up to 5 days in air<sup>69,70</sup>.



*Figure 1.14:* Schematic illustrating the various functionalisation reactions that can be carried out on Si and Ge surfaces.<sup>71</sup>

A Ge-S bond can be formed by reacting 1-alkanethiols with either hydrogen or chlorine-terminated Ge surfaces<sup>72</sup>. Well-ordered arrays of self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) have been formed on Ge substrates using alkanethiols<sup>10,72–75</sup> of various chain lengths, resulting in complete surface coverage and no germanium oxide formation after exposure to ambient air for 24 hours<sup>73</sup>. Alkanethiol monolayer were however, found to be less stable than their alkyl counterparts, due to the more labile Ge-S bond compared to the Ge-C bond. Atmospheric water tends to attack the Ge surface, breaking the Ge-S bond, ultimately leading to the desorption of the monolayer<sup>74</sup>. Similarly ethyl disulphide and 1,8-naphtalene disulphide have been used to passivate Ge surfaces for up to 12 hours through the formation of Ge-S bonds<sup>76</sup>.

In the hydrogermylation of Ge surfaces, an unsaturated C-C bond (alkene or alkyne) is reacted with Ge-X (X= H, Cl, Br) forming a Ge-C bond. Choi and Buriak<sup>67</sup> first demonstrated hydrogermylation on hydrogen-terminated Ge (100) surfaces. Three approaches were used to carry out the reaction: i) Lewis acid mediation, ii) thermal activation and iii) UV light. The Lewis acid mediated reaction used ethylaluminium dichloride (EtAlCl<sub>2</sub>) leads to formation of alkenyl and alkyl monolayers after 1 and 12 hours respectively<sup>67</sup>. The Lewis acid approach is potentially more advantageous than the Grignard route, which usually requires more than 12 hours at elevated temperatures to complete the reaction<sup>70</sup>. Thermally induced hydrogermylation is the more commonly used approach for Ge functionalisation and has been successfully employed with different alkenes and alkynes<sup>10,67,71,77,78</sup>. Whilst UV-light induced hydrogermylation has not been studied as extensively as the other methods, it has been successfully employed using 1-hexadecene<sup>67</sup> and a 254 nm wavelength light source. An issue with using UV sources is that they readily oxidise oxygen to ozone, which rapidly corrode Ge surfaces to  $\text{GeO}_2^{79}$ . Extreme care must be taken when carrying out reactions to remove any O<sub>2</sub> present. Like the surfaces alkylated via Grignard reagents, hydrogermylated surfaces show excellent stability, albeit dependent on the reaction route used. Overall, thermally-induced hydrogermylation surfaces appears to be more stable those produced by Lewis acid-mediated routes, giving well-ordered monolayers that are stable even in boiling solvents<sup>67</sup>. Chapter 3 of this thesis describes a UVinduced hydrogermylation approach to react triallyl arsine and allyldiphenylphosphine oxide with the surface of Ge wafers for MLD.

#### 1.2.3.2 Gallium Nitride

#### 1.2.3.2.1 Overview of GaN

Group III-nitride materials are well established in every-day life as blue light-emitting diodes (LEDs) that, when coupled with phosphorus to obtain white light, can be found in mobile phone displays or as energy-saving light sources<sup>80,81</sup>. The compound has a wurtzite crystal structure with a wide band gap of 3.4 eV and a melting point of above 2500 °C. GaN is typically grown using molecular beam epitaxy (MBE)<sup>82</sup> or metal organic vapour physical epitaxy (MOVPE)<sup>83</sup>.

#### 1.2.3.2.2 Preparation of GaN

In MOVPE, trimethylgallium and ammonia are typically used as Ga and nitrogen sources respectively. The MOVPE process involves the high-temperature nitridation of a substrate, *e.g.* sapphire, with ammonia, the low-temperature deposition of a thin buffer nucleation layer, *e.g.* aluminium nitride, followed by the high-temperature growth of GaN. High temperature growth increases the mobility of the adsorbed adatoms which in turn leads to the formation of highly crystalline films<sup>83–85</sup>. The buffer layer significantly improves the electrical and optical properties of GaN by supplying nucleation centres with the same orientation as the substrate; these in turn reduce the amount of dislocations arising from the lattice mismatch between GaN and the substrate<sup>86</sup>.

#### 1.2.3.2.3 Properties of GaN

While the electron and hole mobilities of intrinsic GaN are slightly lower than  $Si^{61}$ , when GaN is combined with other materials, *e.g.* Al to form AlGaN for high electron mobility transistors (HEMT), GaN outperforms Si, particularly for applications that

require both high power and high frequency handling<sup>87</sup>. Moreover the wide bandgap and high thermal stability of GaN (see **Table 1.1**), make it a perfect material for hightemperature operations<sup>88</sup>. The main issue which hinders the quality of the GaN and other III-nitride materials, is the lack of a low-cost substrate. Even though freestanding GaN and AlN substrates do exist, they are very expensive, only available in small sizes and contain impurities that reduce the transparency of visible light. For this reason, heteroepitaxy is widely employed, whereby template substrates, such as sapphire or silicon carbide, which have a relatively low lattice mismatch with GaN, 14.8 and 3.3 % respectively, are used. These substrates are very expensive and drive up the final device cost, thus making GaN-based electronics, at the moment, only viable for specialised applications, *i.e.* radar systems, space electronics, broadband satellites<sup>88</sup>.

### 1.2.3.2.4 Functionalisation of GaN

Ambient exposure of clean GaN surfaces leads to the growth of a native Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> selfpassivating phase<sup>89</sup>, with a thickness of only a few monolayers<sup>90</sup>, which can be easily hydroxylated by piranha solution<sup>91,92</sup>. GaN has a natural chemical stability that requires very extreme pH environments to induce oxide etching<sup>20</sup>, which is usually carried out using molten NaOH<sup>93</sup>, KOH<sup>94</sup>, phosphoric acid<sup>95</sup>, sulfuric acid<sup>96</sup> and oxalic acid<sup>97</sup>.

While organic wet chemical functionalisation of group IV semiconductors is a very well established field (as Buriak's<sup>5</sup> and Bent's<sup>16</sup> reviews show), there are relatively few methods for modifying bulk and nanostructured GaN surfaces both in vacuum<sup>98–100</sup> and under ambient conditions<sup>101–104</sup>. Wet chemical functionalisation is the most commercially viable option, as it uses cheaper equipment when compared to UHV

conditions. Based on the structure of the molecule being used for functionalisation, different surface preparations are required. For example, thiol attachment requires complete removal of the oxides present on the surface to ensure binding to the available Ga sites<sup>105</sup>, whereas phosphonic acid linkages require the presence of oxygen atoms in order to form a bond between the phosphonic acid groups and the surface<sup>103</sup>. Similarly to this, silanisation of GaN relies on the presence of hydroxyl groups on the surface to successfully form an organosilane layer<sup>91,106</sup>, whereas Grignard reactions rely on chlorinated surfaces, similar to their Ge counterparts<sup>94</sup>. As previously discussed, oxide cleaning requires relatively harsh conditions which might make this step non-viable from an industrial standpoint. Therefore, silanisation or phosphonic acid-based methods might prove to be more successful as they do not require complete oxide removal, making these approaches more scalable (see Figure 1.15). In general all methods lead to organic functionalised surfaces which are stable in aqueous solutions for periods ranging from 1 week<sup>103,104</sup> to 20 days<sup>107</sup>. **Chapter 4** of this thesis explores the use of siloxanes to functionalise a pristine GaN surface. As an MLD proof of concept, the functionalised surfaces were capped and annealed, and it was shown that Si diffusion and activation is possible for GaN.



*Figure 1.15:* Difference in the possible binding topologies for some of the common possible adsorbates on GaN surfaces.<sup>20</sup>

#### 1.3. Oxide Removal and Surface Passivation of MBE Grown Bismuth Thin Films

#### **1.3.1 Potential of Bismuth**

Bismuth is a group V semimetal which has attracted attention due to its interesting electronic properties, arising from its high electron mobility, low effective mass and high anisotropy of the Fermi level<sup>108</sup>; the low effective mass and long carrier mean free path also lead to high magnetoresistance<sup>109–111</sup>. Even more interesting are the changes in properties that Bi thin-films exhibit once the film approaches a critical thickness. The electrons in bismuth have unusually long mean free paths, ranging from a few nanometers at room temperature to millimeter range when cooled with liquid helium<sup>112</sup>. This, together with the large Fermi wavelength of the carriers, leads to effects of quantum confinement observable in both 2D films and in nanowires which give rise to semimetal-to-semiconductor transitions<sup>21,113–116</sup>. This feature can be exploited to form a semiconducting channel between the semi-metallic source and drain regions, in what is defined as a confinement modulated gap transistor (CMGT)<sup>117</sup>; thus virtually eliminating the need to dope the nanostructure. A theoretical study published by Ansari et al.<sup>118</sup>, reported that a Schottky junction can indeed be formed in a semimetal nanowire, e.g. bismuth. Gity et al.<sup>3,119</sup> proceeded to fabricate a working hetero-dimensional rectifier, consisting of a thicker three dimensional (3D) semi-metallic region abutting a thinner two dimensional (2D) semiconducting region, without the need to dope the structure to achieve near ideal diode behaviour (see Figure 1.16).



*Figure 1.16: Resistivity of Bi thin films measured at different temperatures, as reported by Gity et al.*<sup>119</sup>. *Bulk Bi values and some common metals have been included for reference.* 

#### **1.3.2 Bismuth Oxide and Surface Functionalisation**

One of the main issues of Bi thin films is their tendency to readily oxidise in air, thus requiring all processing to take place in UHV systems. While this might be feasible for a lab scale environment, it is not viable for large scale applications due to the high processing cost. The oxidation of bismuth films was first reported by Hapase *et al.*<sup>120</sup> in 1967; vacuum deposited films were oxidised in O<sub>2</sub> rich environments at a range of temperatures in order to understand the mechanism of oxygen uptake. They reported that oxidation proceeds through the diffusion of Bi from the substrate into the oxide film, as already hypothesised by Palkar *et al.*<sup>121</sup>, through a Wagner mechanism. In 1978 Komorita *et al.*<sup>122</sup> further explored the oxidation of Bi thin films, by varying parameters such as the oxidation time, temperature and the oxygen content. This study

further confirmed that a diffusion process takes place and they were able to correlate the thickness of the oxide film to a diffusion equation. Moreover, the group was able to show that a metastable crystal phase of the oxide is present which tends to evolve to a different stable phase when heated.

In 1990 Puckrin *et al.*<sup>123</sup> compared the oxidation of bulk bismuth and thin films using Auger electron spectroscopy, electron energy loss spectroscopy and work function measurements. The data showed that, in both cases, BiO was the first oxide formed on the surface of the samples and, for an exposure time in air of about 1 second, the total oxide thickness was roughly 8 monolayers, *ca.* 2 nm. These data were then further confirmed by a study from Kowalczyk *et al.*<sup>124</sup>, in which Bi nanostructures were shown to oxidise anisotropically. XPS showed that after exposure to air for 1 second the oxide formed on the surface was BiO. 5-day air exposure led to further oxidation of the film and to the formation of  $Bi_2O_3$  (see **Figure 1.17**). In general, the oxidation behaviour of Bi thin films has not been extensively studied, and it is further complicated by the large array of oxidation states that Bi can form. However, if Bi processing is to become a viable area of study, it will be necessary to tackle the issue of oxide removal and passivation to allow for ambient air handling.



*Figure 1.17:* Bi 4f XPS spectra of (1) Bi(111) and (2) Bi(110) nanostructures. XPS spectrum (3) shows Bi(110) after 1s air exposure and (4) shows Bi(110) after 5 days air exposure. Adapted from <sup>124</sup>



*Figure 1.18:* (*Top*) *HR-TEM* of *MBE* grown *Bi* thin films showing an oxide formed on the surface and (bottom) XPS spectra of the film after different etching times using Ar ions to remove the surface oxide<sup>3</sup>.

Later studies by Gity *et al.*<sup>3</sup> analysed by TEM the surface of Bi thin films grown via MBE and further confirmed that a native oxide with a thickness of 1.5-2 nm is indeed present on the surface when the film is exposed to air. XPS depth profiling allowed for removal of the surface oxide using an Ar-ion cluster, in order to characterise the spectra lines of the underlying elemental Bi film (**Figure 1.18**).

While there are no reports of reactions carried out on the surface of Bi thin films, there are extensive reports on the chemistry of Bi compounds as early as 1966<sup>125</sup>. Bismuth oxide and other derivatives have been used extensively as catalysts for the oxidation of numerous organic compounds, as the reviews from Postel<sup>126</sup>, Bothwell<sup>127</sup> and Ollevier<sup>128</sup> describe in detail. Moreover, organobismuth compounds<sup>129,130</sup> and coordination complexes<sup>131</sup> have been employed for a long time in organic synthesis and have been extensively studied. **Chapter 5** of this thesis will discuss a novel method for the removal of bismuth oxide from Bi thin films and concurrent passivation of these films to prevent reoxidation and enable ambient handling.

#### **1.4 Bibliography**

- Ltd., P. M. R. Global Consumer Electronics Market to Reach US\$ 2.9 Trillion by 2020 https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/global-consumerelectronics-market-to-reach-us-29-trillion-by-2020---persistence-marketresearch-609486755.html (accessed Jul 31, 2019).
- Bent, S. F. Semiconductor Surface Chemistry. In *Chemical Bonding at Surfaces* and Interfaces; 2008; pp 323–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044452837-7.50006-X.
- Gity, F.; Ansari, L.; König, C.; Verni, G. A.; Holmes, J. D.; Long, B.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.; Greer, J. C. Metal-Semimetal Schottky Diode Relying on Quantum Confinement. *Microelectron. Eng.* 2018, *195*, 21–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2018.03.022.
- (4) Web Of Science https://www.webofknowledge.co (accessed Aug 15, 2019).
- Buriak, J. M. Organometallic Chemistry on Silicon and Germanium Surfaces.
   *Chem. Rev.* 2002, *102* (5), 1271–1308.
- (6) Sung, S.; Park, S.; Cha, S.; Lee, W.-J.; Kim, C.-H.; Yoon, M.-H. Direct Patterning of Sol–Gel Metal Oxide Semiconductor and Dielectric Films via Selective Surface Wetting. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5 (48), 38125–38129. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA04515K.
- (7) Ashkenasy, G.; Cahen, D.; Cohen, R.; Shanzer, A.; Vilan, A. Molecular Engineering of Semiconductor Surfaces and Devices. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2002, *35*(2), 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar990047t.
- (8) Jiao, H.; Yu, X.; Liu, Z.; Kuang, P.; Zhang, Y. One-Pot Synthesis of Heterostructured Bi 2 S 3 /BiOBr Microspheres with Highly Efficient Visible Light Photocatalytic Performance. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5 (21), 16239–16249.

https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA16948D.

- (9) Peng, W.; Rupich, S. M.; Shafiq, N.; Gartstein, Y. N.; Malko, A. V.; Chabal,
  Y. J. Silicon Surface Modification and Characterization for Emergent
  Photovoltaic Applications Based on Energy Transfer. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, 150805143559009. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00085.
- (10) Collins, G.; Fleming, P.; Barth, S.; O'Dwyer, C.; Boland, J. J.; Morris, M. A.; Holmes, J. D. Alkane and Alkanethiol Passivation of Halogenated Ge Nanowires. *Chem. Mater.* 2010, 22 (23), 6370–6377. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm1023986.
- Ho, J. C.; Yerushalmi, R.; Jacobson, Z. a; Fan, Z.; Alley, R. L.; Javey, A. Controlled Nanoscale Doping of Semiconductors via Molecular Monolayers. *Nat. Mater.* 2008, 7 (1), 62–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2058.
- Ho, J. C.; Yerushalmi, R.; Smith, G.; Majhi, P.; Bennett, J.; Halim, J.; Faifer, V. N.; Javey, A. Wafer-Scale, Sub-5 Nm Junction Formation by Monolayer Doping and Conventional Spike Annealing. *Nano Lett.* 2009, *9* (2), 725–730. https://doi.org/10.1021/n18032526.
- (13) Schlier, R. E.; Farnsworth, H. E. Structure and Adsorption Characteristics of Clean Surfaces of Germanium and Silicon. *J. Chem. Phys.* 1959, *30* (4), 917– 926. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1730126.
- (14) Duke, C. B. Surface Structures of Tetrahedrally Coordinated Semiconductors: Principles, Practice, and Universality. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 1993, 65–66, 543–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-4332(93)90717-P.
- (15) Duke, C. B. Semiconductor Surface Reconstruction: The Structural Chemistry of Two-Dimensional Surface Compounds. *Chem. Rev.* 1996, *96* (4), 1237–1260. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr950212s.

- Loscutoff, P. W.; Bent, S. F. Reactivity of the Germanium Surface: Chemical Passivation and Functionalization. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* 2006, *57*, 467–495. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physchem.56.092503.141307.
- (17) Stutzmann, M.; Ambacher, O.; Eickhoff, M.; Karrer, U.; Lima Pimenta, A.; Neuberger, R.; Schalwig, J.; Dimitrov, R.; Schuck, P. J.; Grober, R. D. Playing with Polarity. *Phys. status solidi* 2001, 228 (2), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3951(200111)228:2<505::AID-PSSB505>3.0.CO;2-U.
- (18) Nakamura, S. Current Status of GaN-Based Solid-State Lighting. *MRS Bull.* **2009**, *34* (2), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1557/mrs2009.28.
- (19) Hite, J. K.; Garces, N. Y.; Goswami, R.; Mastro, M. A.; Kub, F. J.; Eddy, C. R. Selective Switching of GaN Polarity on Ga-Polar GaN Using Atomic Layer Deposited Al2O3. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2014, 7 (2), 5–9. https://doi.org/10.7567/APEX.7.025502.
- (20) Pearce, B. L.; Wilkins, S. J.; Paskova, T.; Ivanisevic, A. A Review of in Situ Surface Functionalization of Gallium Nitride via Beaker Wet Chemistry. J. *Mater. Res.* 2015, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1557/jmr.2015.132.
- Hofmann, P. The Surfaces of Bismuth: Structural and Electronic Properties.
   *Prog. Surf. Sci.* 2006, 81 (5), 191–245.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progsurf.2006.03.001.
- (22) Moore, G. E.; Fellow, L. Cramming More Components onto Integrated Circuits. Proc. IEEE 1998, 86 (1), 82–85.
- (23) International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors http://www.itrs2.net/ (accessed Sep 25, 2017).
- (24) Peercy, P. S. The Drive to Miniaturization. Nature 2000, 406 (6799), 1023-

1026. https://doi.org/10.1038/35023223.

- (25) Wikipedia Transistor Count https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transistor\_count (accessed Aug 19, 2019).
- (26) Horiguchi, N. Headline CMOS Device Technology. In *IMEC Partner Technical Week*; 2021.
- (27) El-Kareh, B. Fundamentals of Semiconductor Processing Technology; Springer US: Boston, MA, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-2209-6.
- (28) Plummer, J. D. Silicon VLSI Technology: Fundamentals, Practice and Modeling; Pearsons Education, 2009.
- (29) De Bisschop, P.; Hendrickx, E. Stochastic Effects in EUV Lithography. In *Extreme Ultraviolet (EUV) Lithography IX*; Felix, N. M., Goldberg, K. A., Eds.; SPIE, 2018; Vol. 10583, p 53. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2300541.
- (30) Saraswat, K. C.; Chui, C. O.; Kim, D.; Krishnamohan, T.; Pethe, A. High Mobility Materials and Novel Device Structures for High Performance Nanoscale MOSFETs. In 2006 International Electron Devices Meeting; IEEE, 2006; pp 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEDM.2006.346871.
- (31) Various. IMEC CMOS Device Course. IMEC: Leuven 2016.
- (32) Ferain, I.; Colinge, C. A.; Colinge, J.-P. Multigate Transistors as the Future of Classical Metal–Oxide–Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors. *Nature* 2011, 479 (7373), 310–316. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10676.
- Kuhn, K. J. Moore's Crystal Ball: Device Physics and Technology Past the 15nm Generation. *Microelectron. Eng.* 2011, 88 (7), 1044–1049. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2011.03.163.
- (34) Xu, P.; Fu, C.; Hu, C.; Wei Zhang, D.; Wu, D.; Luo, J.; Zhao, C.; Zhang, Z.-B.;Zhang, S.-L. Ultra-Shallow Junctions Formed Using Microwave Annealing.

Appl. Phys. Lett. 2013, 102 (12), 122114. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4799030.

- (35) Ziegler, J. F. *Ion Implantation Science and Technology*, 2nd Editio.; Academic Press: San Diego, 1996.
- (36) Mizuno, B.; Nakayama, I.; Takase, M.; Nakaoka, H.; Kubota, M. Plasma Doping for Silicon. *Surf. Coatings Technol.* 1996, 85 (1–2), 51–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0257-8972(96)02881-2.
- (37) Horiguchi, N.; Zschaetzsch, G.; Sasaki, Y.; Kambham, A. K.; Douhard, B.; Togo, M.; Hellings, G.; Mitard, J.; Witters, L.; Eneman, G.; Noda, T.; Collaert, N.; Vandervorst, W.; Thean, A. Junction Strategies for 1x Nm Technology Node with FINFET and High Mobility Channel. In *2012 12th International Workshop on Junction Technology*; IEEE, 2012; pp 216–221. https://doi.org/10.1109/IWJT.2012.6212844.
- (38) Shayesteh, M.; Connell, D. O.; Gity, F.; Murphy-Armando, P.; Yu, R.; Huet, K.; Toque-Tresonne, I.; Cristiano, F.; Boninelli, S.; Henrichsen, H. H.; Nielsen, P. F.; Petersen, D. H.; Duffy, R. Optimized Laser Thermal Annealing on Germanium for High Dopant Activation and Low Leakage Current. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 2014, 61 (12), 4047–4055. https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2014.2364957.
- (39) Ang, K.-W.; Barnett, J.; Loh, W.-Y.; Huang, J.; Min, B.-G.; Hung, P. Y.; Ok, I.; Yum, J. H.; Bersuker, G.; Rodgers, M.; Kaushik, V.; Gausepohl, S.; Hobbs, C.; Kirsch, P. D.; Jammy, R. 300mm FinFET Results Utilizing Conformal, Damage Free, Ultra Shallow Junctions (Xj~5nm) Formed with Molecular Monolayer Doping Technique. In *2011 International Electron Devices Meeting*; IEEE, 2011; pp 35.5.1-35.5.4. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEDM.2011.6131679.

- (40) Hazut, O.; Agarwala, A.; Subramani, T.; Waichman, S.; Yerushalmi, R. Monolayer Contact Doping of Silicon Surfaces and Nanowires Using Organophosphorus Compounds. J. Vis. Exp. 2013, No. 82. https://doi.org/10.3791/50770.
- (41) Ye, L.; Pujari, S. P.; Zuilhof, H.; Kudernac, T.; de Jong, M. P.; van der Wiel,
  W. G.; Huskens, J. Controlling the Dopant Dose in Silicon by Mixed-Monolayer Doping. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2015, 7 (5), 3231–3236. https://doi.org/10.1021/am5079368.
- (42) Ye, L.; González-Campo, A.; Núñez, R.; De Jong, M. P.; Kudernac, T.; Van Der Wiel, W. G.; Huskens, J. Boosting the Boron Dopant Level in Monolayer Doping by Carboranes. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* 2015, 7 (49), 27357–27361. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b08952.
- (43) Sossoe, K. K.; Durand, C.; Mathey, L.; Alphazan, T.; Sylla, A.; Dzagli, M. M.; Mohou, M. A.; Nys, J. P.; Berthe, M.; Thieuleux, C.; Copéret; Barnes, J. P.; Grandidier, B. Tunneling Spectroscopy of P-Type Doping in Silicon from Boron-Containing Molecular Monolayer. *Microelectron. Eng.* 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2015.10.002.
- (44) Longo, R. C.; Cho, K.; Schmidt, W. G.; Chabal, Y. J.; Thissen, P. Monolayer Doping via Phosphonic Acid Grafting on Silicon: Microscopic Insight from Infrared Spectroscopy and Density Functional Theory Calculations. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 2013, 23 (27), 3471–3477. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201202808.
- (45) O'Connell, J.; Verni, G. A.; Gangnaik, A.; Shayesteh, M.; Long, B.; Georgiev,
  Y. M.; Petkov, N.; McGlacken, G. P.; Morris, M. A.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D.
  Organo-Arsenic Molecular Layers on Silicon for High-Density Doping. ACS
  Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2015, 7 (28), 15514–15521.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b03768.

- (46) Guan, B.; Siampour, H.; Fan, Z.; Wang, S.; Kong, X. Y.; Mesli, A.; Zhang, J.;
  Dan, Y. Nanoscale Nitrogen Doping in Silicon by Self-Assembled Monolayers. *Sci. Rep.* 2015, *5*, 12641. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12641.
- (47) Chen, J. T. C.; Dimitrova, T.; Dimitrov, D. A New Method for Mapping Ultra-Shallow Junction Leakage Currents. In 2006 International Workshop on Junction Technology; IEEE, 2006; pp 100–103. https://doi.org/10.1109/IWJT.2006.220870.
- (48) Hazut, O.; Agarwala, A.; Amit, I.; Subramani, T.; Zaidiner, S.; Rosenwaks, Y.;
  Yerushalmi, R. Contact Doping of Silicon Wafers and Nanostructures with Phosphine Oxide Monolayers. ACS Nano 2012, 6 (11), 10311–10318. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn304199w.
- (49) Hazut, O.; Huang, B.-C.; Pantzer, A.; Amit, I.; Rosenwaks, Y.; Kohn, A.; Chang, C.-S.; Chiu, Y.-P.; Yerushalmi, R. Parallel p–n Junctions across Nanowires by One-Step Ex Situ Doping. ACS Nano 2014, 8 (8), 8357–8362. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn502855k.
- (50) Ye, L.; González-Campo, A.; Kudernac, T.; Núñez, R.; de Jong, M.; van der Wiel, W. G.; Huskens, J. Monolayer Contact Doping from a Silicon Oxide Source Substrate. *Langmuir* 2017, No. i, acs.langmuir.7b00157. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.langmuir.7b00157.
- (51) Föll, H. Doping of Compound Semiconductors, University of Kiel.
- (52) Ho, J. C.; Ford, A. C.; Chueh, Y. L.; Leu, P. W.; Ergen, O.; Takei, K.; Smith, G.; Majhi, P.; Bennett, J.; Javey, A. Nanoscale Doping of InAs via Sulfur Monolayers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2009, 95 (7), 2–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3205113.

- Morozov, V. N.; Chernov, V. G. Effect of Position of Fermi Level on Solubility of Donor Impurities in InAs. Sov. Phys. J. 1981, 24 (6), 506–510. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00892945.
- (54) Cho, K.; Ruebusch, D. J.; Lee, M. H.; Moon, J. H.; Ford, A. C.; Kapadia, R.; Takei, K.; Ergen, O.; Javey, A. Molecular Monolayers for Conformal, Nanoscale Doping of InP Nanopillar Photovoltaics. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2011, 98 (20), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3585138.
- Yum, J. H.; Shin, H. S.; Hill, R.; Oh, J.; Lee, H. D.; Mushinski, R. M.; Hudnall, T. W.; Bielawski, C. W.; Banerjee, S. K.; Loh, W. Y.; Wang, W.-E.; Kirsch, P. A Study of Capping Layers for Sulfur Monolayer Doping on III-V Junctions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2012, *101* (25), 253514. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4772641.
- (56) Subramanian, S.; Kong, E. Y.-J.; Li, D.; Wicaksono, S.; Yoon, S. F.; Yeo, Y.-C. P<sub>2</sub>S<sub>5</sub>/(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>S<sub><italic>x</Italic></sub>-Based Sulfur Monolayer Doping for Source/Drain Extensions in n-Channel InGaAs FETs. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 2014, 61 (8), 2767–2773. https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2014.2327637.
- (57) Loh, W.; Lee, R. T. P.; Tieckelmann, R.; Orzali, T.; Sapp, B.; Hobbs, C.; Rao,
  S. S. P. 300mm Wafer Level Sulfur Monolayer Doping for III-V Materials.
  2015, 451–454.
- (58) Kong, E.; Xiao Gong; Pengfei Guo; Bin Liu; Yee-Chia Yeo. Novel Technique Comprising Silane Treatment and Laser Anneal for Abrupt Ultra-Shallow Junction Formation for InGaAs n-MOSFETs. In 2013 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Application (VLSI-TSA); IEEE, 2013; pp 1– 2. https://doi.org/10.1109/VLSI-TSA.2013.6545609.
- (59) O'Connell, J.; Napolitani, E.; Impellizzeri, G.; Glynn, C.; McGlacken, G. P.;O'Dwyer, C.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D. Liquid-Phase Monolayer Doping of

InGaAs with Si-, S-, and Sn-Containing Organic Molecular Layers. *ACS Omega* **2017**, *2* (5), 1750–1759. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.7b00204.

- (60) Jacoboni, C.; Nava, F.; Canali, C.; Ottaviani, G. Electron Drift Velocity and Diffusivity in Germanium. *Phys. Rev. B* 1981, 24 (2), 1014–1026. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.24.1014.
- (61) Pearton, S. J.; Zolper, J. C.; Shul, R. J.; Ren, F. GaN: Processing, Defects, and Devices. J. Appl. Phys. 1999, 86 (1), 1–78. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.371145.
- Molle, A.; Bhuiyan, M. N. K.; Tallarida, G.; Fanciulli, M. Formation and Stability of Germanium Oxide Induced by Atomic Oxygen Exposure. *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.* 2006, 9 (4–5), 673–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2006.09.002.
- (63) Bean, J. C.; Sheng, T. T.; Feldman, L. C.; Fiory, A. T.; Lynch, R. T. Pseudomorphic Growth of Ge x Si 1 x on Silicon by Molecular Beam Epitaxy. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1984, 44 (1), 102–104. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.94571.
- (64) Prabhakaran, K.; Ogino, T. Oxidation of Ge(100) and Ge(111) Surfaces: An UPS and XPS Study. *Surf. Sci.* 1995, *325* (3), 263–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-6028(94)00746-2.
- (65) Prabhakaran, K.; Maeda, F.; Watanabe, Y.; Ogino, T. Thermal Decomposition Pathway of Ge and Si Oxides: Observation of a Distinct Difference. *Thin Solid Films* 2000, *369* (1–2), 289–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-6090(00)00881-6.
- (66) Onsia, B.; Conard, T.; De Gendt, S.; Heyns, M. M.; Hoflijk, I.; Mertens, P. W.; Meuris, M.; Raskin, G.; Sioncke, S.; Teerlinck, I.; Theuwis, A.; Van Steenbergen, J.; Vinckier, C. A Study of the Influence of Typical Wet Chemical Treatments on the Germanium Wafer Surface. *Solid State Phenom.* 2005, 103–

104, 27–30. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/SSP.103-104.27.

- (67) Choi, K.; Buriak, J. M. Hydrogermylation of Alkenes and Alkynes on Hydride-Terminated Ge(100) Surfaces. *Langmuir* 2000, *16* (20), 7737–7741. https://doi.org/10.1021/la000413d.
- (68) Kim, J.; Mcvittie, J.; Saraswat, K.; Nishi, Y. Passivation Studies of Germanium Surfaces. Solid State Phenom. 2008, 134, 33–36. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/SSP.134.33.
- (69) Cullen, G. W.; Amick, J. A.; Gerlich, D. The Stabilization of Germanium Surfaces by Ethylation. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1962, 109 (3), 124–127.
- (70) He, J.; Lu, Z.-H.; Mitchell, S. A.; Wayner, D. D. M. Self-Assembly of Alkyl Monolayers on Ge(111) 1 A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120 (11), 2660–2661. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja974119s.
- (71) Collins, G.; Holmes, J. D. Chemical Functionalisation of Silicon and Germanium Nanowires. J. Mater. Chem. 2011, 21 (30), 11052. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1jm11028d.
- (72) Cai, Q.; Xu, B.; Ye, L.; Tang, T.; Huang, S.; Du, X.; Bian, X.; Zhang, J.; Di,
  Z.; Jin, Q.; Zhao, J. Stable Functionalization of Germanium Surface and Its
  Application in Biomolecules Immobilization. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2014, *316* (1), 46–
  53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2014.07.127.
- (73) Hohman, J. N.; Kim, M.; Bednar, H. R.; Lawrence, J. a.; McClanahan, P. D.;
  Weiss, P. S. Simple, Robust Molecular Self-Assembly on Germanium. *Chem. Sci.* 2011, 2 (7), 1334. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1sc00115a.
- (74) Han, S. M.; Ashurst, W. R.; Carraro, C.; Maboudian, R. Formation of Alkanethiol Monolayer on Ge(111). *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123* (10), 2422– 2425. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja993816c.

- (75) Cai, Q.; Xu, B.; Ye, L.; Di, Z.; Huang, S.; Du, X.; Zhang, J.; Jin, Q.; Zhao, J.
  1-Dodecanethiol Based Highly Stable Self-Assembled Monolayers for Germanium Passivation. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2015, 353, 890–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2015.06.174.
- (76) Kachian, J. S.; Tannaci, J.; Wright, R. J.; Tilley, T. D.; Bent, S. F. Disulfide Passivation of the Ge(100)-2 × 1 Surface. *Langmuir* 2011, 27 (1), 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1021/la103614f.
- (77) Knapp, D.; Brunschwig, B. S.; Lewis, N. S. Chemical, Electronic, and Electrical Properties of Alkylated Ge(111) Surfaces. J. Phys. Chem. C 2010, 114 (28), 12300–12307. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp101375x.
- Holmberg, V. C.; Korgel, B. a. Corrosion Resistance of Thiol- and Alkene-Passivated Germanium Nanowires. *Chem. Mater.* 2010, 22 (8), 3698–3703. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm1005696.
- (79) Dimoulas, A.; Gusev, E.; McIntyre, P. C.; Heyns, M. M. Advanced Gate Stacks for High-Mobility Semiconductors. In *Advanced Microelectronics*; 2003; p 375. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-55908-2\_1.
- (80) Pimputkar, S.; Speck, J. S.; DenBaars, S. P.; Nakamura, S. Prospects for LED Lighting. *Nat. Photonics* 2009, *3* (4), 180–182. https://doi.org/10.1038/nphoton.2009.32.
- (81) Steigerwald, D. A.; Bhat, J. C.; Collins, D.; Fletcher, R. M.; Holcomb, M. O.; Ludowise, M. J.; Martin, P. S.; Rudaz, S. L. Illumination with Solid State Lighting Technology. *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.* 2002, 8 (2), 310– 320. https://doi.org/10.1109/2944.999186.
- (82) Yoshida, S.; Misawa, S.; Gonda, S. Improvements on the Electrical and Luminescent Properties of Reactive Molecular Beam Epitaxially Grown GaN

Films by Using AlN-coated Sapphire Substrates. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1983**, *42* (5), 427–429. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.93952.

- (83) Gibart, P. Metal Organic Vapour Phase Epitaxy of GaN and Lateral Overgrowth. *Reports Prog. Phys.* 2004, 67 (5), 667–715. https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/67/5/R02.
- (84) Lada, M.; Cullis, A. G.; Parbrook, P. J. Effect of Anneal Temperature on GaN Nucleation Layer Transformation. J. Cryst. Growth 2003, 258 (1–2), 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0248(03)01517-3.
- (85) Pampili, P.; Parbrook, P. J. Doping of III-Nitride Materials. *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.* 2017, 62 (August 2016), 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2016.11.006.
- (86) Akasaki, I.; Amano, H.; Koide, Y.; Hiramatsu, K.; Sawaki, N. Effects of AlN Buffer Layer on Crystallographic Structure and on Electrical and Optical Properties of GaN and Ga1–xAlxN (0 < x ≤ 0.4) Films Grown on Sapphire Substrate by MOVPE. J. Cryst. Growth 1989, 98 (1–2), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0248(89)90200-5.</li>
- (87) Mishra, U. K.; Parikh, P.; Yi-Feng Wu. AlGaN/GaN HEMTs-an Overview of Device Operation and Applications. *Proc. IEEE* 2002, *90* (6), 1022–1031. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2002.1021567.
- (88) Eastman, L. F.; Mishra, U. K. The Toughest Transistor yet [GaN Transistors].
   *IEEE Spectr.* 2002, 39 (5), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1109/6.999791.
- (89) Watkins, N. J.; Wicks, G. W.; Gao, Y. Oxidation Study of GaN Using X-Ray Photoemission Spectroscopy. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1999**, *75* (17), 2602–2604. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.125091.
- (90) Khir, F. L. M.; Myers, M.; Podolska, A.; Sanders, T. M.; Baker, M. V.; Nener,

B. D.; Parish, G. Synchrotron-Based XPS Studies of AlGaN and GaN Surface Chemistry and Its Relationship to Ion Sensor Behaviour. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2014**, *314*, 850–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2014.07.002.

- (91) Baur, B.; Steinhoff, G.; Hernando, J.; Purrucker, O.; Tanaka, M.; Nickel, B.; Stutzmann, M.; Eickhoff, M. Chemical Functionalization of GaN and AlN Surfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2005, 87 (26), 263901. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2150280.
- (92) Howgate, J.; Schoell, S. J.; Hoeb, M.; Steins, W.; Baur, B.; Hertrich, S.; Nickel, B.; Sharp, I. D.; Stutzmann, M.; Eickhoff, M. Photocatalytic Cleavage of Self-Assembled Organic Monolayers by UV-Induced Charge Transfer from GaN Substrates. *Adv. Mater.* 2010, 22 (24), 2632–2636. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200903756.
- (93) Rouviere, J. L.; Weyher, J. L.; Seelmann-Eggebert, M.; Porowski, S. Polarity Determination for GaN Films Grown on (0001) Sapphire and High-Pressure-Grown GaN Single Crystals. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1998, 73 (5), 668–670. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.121942.
- (94) Peczonczyk, S. L.; Mukherjee, J.; Carim, A. I.; Maldonado, S. Wet Chemical Functionalization of III–V Semiconductor Surfaces: Alkylation of Gallium Arsenide and Gallium Nitride by a Grignard Reaction Sequence. *Langmuir* 2012, 28 (10), 4672–4682. https://doi.org/10.1021/la204698a.
- (95) Jung, Y.; Ahn, J.; Baik, K. H.; Kim, D.; Pearton, S. J.; Ren, F.; Kim, J. Chemical Etch Characteristics of N-Face and Ga-Face GaN by Phosphoric Acid and Potassium Hydroxide Solutions. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **2012**, *159* (2), H117. https://doi.org/10.1149/2.039202jes.
- (96) Machuca, F.; Liu, Z.; Sun, Y.; Pianetta, P.; Spicer, W. E.; Pease, R. F. W.

Simple Method for Cleaning Gallium Nitride (0001). J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A Vacuum, Surfaces, Film. **2002**, 20 (5), 1784–1786. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.1503782.

- (97) Sundararajan, S. P.; Crouse, D.; Lo, Y.-H. Gallium Nitride: Method of Defect Characterization by Wet Oxidation in an Oxalic Acid Electrolytic Cell. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B Microelectron. Nanom. Struct.* 2002, 20 (4), 1339. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.1488644.
- (98) Bermudez, V. M. Adsorption of 1-Octanethiol on the GaN(0001) Surface.*Langmuir* 2003, *19* (17), 6813–6819.
- (99) Bermudez, V. M.; Long, J. P. Chemisorption of H O on GaN (0001). RussellJ. Bertrand Russell Arch. 2000, 450, 98–105.
- (100) Bermudez, V. M. Functionalizing the GaN(0001)-(1×1) Surface I. The Chemisorption of Aniline. *Surf. Sci.* 2002, 499 (2–3), 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-6028(01)01916-1.
- (101) Makowski, M. S.; Zemlyanov, D. Y.; Lindsey, J. A.; Bernhard, J. C.; Hagen, E. M.; Chan, B. K.; Petersohn, A. A.; Medow, M. R.; Wendel, L. E.; Chen, D.; Canter, J. M.; Ivanisevic, A. Covalent Attachment of a Peptide to the Surface of Gallium Nitride. *Surf. Sci.* 2011, 605 (15–16), 1466–1475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.susc.2011.05.015.
- (102) Schwarz, S. U.; Cimalla, V.; Eichapfel, G.; Himmerlich, M.; Krischok, S.;
   Ambacher, O. Thermal Functionalization of GaN Surfaces with 1-Alkenes.
   *Langmuir* 2013, 29 (21), 6296–6301. https://doi.org/10.1021/la304406w.
- (103) Kim, H.; Colavita, P. E.; Paoprasert, P.; Gopalan, P.; Kuech, T. F.; Hamers, R.
  J. Grafting of Molecular Layers to Oxidized Gallium Nitride Surfaces via Phosphonic Acid Linkages. *Surf. Sci.* 2008, 602 (14), 2382–2388.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.susc.2008.05.002.

- (104) Ito, T.; Forman, S. M.; Cao, C.; Li, F.; Eddy, C. R.; Mastro, M. A.; Holm, R. T.; Henry, R. L.; Hohn, K. L.; Edgar, J. H. Self-Assembled Monolayers of Alkylphosphonic Acid on GaN Substrates. *Langmuir* 2008, 24 (13), 6630–6635. https://doi.org/10.1021/la800716r.
- (105) Sheen, C. W.; Shi, J. X.; Maartensson, J.; Parikh, A. N.; Allara, D. L. A New Class of Organized Self-Assembled Monolayers: Alkane Thiols on Gallium Arsenide(100). J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114 (4), 1514–1515. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00030a076.
- (106) Kang, B. S.; Ren, F.; Wang, L.; Lofton, C.; Tan, W. W.; Pearton, S. J.; Dabiran, A.; Osinsky, A.; Chow, P. P. Electrical Detection of Immobilized Proteins with Ungated AlGaN/GaN High-Electron-Mobility Transistors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2005, 87 (2), 023508. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1994951.
- (107) Pearce, B. L.; Wilkins, S. J.; Rahn, M. S.; Ivanisevic, A. In Situ Functionalization of Gallium Nitride Powder with a Porphyrin Dye. *J. Mater. Res.* 2015, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1557/jmr.2015.152.
- (108) Yang, F. Y.; Liu, K.; Hong, K.; Reich, D. H.; Searson, P. C.; Chien, C. L. Large Magnetoresistance of Electrodeposited Single-Crystal Bismuth Thin Films. *Science* (80-.). **1999**, 284 (5418), 1335–1337. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5418.1335.
- (109) Jones, H. Applications of the Bloch Theory to the Study of Alloys and of the Properties of Bismuth. *Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 1934, *147* (861), 396–417. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1934.0224.
- (110) Blackman, M. On the Diamagnetic Susceptibility of Bismuth. Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 1938, 166 (924), 1–15.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1938.0078.

- (111) Dhillon, J. S.; Shoenberg, D. The de Haas-Van Alphen Effect. III. Experiments at Fields up to 32 KG. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 1955, 248 (937), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.1955.0007.
- (112) Hartman, R. Temperature Dependence of the Low-Field Galvanomagnetic Coefficients of Bismuth. *Phys. Rev.* 1969, 181 (3), 1070–1086. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.181.1070.
- (113) Ast, C. R.; Höchst, H. Electronic Structure of a Bismuth Bilayer. *Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* 2003, 67 (11), 4. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.67.113102.
- (114) Sun, X.; Zhang, Z.; Dresselhaus, M. S. Theoretical Modeling of Thermoelectricity in Bi Nanowires. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1999, 74 (26), 4005–4007. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.123242.
- (115) Lin, Y.-M.; Cronin, S. B.; Ying, J. Y.; Dresselhaus, M. S.; Heremans, J. P. Transport Properties of Bi Nanowire Arrays. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2000, 76 (26), 3944–3946. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.126829.
- (116) Zhang, Z.; Sun, X.; Dresselhaus, M. S.; Ying, J. Y.; Heremans, J. Electronic Transport Properties of Single-Crystal Bismuth Nanowire Arrays. *Phys. Rev. B* 2000, *61* (7), 4850–4861. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.61.4850.
- (117) Ansari, L.; Fagas, G.; Colinge, J.-P.; Greer, J. C. A Proposed Confinement Modulated Gap Nanowire Transistor Based on a Metal (Tin). *Nano Lett.* 2012, *12* (5), 2222–2227. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl2040817.
- (118) Ansari, L.; Gity, F.; Greer, J. C. Electronic and Structural Properties of Rhombohedral [1 1 1] and [1 1 0] Oriented Ultra-Thin Bismuth Nanowires. J. Phys. Condens. Matter 2017, 29 (6), 065301. https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-

648X/aa4e63.

- (119) Gity, F.; Ansari, L.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.;
  Greer, J. C. Reinventing Solid State Electronics: Harnessing Quantum Confinement in Bismuth Thin Films. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2017, *110* (9), 093111.
  https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4977431.
- (120) Hapase, H. G.; Tare, V. B.; Biswas, A. B. Oxidation of Bismuth. *Acta Met.* **1967**, *15* (January), 131–133.
- (121) Palkar, G. D.; Sitharamarao, D. N.; Dasgupta, A. K. Self-Diffusion of Bismuth in Bismuth Oxide. *Trans. Faraday Soc.* 1963, 59 (3), 2634. https://doi.org/10.1039/tf9635902634.
- (122) Komorita, K.; Nishinaga, T.; Nisio, M. Oxidation of Bismuth Thin Films. J.
   Vac. Soc. Japan 1978, 21 (6), 196–202. https://doi.org/10.3131/jvsj.21.196.
- (123) Puckrin, E.; Slavin, A. J. Comparison of the Oxidation of Polycrystalline Bulk Bismuth and Thin Bismuth Films on the Au(111) Surface. *Phys. Rev. B* 1990, 42 (2), 1168–1176. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.42.1168.
- (124) Kowalczyk, P. J.; Belic, D.; Mahapatra, O.; Brown, S. A.; Kadantsev, E. S.;
  Woo, T. K.; Ingham, B.; Kozlowski, W. Anisotropic Oxidation of Bismuth Nanostructures: Evidence for a Thin Film Allotrope of Bismuth. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2012, *100* (15), 151904. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3701166.
- (125) Hargis, C. W.; Young, H. S. Oxidation of Some Organic Compounds by Oxide of Arsenic, Antimony, or Bismuth. Production of Methacrylaldehyde from Isobutyraldehyde and Other Oxidations. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Prod. Res. Dev.* 1966, 5 (1), 72–75. https://doi.org/10.1021/i360017a015.
- (126) Postel, M.; Duñach, E. Bismuth Derivatives for the Oxidation of Organic Compounds. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 1996, 155, 127–144.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-8545(96)90179-4.

- (127) Bothwell, J. M.; Krabbe, S. W.; Mohan, R. S. Applications of Bismuth(Iii) Compounds in Organic Synthesis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2011, 40 (9), 4649. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0cs00206b.
- (128) Ollevier, T. New Trends in Bismuth-Catalyzed Synthetic Transformations. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2013, 11 (17), 2740. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3ob26537d.
- (129) Freedman, L. D.; Doak, G. O. Preparation, Reactions, and Physical Properties of Organobismuth Compounds. *Chem. Rev.* 1982, 82 (1), 15–57. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr00047a002.
- (130) Briand, G. G.; Burford, N. Bismuth Compounds and Preparations with Biological or Medicinal Relevance. *Chem. Rev.* 1999, 99 (9), 2601–2658. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr980425s.
- (131) Briand, G. G.; Burford, N. Coordination Complexes of Bismuth(III) Involving Organic Ligands with Pnictogen or Chalcogen Donors. *Adv. Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, *50*, 285–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0898-8838(00)50007-5.

# Chapter 2

Experimental

#### **2.1 Dopant Precursor Synthesis**

Arsenic trichloride, anhydrous diethyl ether, stabilised deuterated chloroform and mesitylene were purchased from Acros Organics. Mesitylene was dried, distilled from calcium hydride and stored over 3 Å molecular sieves before use. All other chemicals were used as received. Allylmagnesium bromide was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and used as-received. All chemical manipulations were carried out under inert conditions in a high purity argon (Air Products Inc.) atmosphere using a combination of Schlenk apparatus and an inert-atmosphere glovebox. Triallylarsine (TAA) was synthesised according to literature procedures.<sup>1</sup> Allylmagnesium bromide (138.5 ml, 138.5 mmol) was set stirring in a three-neck round bottom flask. To one arm was attached a water condenser with an argon inlet. A pressure-equalising addition funnel containing arsenic trichloride (5.0 g, 2.3 ml, 28 mmol) in anhydrous diethyl ether (25 ml) was attached to the middle arm and the remaining arm was closed. The arsenic trichloride solution was added to the Grignard reagent over a period of 30 min under vigorous stirring, while keeping the solution at 0 °C. On completion of the addition, the reaction was left to warm up to room temperature and was then heated to reflux for 2 h. The reaction was then cooled back to 0 °C and a deoxygenated, saturated solution of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl at 0 °C was added very slowly to neutralise the remaining Grignard reagent. The mixture was filtered into an extraction funnel and the organic phase was extracted with a 25 ml portion of diethyl ether. The aqueous phase was then washed with  $3 \times 25$  ml portions of diethyl ether and the organic fractions were combined with the previously extracted organic phase. The organic phase was then dried with granular magnesium sulphate and filtered into a round-bottom flask. Excess diethyl ether was removed by rotary evaporation and the oily residue was distilled twice using a Kugelrohr short path distillation apparatus.

#### **2.2 Characterisation Techniques**

#### 2.2.1 X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) is a surface analysis technique used to qualitatively characterise the chemical states and binding environment as well as quantitatively measure the elemental compositions. An XPS spectrometer measures the kinetic energy of electrons emitted from the core levels of the surface atoms when they are illuminated by X-ray photons of energy *hv*. The kinetic energy (*Ek*) measured is then converted to binding energy (*BE*) according to the photoelectric effect equation,  $BE = hv - Ek - \Phi$ ,<sup>2</sup> where  $\Phi$  stands for the spectrometer work function. Only electrons which are emitted without losing kinetic energy contribute towards the elemental photoelectric lines. Electrons from deeper within the sample, which lose kinetic energy through inelastic scattering when impacting the other atoms in the lattice during escape, contribute toward the background spectrum; while X-rays can penetrate in the sample down to few micrometers, only the electrons from the first tens of nanometers of the substrate can escape without losing enough kinetic energy to be detected.

An X-ray photoelectron spectrometer typically consists of a hemispherical electron energy analyser and an anode X-ray source, *e.g.* Mg K $\alpha$  (1253.6 eV) or Al K $\alpha$ (1486.6 eV) within an ultra-high-vacuum chamber (typical system base pressures are in the 1  $\times$  10<sup>-10</sup> mbar range). The photons emitted by the Mg and Al anodes offer the best energy resolution while still able to excite at least one core level for each known element. The analyser is normally operated by selecting an energy "window", accepting only the electrons having an energy falling within the range of this fixed window, referred to as the pass energy.

XPS spectra were acquired on an Oxford Applied Research Escabase XPS system equipped with a CLASS VM 100 mm mean radius hemispherical electron energy analyser with multichannel detectors in an analysis chamber with a base pressure of  $5.0 \times 10^{-9}$  mbar. Survey scans were recorded between 0-1400 eV with a step size of 0.7 eV, dwell time of 0.5 s and pass energy of 100 eV. Core level scans were acquired at the binding energy relative to the element analysed with a step size of 0.1 eV, dwell time of 0.5 s and pass energy of 20 eV averaged over 20 scans. A non-monochromated Al-k $\alpha$  X-ray source at 200 W power was used for all scans. All spectra were acquired at a take-off angle of 90° with respect to the analyser axis and were charge corrected with respect to the C 1s core level line with an assigned binding energy of 284.8 eV. Spectra were processed using CasaXPS software where a Shirley background correction was employed, and peaks were fitted using Voigt profiles.

# 2.2.2 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) and Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) FTIR

Different chemical groups absorb different frequencies of radiation that are characteristic of their chemical structure and the immediate bonding environment. When subject to infrared radiation (IR, with wavelength comprised between 4000 – 500 cm<sup>-1</sup>) molecular bonds can stretch, bend and vibrate according to the functional groups present. FTIR analysis involves guiding an IR beam through an interferometer and then through the sample. This allows the full range of IR frequencies to be scanned simultaneously allowing for fast data acquisition and high quality spectra. The FTIR
response is an interferogram which is then converted to a spectrum via Fourier transformation.

Attenuated total reflectance infrared spectroscopy (ATR-FTIR) involves passing an incident ray of infrared light first through a hemispherical crystal of a high refractive index material, which must have higher refractive index than the substrate being measured. The crystal then reflects off the internal surface in contact with the sample. The internal reflectance coming from the crystal creates an evanescent wave which extends into the sample which is in tight contact with the crystal. Functional groups on the surface which absorb IR will then cause attenuation of the evanescent wave; the wave is then measured as it exits the crystal. Attenuated total reflectance infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectra were recorded using a Nicolet 6700 Infrared Spectrometer with a VariGATR and a liquid N<sub>2</sub> cooled MgCdTe detector using 3000 scans at a resolution of 2 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Spectra were collected under p-polarisation in an ambient atmosphere and an ambient scan was carried out prior to measuring the samples, in order to subtract background signal coming from ambient moisture and atmosphere.

#### 2.2.3 Electrochemical Capacitance Voltage Dopant Profiling

Capacitance-voltage (CV) measurements are one of the most widely used electrical characterisation techniques used to measure active dopant distributions in samples, as the depth distribution of the carriers is closely related to the dopant profile. Unfortunately, the maximum depth for Schottky-CV measurements is limited due to reverse-bias voltage breakdown. To rectify this problem, Ambridge and co-workers<sup>3</sup> suggested that an electrolyte, when in contact with a semiconductor can form a quasi-Schottky contact, creating a depletion region that is devoid of conducting

electrons/holes but contains ionised donors and electrically active defects or traps. This depletion region then behaves like a capacitor and can allow for calculation of the density of electrically active carriers. The main advantage of this technique is that the maximum depth is not limited as the Schottky barrier is replaced by an electrolyte. The ECV profiling is then carried out in two main steps: i) measurement of the CV of the electrolyte-semiconductor capacitor and ii) self-limited etching of the material. The etching takes place either using forward bias, in the case of *p*-doped samples, or UV illumination and reverse biasing where *n*-type samples are being analysed. Repeated etch and measurement cycles enable a depth vs active dopant (carrier) concentration profile to be obtained. ECV analysis was carried out on a WEP Control CVP21 wafer profiler using 0.4 M disodium 4,5-dihydroxy-1,3-benzenedisulfonate (Tiron) as the etchant for Ge. Scanning parameters were automatically controlled by the instrument by selecting the appropriate sample type, layer map and etchant combination, with etching depths down to 300 nm. Error in active carrier concentration did not exceed 10 % for ECV analysis on Ge.

#### 2.2.4 Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry

Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry (SIMS) is a technique used to analyse the chemical compositions of thin films and surfaces by using a focused primary ion beam to sputter the surface of a sample and analyse the ejected secondary ions emitted. The standard technique is usually qualitative but, when combined with standards of known composition, it can be considered a quantitative technique. A Time-of-Flight SIMS (TOF-SIMS) instrument generally consists of a primary ion gun, UHV system chamber to increase the mean free path of the ions, a linear flight path using an ion reflective mirror and a mass analyser. TOF-SIMS can allow for elemental and

molecular information of the outermost surface of a sample as virtually no sputtering occurs during the analysis of the samples as the beam ion dose is too low ( $<1 \times 10^{12}$ ) at/cm<sup>2</sup>). An auxiliary sputtering source can then be used to carry out depth profiling of a sample. If used for dopant analysis, SIMS yields the total chemical concentration of an element, *i.e.* combined active and inactive carrier concentrations. SIMS spectra for Chapter 3 were collected in collaboration with the Centre de Microcaractérisation Raimond Castaing at the University of Toulouse, France. The measurements were carried out on a CAMECA IMS 4F6 spectrometer equipped with a  $O_2^+$ , O<sup>-</sup> and Ar<sup>+</sup> source. A low energy mode of 2 kV accelerating voltage and beam current of 20 nA was used to analyse the composition of the sample. SIMS spectra for Chapter 4 were collected using a TOF-SIMS 5 system from ION® TOF in the Leti CEA-tech laboratories in France. Sputtering was performed with a 2 keV Cs<sup>+</sup> ion beam incident at 45° and analysis was performed using a 30 keV Bi<sup>+</sup> ion beam incident at 45°. The sputtered crater was 200  $\mu$ m  $\times$  200  $\mu$ m whereas the analysed zone was 50  $\mu$ m  $\times$  50 µm. The Si concentration was quantified using relative sensitivity factors from an ndoped reference sample; the reference sample was also used to measure the sputter rate in GaN to quantify the depth scale.

#### 2.2.5 Nanowire Electrical Measurements

Measurements on 4-point nanowire test structures were carried out using a Cascade 4probe Manual Prober together with an Agilent B1500 Device analyser. All the data was collected at room temperatures with voltage sweeps from -2 to 2 V.

#### **2.2.6 Electron Microscopy**

Electron microscopy a widely used method for morphological characterisation of nanomaterials. The very short wavelength of the electron (2.5 pm at 200 kV), mean it is possible to achieve atomic scale resolution of some materials. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) studies the interaction of an electron beam which is transmitted through a sample. Samples were prepared by cutting a thin lamella which was then loaded onto a Cu grid for TEM analysis. TEM is useful in determining the crystallinity of materials and any lattice defects. The TEM lamellae for analysis were prepared on a FEI Helios Nanolab SEM/FIB cutter. TEM images were acquired on a JEOL 2100 HRTEM microscope operating at an accelerating voltage of 200 kV.

#### 2.2.7 Atomic Force Microscopy

Atomic force microscopy (AFM) is a technique used to map the topography of a sample. A sharp tip at the end of the AFM cantilever is brought near to the surface of a sample. A laser is shining on top of the cantilever. The cantilever is deflected when it interacts with the surface and the tip movement is then registered by the laser and converted into height values. AFM images were collected was a Veeco<sup>®</sup> instrument. All scans were carried out on a  $3 \,\mu m \times 3 \,\mu m$  area in non-contact mode in air at room temperature with scan speeds ranging from 0.300 to 0.500 Hz and 512 lines.

#### **2.2.8 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance**

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy was used to verify the formation of reaction compounds during the oxide removal of bismuth. <sup>1</sup>H (300 MHz) and <sup>13</sup>C (75.5 MHz) NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Advance 300 MHz NMR

spectrometer. All spectra were recorded at 300 K in deuterated chloroform (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) using tetramethylsilane (TMS) as internal standard.

#### 2.2.9 Photoluminescence spectroscopy

Photoluminescence (PL) spectroscopy analysis allows for the evaluation of the crystalline quality of III-V semiconductors such as GaN or InP, as well as the quantifications of defects and impurities<sup>4</sup>. PL analysis was performed by irradiating GaN samples with an Argon ion laser (354 nm) and detecting the emission with a Horiba *i*HR320 imaging spectrometer, equipped with a Synapse<sup>®</sup> thermoelectrically cooled CCD detector. The measurement was averaged over 4 scans and 2<sup>nd</sup> order diffraction peaks from the laser have been removed from the final spectra.

#### **2.2.10 Hall Measurements**

Hall effect measurements exploit the Hall effect that electrons experience when placed in a magnetic field. A magnetic field is applied perpendicular to the current flow in a semiconductor material and due to Hall effect electrons accumulate to one side of the sample, thus leading to an electric field across the sample due to uneven distribution of charge. This effect in turn leads to a potential difference which is known as the Hall voltage  $V_H$ . From the measured Hall voltage, it is possible to extract the  $n_s$  sheet carrier density of the sample from the relation, as shown in equation 2.1 below:

$$V_H = \frac{IB}{qn_s} \tag{2.1}$$

Where *I* is the current applied in ampere, *B* is the magnetic field, in Wb/cm<sup>2</sup>, and *q* is the elementary charge in coulombs. The samples can be measured using the Van der

Pauw method, which employs a four-point probe placed around the perimeter of the sample. With this method it is possible to measure samples of any shape, as long as they are flat, have homogeneous composition and are isotropic, the contacts are at the edges of the sample and the area of the contacts is at least one order of magnitude smaller than the area of the entire sample.<sup>5–7</sup> This measurement setup allows the resistivity of the material, the doping type, the sheet majority carrier density and the mobility of the majority carriers to be calculated.

Hall effect measurements were carried out on a LakeShore<sup>®</sup> 8600 series instrument; the excitation current ranged from 10  $\mu$ A to 100  $\mu$ A while the excitation field was 1.7 T. Sample geometry type was approximated to a Van der Pauw square but, while every care was taken to cut samples to a perfect square, some error needs to be accounted in the results. To get a good electrical contact a Ga-Sn eutectic was deposited on the corners of the samples to perform the measurement, which also contributes to experimental error on the order of D/L, where D is the mean diameter of the contact and L is the distance between the contacts.

2.3 Molecular Layer Doping (MLD) of Germanium Substrates and Nanowires using organoarsenic and organophosphorus precursors

2.3.1 Functionalisation Procedure for Ge substrates using Triallylarsine (TAA) and Allyldiphenylphosphine oxide (ADPO)

All glassware was cleaned with a piranha wash and dried overnight at 130 °C prior to undertaking any molecular layer doping (MLD) experiments. The precursors allyldiphenylphosphine oxide (ADPO) and Triallylarsine (TAA) were dissolved in isopropyl alcohol (IPA) to make up a 1 % vol. solution. The solutions were degassed under nitrogen using a freeze-pump-thaw cycle that was repeated 3 times, before being left to purge under nitrogen. P-type and n-type Ge wafers (mean background doping concentration of  $5 \times 10^{17}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>) were purchased from Umicore. Ge samples were cut from the wafer to squares of ca. 1 cm<sup>2</sup>. The Ge wafers were degreased by sonication in acetone for approximately 180 s and subsequently rinsed in IPA. Each wafer was dried with N<sub>2</sub> followed by immersion for 10 min in a 10 wt% solution of HBr or HF, to remove the oxides and passivate the surface. Samples were then dried with N<sub>2</sub>, rinsed once more with IPA and then dried again after which they were placed immediately into a two-neck quartz round bottom flask under N2 to prevent reoxidation. The degassed TAA or ADPO solutions were then cannulated under a positive pressure of N<sub>2</sub> to the flask containing the passivated samples. The UV lamp used for the UV reaction was a UVP Pen-Ray with mercury source and wavelength of 254 nm. The quartz flasks was irradiated with the UV pen for 3 hr; the reaction flask and the UV pen were covered in aluminium foil for the whole duration of the reaction. After the reaction had completed, the substrate was removed from the flask and sonicated in IPA for 90 s to remove any physisorbed species. The sample was then dried with N<sub>2</sub> and stored in a N<sub>2</sub> glovebox, or in a N<sub>2</sub> filled sample preserver, before subsequent processing and characterisation steps.

#### 2.3.2 Fabrication of Ge-on-insulator Nanowire Test Structures

Intrinsically doped germanium-on-insulator (GeOI) substrates were patterned using a Raith e-Line Plus electron beam lithography (EBL) system and a high-resolution EBL resist known as hydrogen silsesquioxane (HSQ) purchased from Dow Corning. The substrates were firstly degreased by ultrasonicating them subsequently in acetone and IPA solvents. They were then blown dry with a N<sub>2</sub> gun and immersed in 1-2 wt% hydrofluoric (HF) acid for 30-40 s and rinsed under flowing DI water. The substrates were subsequently dipped in 4.5 M HNO<sub>3</sub> for 20 s, rinsed under DI water and

immediately submerged in a solution of 7.5 M HCl for 10 min. This step provided Clterminated Ge surfaces. The substrates were then dried thoroughly under flowing  $N_2$ and a 1:2 concentration solution of HSQ in methylisobutyl ketone (MIBK) was spun on the substrates with 2000 rpm for 33 s (lid closed). This gave approximately 50 nm thick HSQ film on any substrate. The substrates were then baked at 120 °C for 3 min prior to EBL exposure.

EBL exposure was a two-step process where the first lithography step was used to expose only the high-resolution fin structures. In the second step the gold contact pads for the four probes were exposed. To attain a highly focused beam for the first step, a 10 kV beam voltage and a 100 µm write-field was chosen. To avoid the large exposure time, low-resolution contact pads were written with a 1 kV beam voltage and 400 µm write-field. After the EBL exposures, the substrates were developed in 0.25 M NaOH and 0.7 M NaCl solution mixture for 15 s followed by 60 s rinse in DI water and 15 s immersion in IPA. For the second lithography step the substrates were Cl terminated as before, excluding the HF dip, and developed using the same method. To transfer the HSQ pattern into the top Ge layer of the GeOI substrates, they were subjected to reactive ion etch (RIE) using Cl<sub>2</sub> chemistry in Oxford Instruments Plasmalab 100 system.

#### 2.4 Molecular Layer Doping of GaN Substrates with Silicon

#### 2.4.1 GaN Substrate Growth

Nominally undoped and n-doped GaN films, grown by metalorganic vapour phase epitaxy (MOVPE) were used for MLD experiments. The films were deposited onto AlN buffer layers supported on *c*-plane sapphire substrates, using an Aixtron close coupled showerhead  $3 \times 2^{\circ}$  MOCVD reactor. The AlN buffer layer significantly

improves the electrical and optical properties of GaN by supplying nucleation centres with the same orientation as the substrate; these in turn reduce the amount of dislocations arising from the lattice mismatch between GaN and the substrate.<sup>8</sup> GaN was then deposited using trimethylgallium and ammonia as Ga and N precursors, respectively. The GaN films were grown at a temperature of 1060°C and a pressure of 150 mbar in a hydrogen atmosphere.

#### 2.4.2 Functionalisation GaN Substrates with (3-Aminopropyl)triethoxysilane

All glassware was cleaned with Alconox detergent followed by a water rinse, a piranha wash and dried in an oven overnight at a temperature of 130 °C. (3-aminopropyl)triethoxysilane (APTES 99 %, Sigma), was used as a silicon MLD precursor. The sonication reaction was replicated from previous work<sup>9</sup> where the APTES was diluted to a 20 mM solution in toluene. The GaN was cleaved in coupons of *ca*. 1 cm<sup>2</sup> and cleaned in a hot piranha solution ( $H_2SO_4/H_2O_2$ , 3:1) by dipping for 20 min. The coupons were then rinsed in DI water to hydroxylate the surface and then sonicated in the 20 mM APTES solution for 90 min at temperature of 50 °C. The samples were then rinsed in methanol and toluene to remove any physisorbed species.

## 2.5 Oxide removal and stabilization of bismuth thin films through chemically bound thiol layers

#### **2.5.1 Bismuth Thin Film Growth**

Bi films used in this study were grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) on undoped Si [111] wafers. Prior to deposition the Si substrates were chemically cleaned using a HF-last RCA<sup>10</sup> procedure to remove the native oxide and to passivate the surface with hydrogen. The substrates were subsequently heated in-situ to a temperature of 700 °C for 20 min to desorb hydrogen atoms from the Si surface. The Bi material flux was generated by an effusion cell operated at a temperature of 550 °C, which yielded a growth rate of 17 nm/hr. Thickness and crystallographic orientation are the key parameters determining the resulting electronic structure of the thin films.

#### 2.5.2 General Passivation Procedure of Bismuth with 1-dodecanethiol

A round bottom flask was preheated using a heating mantle to a temperature of 180  $^{\circ}$ C and left for 30 min. The bismuth MBE substrates were then placed in the flask which was kept under N<sub>2</sub> for the remainder of the reaction. The samples were annealed for 1 hr and the flask was then left to cool down at room temperature. Solutions of 1-dodecanethiol in IPA and hexane were prepared, with concentrations ranging from 1 to 100 mM. The solutions were then degassed using three freeze-pump-thaw cycles and transferred in the sample flask by cannula transfer, thus preventing any contact with the outer atmosphere.

The bismuth samples were left immersed in solution at room temperature overnight. The solution was then pumped out of the flask using a cannula and the samples dried by gently heating the flask using a heat gun in order to evaporate the remaining solvent. Clean IPA was then pumped into the sample flask to rinse off any adsorbed molecules. The IPA was then pumped out and the solvent dried once again. The same reaction procedure was used for bismuth powder which was used as received. The still inert sample flask was then transferred in a glovebox where the samples were transferred from the flask to a gelbox, which was carried in a N<sub>2</sub> filled sample preserver. The gelbox was kept in the sample preserver until XPS measurements were

carried out; the exposure time due to loading procedure in the XPS entry chamber was always below 30 s.

#### 2.6 Bibliography

- Phadnis, P. P.; Jain, V. K.; Klein, A.; Schurr, T.; Kaim, W. Tri(Allyl)- and Tri(Methylallyl)Arsine Complexes of Palladium(Ii) and Platinum(Ii): Synthesis, Spectroscopy, Photochemistry and Structures. *New J. Chem.* 2003, 27 (11), 1584. https://doi.org/10.1039/b303990k.
- (2) Wikipedia: Photoelectric Effect Effect (accessed Jul 3, 2021).
- (3) Ambridge, T.; Faktor, M. M. Electrochemical Capacitance Characterization of N-Type Gallium Arsenide. J. Appl. Electrochem. 1974, 4 (2), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00609022.
- (4) Reshchikov, M. A. Measurement and Analysis of Photoluminescence in GaN.
   *J. Appl. Phys.* 2021, *129* (12), 121101. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0041608.
- (5) Van Der Pauw, L. J. A METHOD OF MEASURING THE RESISTIVITY AND HALL EFFECT COEFFICIENT OF LAMELLAE OF ARBITRARY SHAPE. *Philips Res. Reports* 1958, 20, 220–224.
- (6) Van Der Pauw, L. J. A METHOD OF MEASURING SPECIFIC RESISTIVITY AND HALL EFFECT OF DISCS OF ARBITRARY SHAPE. *Philips Res. Reports* 1958, 13, 1–9.
- Webster, J. G.; Eren, H. Measurement, Instrumentation, and Sensors Handbook, 2nd ed.; CRC Press, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315217109.
- (8) Akasaki, I.; Amano, H.; Koide, Y.; Hiramatsu, K.; Sawaki, N. Effects of AlN

Buffer Layer on Crystallographic Structure and on Electrical and Optical Properties of GaN and Ga1–xAlxN ( $0 < x \le 0.4$ ) Films Grown on Sapphire Substrate by MOVPE. J. Cryst. Growth **1989**, 98 (1–2), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0248(89)90200-5.

- (9) Baur, B.; Steinhoff, G.; Hernando, J.; Purrucker, O.; Tanaka, M.; Nickel, B.;
  Stutzmann, M.; Eickhoff, M. Chemical Functionalization of GaN and AlN Surfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2005, 87 (26), 263901. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2150280.
- (10) Kern, W. RCA Critical Cleaning Process; 2007.

### **Chapter 3**

# Molecular Layer Doping (MLD) of Germanium Substrates and Nanowires using Organoarsenic and Organophosphorus Precursors

Some of the data in this Chapter has been published as part of a peer reviewed article in *Mater. Sci. Semicon. Process* and in the proceedings of the 20<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Ion Implantation Technology (IIT). My contribution to the research involved synthesising the dopant precursors, substrate cleaning and functionalisation and electrochemical capacitance voltage analysis.

Long, B.; Alessio Verni, G.; O'Connell, J.; Shayesteh, M.; Gangnaik, A.; Georgiev,
Y. M.; Carolan, P.; O'Connell, D.; Kuhn, K. J.; Clendenning, S. B.; Nagle, R.; Duffy,
R.; Holmes, J. D. 'Doping top-down e-beam fabricated germanium nanowires using molecular monolayers', *Mater. Sci. Semicon. Process.*, 2017, 62, 196-200.

Long, B.; Alessio Verni, G.; O'Connell, J.; Holmes, J.; Shayesteh, M.; O'Connell, D.; Duffy, R. 'Molecular Layer Doping: Non-Destructive Doping of Silicon and Germanium'. In *2014 20th International Conference on Ion Implantation Technology* (*IIT*); IEEE: Portland, **2014**; pp 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/IIT.2014.6939995.

#### **3.1 Abstract**

As transistor architecture continuously evolves to more advanced designs and critical dimensions are still scaling down, the demand for alternative processing technologies and substitute materials is swiftly escalating. One such alternative is provided by molecular layer doping (MLD), a novel technique already well-established for materials such as Si and InAs. The process is based on (i) the reaction of dopantcontaining molecules with a semiconductor surface and (ii) annealing to diffuse the dopant atom from the surface into the substrate. This Chapter details the successful MLD of crystalline Ge wafers and nanostructures by As and P atoms, to obtain an active carrier concentration of up to  $9 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>-3</sup>. Atomic force microscopy imaging showed that the surface roughness of the films was not affected by any of the MLD steps. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy analysis showed that functionalisation was successful and dopant profiling allowed for the extraction of the active carrier concentration and for an estimate of the dopant activation efficiency. The electrical resistivity of top-down fabricated Ge nanowires was found to decrease by several orders of magnitude after the MLD process, with no evidence from transmission electron microscopy analysis that the crystallinity of the nanowires had been compromised.

#### **3.2 Introduction**

Controlling the doping of nanoscale devices is becoming crucial as device size scale<sup>1,2</sup> and the architecture evolves from planar to non-planar, *e.g.* bulk to finFETs<sup>3</sup>. New and reliable doping methods that can be easily controlled, in terms of doping depth and conformality<sup>4,5</sup>, are required. Traditional doping techniques, such as ion implantation, are becoming obsolete for tri-dimensional thin body structures, *e.g.* finFETs. One of

the main issues is the shadowing effect that arises when trying to implant a tightly packed array of nanofins, such as those found on an integrated circuit. Shadowing limits the maximum angle that can be used for ion implanting, often resulting in low and non-uniform doping and structural amorphisation<sup>6</sup>. Whilst amorphised structures can be recrystallised at high temperatures, achieving this with thin body semiconductor structures, *e.g.* finFETs, can be problematic. Studies have shown that in a narrow 3D thin-body fin structure, surface proximity leads to the formation of twin boundary defects in implanted regions. Theoretical studies have shown that if recrystallisation is retarded in Si fin structures, random nucleation and growth may occur, with partial transformation of the fin into polycrystalline Si<sup>7</sup>. However, this polycrystalline nature of Si results in poor device performance, *e.g.* high resistance and high leak currents even at small voltages.

In 2008 Ho *et al.*<sup>8</sup> developed a novel method for doping nanostructures termed molecular layer doping (MLD). The technique is based on (i) forming a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of dopant containing molecules on the surface of a semiconductor followed by (ii) thermal diffusion of atoms via rapid thermal annealing (RTA). Thermal decomposition of this molecular layer enables dopant atoms to diffuse into the underlying substrate; the surface functionalisation is usually achieved through a reduction reaction between a hydrogen-terminated semiconductor surface and a labile C=C site on the dopant containing molecule<sup>8,9</sup>. According to the required application, MLD can be finely tuned as numerous parameters, such as the thermal budget or the molecular footprint of the dopant precursor, can be modified as required. MLD is already well-established for Si, with reports of doping being carried out with B, P and As-containing molecules on both bulk crystalline Si and on nanowire devices, leading to the formation of ultra-shallow junctions<sup>8–10</sup>. The technique has also been applied to

InAs<sup>11</sup>, InP<sup>12</sup> and InGaAs<sup>13–15</sup> using S, Si and Sn dopant precursors. In these reports, MLD did not damage the semiconductor surfaces and the surface functional layers were found to be inherently conformal<sup>16–18</sup>.

As far as semiconductor materials are concerned, Ge is a viable substitute for Si in semiconductor processing. Being from the same group as Si, Ge is compatible with complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) processing, allowing its implementation in already established production lines. Moreover, Ge has higher carrier mobilities than Si, leading, in theory, to better performing electrical devices. In general, processing and chemical techniques employed on Si are broadly transferrable to Ge. However, due to the complex and unstable oxides of Ge<sup>19</sup>, the surface chemistry is vastly more challenging to control that Si and requires effective surface cleaning and passivation to prevent reoxidation. The data presented in this Chapter focuses on MLD of Ge wafers and nanowires with As and P. The choice of dopants was dictated mainly by their relatively high equilibrium solubility in Ge and their ability to easily in-diffuse. The surfaces were functionalised using a UV-initiated hydrogermylation reaction<sup>20</sup>, due to the low decomposition temperature of the organic precursors used.

#### 3.3 Results and Discussion

#### **3.3.1 Surface Passivation and Functionalisation**

Initial experiments were carried out on bulk crystalline Ge substrates, given the quicker turnaround time between processing and data collection, allowing for faster optimisation of the cleaning and passivation process and the subsequent thermal budget parameters. These optimised MLD process parameters were then applied to top-down fabricated Ge nanowires. The synthesis of the triallylarsine (TAA) arsenic

precursor is outlined in **Chapter 2** (Section 2.1) whereas the allyldiphenylphosphine oxide (ADPO) molecule was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

Surface cleaning and passivation were achieved using dilute HBr or HF, following previously outlined procedures<sup>19</sup>, leading to the complete removal of surface GeO<sub>2</sub> and part removal of the GeO suboxide, making the surface accessible for hydrogermylation reactions. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) was employed to assess the surface roughness of the substrates before and after processing. For a process to be suitable for nanoscale device application, the surface roughness root mean square (RMS) value must be minimised, preferably below 0.5 nm. In the case of the mineral acid cleaning, there was no discernible increase in surface roughness post-processing with RMS values of <0.5 nm (see **Figures 3.1 (a), (b) and (c)**)



**Figure 3.1:** Representative AFM comparison between (a) an as received Ge wafer (b) an HBr cleaned Ge wafer (c) an HF cleaned Ge wafer and (d) an allyldiphenylphosphine oxide (ADPO) functionalised Ge wafer. The increased roughness post functionalisation could be attributed to the presence of some multilayer islands of ADPO.

Oxide removal from the Ge substrates was checked by comparing high resolution Xray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) spectra (Ge 3d core level) before and after passivation (see **Figure 3.2**). Even though the GeO<sub>x</sub> peak was greatly reduced after the cleaning process, some oxide still remained on the wafers, likely due to the presence of small quantities of water insoluble germanium suboxides (GeO) which can only be completely removed after more prolonged mineral acid dips<sup>19</sup>. However, this suboxide was found to have a negligible effect on subsequent functionalisation steps.



**Figure 3.2:** (a) High resolution XPS Ge 3d core level scan of an as received Ge wafer; the native oxide as well as the suboxides are present. (b) After acid cleaning the native oxide is removed whereas some of the suboxides, harder to remove via wet chemical methods, are still present.

The reaction between the dopant precursors and the surface of the Ge substrates was carried out through a UV-initiated hydrogermylation reaction<sup>20</sup> (see also **Chapter 2**, **Section 2.3**) chosen due to the low boiling/melting temperature of the precursors used, *i.e.* a melting point of 78 °C for ADPO<sup>21</sup> and a boiling point of 111 °C for TAA.<sup>22</sup> The C=C double bond of the ADPO and the TAA undergoes a radical breakdown and

reacts with the passivated surface to form a covalent Ge-C bond. The substrate was then sonicated in isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and acetone to remove any physisorbed species. **Figure 3.3(a)** shows an XPS survey spectrum of the surface of a Ge wafer after functionalisation with ADPO, and highlights the presence of a surface phosphorus group (see inset). However, it was not possible to use the P 2p core level peak for accurate quantitative analysis, as this overlaps with a Ge plasmon peak. **Figure 3.3(b)** shows the survey spectra of a TAA functionalised sample and the presence of arsenic on the surface was identified by the 3*d* L<sub>3</sub>-M<sub>4.5</sub>M<sub>4.5</sub> As Auger line (where the line is generated by an electron from the 3*d* dropping to the 2*p* vacancy and a 3*d* Auger electron being emitted) present at 266 eV (see inset). Even in this case the main core level peaks for As overlap with the Ge core levels plasmon peaks so it was not possible to use them for quantitative analysis. However, based on the molecular footprint and the extracted dopant dose values (see section **3.3.3, Table 3.1**), as well as the low surface roughness post AFM (**Figure 3.1d**), the surface was estimated to consist of a molecular monolayer with some small multilayer islands forming.



*Figure 3.3:* Survey scan of (a) an ADPO functionalised Ge wafer and (b) a TAA functionalised Ge wafer with peaks of interest labelled. Insets shows a representation of the functionalised surfaces and the core level of the dopant atoms.

#### **3.3.2 Thermal Budget and Capping Study**

Initial studies focused on the annealing conditions required to diffuse dopant atoms from molecules attached to the surface into a Ge substrate. The use of RTA required a thermal budget to be established where the aim was to maximise the concentration of dopant atoms in the first 10 nm while minimising their diffusion depth. Initial thermal budgets employed were 650 °C for 60 s and 700 °C for 300 s, using TAA functionalised samples. Data from these anneals were obtained from both electrochemical capacitance voltage (ECV) and secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) profiling (Figure 3.4). ECV measures the active dopant concentration while SIMS measures the total dopant concentration. As both ECV and SIMS gave the same dopant profiles, within experimental error, this suggests that all of the diffused dopant atoms were activated; the dopant doses, *i.e.* area under the curve both for ECV and SIMS, obtained for the 650 °C annealed sample were  $2 \times 10^{14}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> and  $2.2 \times 10^{14}$ at/cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively. The diffusion of As atoms at a temperature of 700 °C was considered too deep as it passed the 500 nm mark; in addition, RTA specifications allow for a maximum operating temperature of 2/3<sup>rds</sup> of the melting point of the substrate. For these reasons, 650 °C was considered the optimal annealing temperature. As-functionalised Ge wafers were then annealed for 1, 10 and 100 s at a temperature of 650 °C. The ECV profiles (Figure 3.5) show a peak carrier concentration of  $7 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> for all three different thermal budgets, suggests that the solubility limit of As in Ge was reached at 650 °C.

This hypothesis is further confirmed by ECV data of a sample after two subsequent MLD cycles. **Figure 3.6** shows how only the total dose, and not the peak carrier concentration, were increased after the second cycle, going from  $6.9 \times 10^{13}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> for the first MLD cycle to  $1 \times 10^{14}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> after the second cycle. Moreover, there is no

difference in the depth profile after annealing for 1 and 10 s, indicating that the depth of the dopant diffusion cannot be controlled below 10 s, likely due to limitations in the ramp-up and cool-down stages of the RTA furnace employed (**Figure 3.5**).



*Figure 3.4:* ECV (Circles) and SIMS (continuous line) carrier measurement of an Asdoped Ge substrate after rapid thermal annealing at two different temperatures/times and post cap removal.



*Figure 3.5:* Carrier profiling of As-doped Ge performed by MLD and RTA for 1, 10 and 100 s. The inset shows the molecule used (TAA).



**Figure 3.6:** Carrier profiling of two separate samples (green and red) of Ge doped by As after 1 MLD cycle (triangle) and after 2 MLD cycles (circle). RTA was carried out for 10 s at a temperature of 650 °C. The inset shows an AFM of a Ge sample after undergoing 2 MLD cycles.

Once the thermal budget was defined, the influence of the capping layer on the diffusion profile was analysed. Traditional MLD processing uses a capping layer during the annealing step to prevent evaporation of the molecular layer. However, as the nanowires used in this study were fabricated on germanium-on-insulator (GeOI) substrates, a capping layer was not used to avoid detaching the fabricated nanostructures upon its removal with hydrogen fluoride.

To investigate the effect a capping layer has on the diffusion profile,  $SiO_2$  was deposited by three different methods onto the surface of TAA-functionalised Ge substrates. 50 nm of  $SiO_2$  were deposited by (i) sputtering, (ii) chemical vapour deposition (CVD) and (iii) evaporation. A fourth sample was processed alongside these where no capping layer was used. In all cases the samples were annealed for 10 s at a temperature of 650 °C. **Figure 3.7** shows the data from the capping layer study. Looking at carrier concentration values at a depth 50 nm, a sample with an evaporated

SiO<sub>2</sub> cap (known to have a low density and often porous) resulted in a carrier concentration of  $2 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, much lower when compared with either CVD deposited ( $4.4 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>) or sputtered SiO<sub>2</sub> ( $5.2 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>) capping layers. For the sample with no capping layer, it was interesting to note that, although the incorporated carrier concentration of  $3.4 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> was lower than for some of the capped samples, the As dopant still managed to diffuse into the Ge substrate. Hence, this data shows that it is possible to reduce the complexity of the MLD process, by reducing the number of steps required, *i.e.* no capping layer, which holds significant industrial value.



*Figure 3.7:* ECV data for As-doped Ge samples with different capping conditions. RTA was carried out at temperature of 650 °C for 10 s. All caps were SiO<sub>2</sub>.

#### **3.3.3 Dopant Diffusion**

Once the final annealing recipe was determined to be a temperature of 650 °C for 10 s, the As- and P-functionalised samples were annealed in a nitrogen atmosphere by RTA. **Figure 3.8** shows ECV *vs* depth data of P and As-doped Ge samples. The data highlights the presence of dopants inside the substrate, with a mean peak carrier concentration of  $7 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>. The dopant profile of the samples follows a square box profile with a constant carrier concentration up to ~200 nm in the substrate. Active dose and diffusivity values extracted are summarised in **Table 3.1**. The molecular footprint of the precursors was estimated to be roughly 1 nm<sup>2</sup>, thus giving a total maximum dose of  $10^{14}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> compared with the extracted dose, suggesting that all the available dopant atoms diffused into the Ge substrate and were activated, leading to a high doping efficiency.



*Figure 3.8:* ECV carrier measurement of As and P-doped samples after RTA and cap removal (annealing was carried out at a temperature of 650 °C for 10 s for both samples).

*Table 3.2:* Peak carrier concentration, total dose and diffusion coefficient extracted from ECV data of samples doped via As-MLD and P-MLD.

Dopant	Peak Carrier Concentration (at/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Total Dose (at/cm <sup>2</sup> )	Extracted Diffusion Coefficient (cm <sup>2</sup> /s)
Arsenic	$6.18 \times 10^{18}$	$1.13 \times 10^{14}$	$4.59 \times 10^{-12}$
Phosphorus	$8.73 \times 10^{18}$	$1.24 \times 10^{14}$	$1.08 \times 10^{-10}$

For the construction of metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistors (MOSFETs) a sharp doping profile, with an active carrier concentration above  $10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> and a sub 5-nm junction depth is desirable, particularly as overall architecture complexity increases and space requirements are becoming more stringent. Nonetheless, for a light source, a more uniform, box shaped doping profile such as the one shown in **Figure 3.8**, is preferable when Ge is used as a lasing material<sup>23</sup>.

Dopant diffusion in Ge is mainly mediated by vacancies<sup>24</sup>; to diffuse in the crystal lattice a dopant needs to pair up with a vacancy to travel. However, at high dopant concentrations, a high proportion of dopants can become trapped in electrically inactive dopant-defect clusters. This trapping process can be prevented with higher processing temperatures during the annealing step, albeit leading to diffusion of the dopant further into the substrate<sup>25,26</sup>. Annealing at high temperatures for short reaction times, to avoid deep carrier diffusion and prevent dopant deactivation, has been demonstrated using laser and flash lamp techniques<sup>27</sup>.

As and P are, together with Sb, the best *n*-dopants for Ge, due to their high diffusivity and ionisation energies. P, when compared to As, has a lower diffusivity, making it a more suitable dopant choice for the formation of shallow junctions. P concentrations of up to  $7 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> have been reported<sup>23</sup> in Ge using spin-on dopants, with the shallowest junction depth obtained being 500 nm. For ion implantation the highest dopant concentration achieved is  $5 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, using a post implant rapid thermal processing (RTP) activation anneal, and  $2 \times 10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> when using laser annealing<sup>28</sup>. Given this information, it should be possible to further improve the MLD technique using advanced annealing techniques, such as spike, flash lamp or laser annealing.

#### **3.3.4 Resistance Reduction in GeOI Nanowire Devices**

The MLD technique was also applied to top-down fabricated nanofin devices, with widths ranging from 20 to 1000 nm. The fabricated nanowire structures (see **Figure 3.9**) allowed a voltage to be applied to the inner contacts, while sensing the current at the two outer contacts (four-point probe measurement), eliminating lead and contact resistance from any measurements.

**Figure 3.10** shows current *vs* voltage (*I-V*) data from P-doped nanowires of differing widths, between 20 and 1000 nm and fixed lengths of 10  $\mu$ m. All nanowires displayed Ohmic behaviour, *i.e.* the current was found to depend linearly on the voltage, passing through the origin at zero volts. As the nanowire width decreased, the current passing through the nanowires decrease at a fixed voltage, *e.g.* at a fixed voltage of 1 V, a current of  $6.6 \times 10^{-6}$  and  $1 \times 10^{-7}$  A was obtained in nanowires with widths of 1  $\mu$ m and 40 nm, respectively.



**Figure 3.9:** An SEM micrograph of a nanowire test structure. The four electrodes used for the four-point probe measurement are shown; the voltage was swept between the inner electrodes and the current variation was sensed at the outer ones. Resistance was then extracted using Ohm's law.



*Figure 3.10:* I-V data of P-doped nanofin devices measured using a 4-probe method. The nanofins show Ohmic behaviour with scaling current for narrower fins. The 20 nm and 30 nm fins could not be measured as they got damaged during the handling of the sample.

**Figure 3.11** shows how the resistivity of intrinsic and MLD-doped Ge nanowires changes as a function of nanowire width, for a constant length of 10  $\mu$ m. The resistivity of MLD doped Ge nanowires, particularly those with widths above 100 nm, decreased by up to five orders of magnitude compared to intrinsic Ge nanowires, *e.g.*  $1 \times 10^8$  and  $1 \times 10^3 \Omega \mu$ m for undoped and P and As doped wires with widths of 1  $\mu$ m respectively, reaching levels comparable to those of bulk ion implanted Ge. However, as the dimension of the fin decreases, the resistivity change is less dramatic; one possibly is that carbon co-doping is happening, with the C supplied by the dopant molecule itself. Carbon has been shown to slow down the diffusion of both P and As in Ge but, at the same time, it does not suppress donor deactivation due to clustering as well as formation of inactive C<sub>i</sub>-P pairs <sup>24,25,29</sup>. As the nanofin width decreases, the proportion of inactive clusters increases, and it limits the effective channel diameter.



*Figure 3.11:* Plot of resistivity of nanowire fins vs width. Plot shows how the MLD process successfully reduces resistivity for large fins but becomes ineffective as dimensions scale down.



**Figure 3.12:** *a)* Cross-sectional TEM of a P MLD-doped Ge FinFET. The image shows no evident of crystal damage (main crystallographic directions are indicated). The inset shows the FFT, which highlights how the sample is perfectly crystalline and no amorphisation has occurred. b) Electron diffraction pattern of the nanowire sample confirming good crystallinity – the main crystallographic directions are indicated on the pattern.

To confirm that the MLD process did not damage the crystal structure of the nanowires, cross-sectional TEM imaging of the nanofins was performed. **Figure 3.12** shows the cross-section of a 50 nm top-down fabricated Ge nanowire after MLD processing. There was no evidence from the TEM images, or the electron diffraction patterns, that the nanowires were damaged by the MLD process, *e.g.* crystal defects or amorphisation typically observed with ion implantation. This is consistent with the gentle nature of the MLD process and shows that the technique can be transferred to nanostructured devices. Some improvements in the process are however necessary to avoid clustering and dope more effectively sub-30 nm structures. Dopant molecules with minimal carbon content should be ideally chosen, to minimise any co-doping effects. An alternative, high thermal budget/short time anneal, like millisecond laser or flash annealing, could help to promote the diffusion of faster moving P or As dopants when compared to slower moving carbon complexes<sup>30</sup>. Otherwise, as box-

shape like doping profiles could be arising from diffusion enhancement from high dopant concentration<sup>31</sup>, it might also be necessary to reduce the initial dopant dose coming from the first MLD cycle and perform multiple MLD cycles so to avoid fast dopant diffusion.

#### **3.4 Conclusions**

Doping of non-planar nanostructures is problematic due to issues such as the nonconformality of conventional doping methods, as well as crystal damage arising from high energy ion implantation. The controlled doping of bulk and nanostructured Ge has been successfully demonstrated in this Chapter using organo arsenic and phosphorus molecular monolayers. High active dopant concentrations approaching 9  $\times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> for P and 6  $\times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> for As were achieved for bulk Ge; moreover it was possible to decrease the resistivity of MLD P-doped GOI nanowires up to five orders of magnitude when compared with the undoped wires. The MLD process was also observed to have no effect on the crystallinity of Ge nanowires produced and no visible damage or defects were observed. However, in this study the RTA system employed was found to be a limiting factor in achieving an abrupt doping profile with a high peak carrier concentration. Research must now continue into the optimisation of the doping profile, with data in the literature suggesting that more advanced annealing methods, such as laser or spike annealing, should provide the thermal budgets required.<sup>32,33</sup>

#### **3.5 Bibliography**

- Moore, G. E.; Fellow, L. Cramming More Components onto Integrated Circuits. *Proc. IEEE* 1998, 86 (1), 82–85.
- Peercy, P. S. The Drive to Miniaturization. *Nature* 2000, 406 (6799), 1023–1026. https://doi.org/10.1038/35023223.
- Kuhn, K. J. Moore's Crystal Ball: Device Physics and Technology Past the 15nm Generation. *Microelectron. Eng.* 2011, 88 (7), 1044–1049. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2011.03.163.
- (4) International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors http://www.itrs2.net/ (accessed Sep 25, 2017).
- (5) Duffy, R.; Shayesteh, M.; Thomas, K.; Pelucchi, E.; Yu, R.; Gangnaik, A.; Georgiev, Y. M.; Carolan, P.; Petkov, N.; Long, B.; Holmes, J. D. Access Resistance Reduction in Ge Nanowires and Substrates Based on Non-Destructive Gas-Source Dopant in-Diffusion. *J. Mater. Chem. C* 2014, *2* (43), 9248–9257. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4TC02018A.
- (6) Horiguchi, N.; Zschaetzsch, G.; Sasaki, Y.; Kambham, A. K.; Douhard, B.; Togo, M.; Hellings, G.; Mitard, J.; Witters, L.; Eneman, G.; Noda, T.; Collaert, N.; Vandervorst, W.; Thean, A. Junction Strategies for 1x Nm Technology Node with FINFET and High Mobility Channel. In *2012 12th International Workshop on Junction Technology*; IEEE, 2012; pp 216–221. https://doi.org/10.1109/IWJT.2012.6212844.
- Duffy, R.; Van Dal, M. J. H.; Pawlak, B. J.; Kaiser, M.; Weemaes, R. G. R.;
  Degroote, B.; Kunnen, E.; Altamirano, E. Solid Phase Epitaxy versus Random Nucleation and Growth in Sub-20 Nm Wide Fin Field-Effect Transistors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2007, *90* (24), 241912. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2749186.

- Ho, J. C.; Yerushalmi, R.; Jacobson, Z. a; Fan, Z.; Alley, R. L.; Javey, A. Controlled Nanoscale Doping of Semiconductors via Molecular Monolayers. *Nat. Mater.* 2008, 7 (1), 62–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2058.
- Ho, J. C.; Yerushalmi, R.; Smith, G.; Majhi, P.; Bennett, J.; Halim, J.; Faifer, V. N.; Javey, A. Wafer-Scale, Sub-5 Nm Junction Formation by Monolayer Doping and Conventional Spike Annealing. *Nano Lett.* 2009, *9* (2), 725–730. https://doi.org/10.1021/n18032526.
- (10) Ang, K.-W.; Barnett, J.; Loh, W.-Y.; Huang, J.; Min, B.-G.; Hung, P. Y.; Ok, I.; Yum, J. H.; Bersuker, G.; Rodgers, M.; Kaushik, V.; Gausepohl, S.; Hobbs, C.; Kirsch, P. D.; Jammy, R. 300mm FinFET Results Utilizing Conformal, Damage Free, Ultra Shallow Junctions (Xj~5nm) Formed with Molecular Monolayer Doping Technique. In *2011 International Electron Devices Meeting*; IEEE, 2011; pp 35.5.1-35.5.4. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEDM.2011.6131679.
- Ho, J. C.; Ford, A. C.; Chueh, Y. L.; Leu, P. W.; Ergen, O.; Takei, K.; Smith, G.; Majhi, P.; Bennett, J.; Javey, A. Nanoscale Doping of InAs via Sulfur Monolayers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2009, 95 (7), 2–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3205113.
- (12) Cho, K.; Ruebusch, D. J.; Lee, M. H.; Moon, J. H.; Ford, A. C.; Kapadia, R.; Takei, K.; Ergen, O.; Javey, A. Molecular Monolayers for Conformal, Nanoscale Doping of InP Nanopillar Photovoltaics. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2011, 98 (20), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3585138.
- Yum, J. H.; Shin, H. S.; Hill, R.; Oh, J.; Lee, H. D.; Mushinski, R. M.; Hudnall,
  T. W.; Bielawski, C. W.; Banerjee, S. K.; Loh, W. Y.; Wang, W.-E.; Kirsch, P.
  A Study of Capping Layers for Sulfur Monolayer Doping on III-V Junctions.

Appl. Phys. Lett. 2012, 101 (25), 253514. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4772641.

- (14) Kong, E.; Xiao Gong; Pengfei Guo; Bin Liu; Yee-Chia Yeo. Novel Technique Comprising Silane Treatment and Laser Anneal for Abrupt Ultra-Shallow Junction Formation for InGaAs n-MOSFETs. In 2013 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Application (VLSI-TSA); IEEE, 2013; pp 1– 2. https://doi.org/10.1109/VLSI-TSA.2013.6545609.
- (15) O'Connell, J.; Napolitani, E.; Impellizzeri, G.; Glynn, C.; McGlacken, G. P.;
  O'Dwyer, C.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D. Liquid-Phase Monolayer Doping of InGaAs with Si-, S-, and Sn-Containing Organic Molecular Layers. ACS Omega 2017, 2 (5), 1750–1759. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.7b00204.
- (16) Voorthuijzen, W. P.; Yilmaz, M. D.; Naber, W. J. M.; Huskens, J.; van der Wiel, W. G. Local Doping of Silicon Using Nanoimprint Lithography and Molecular Monolayers. *Adv. Mater.* 2011, 23 (11), 1346–1350. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201003625.
- (17) Kong, E. Y.-J.; Guo, P.; Gong, X.; Liu, B.; Yeo, Y.-C. Toward Conformal Damage-Free Doping With Abrupt Ultrashallow Junction: Formation of Si Monolayers and Laser Anneal as a Novel Doping Technique for InGaAs NMOSFETs. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 2014, *61* (4), 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2014.2306934.
- O'Connell, J.; Verni, G. A.; Gangnaik, A.; Shayesteh, M.; Long, B.; Georgiev, Y. M.; Petkov, N.; McGlacken, G. P.; Morris, M. A.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D. Organo-Arsenic Molecular Layers on Silicon for High-Density Doping. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* 2015, 7 (28), 15514–15521. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b03768.
- (19) Onsia, B.; Conard, T.; De Gendt, S.; Heyns, M. M.; Hoflijk, I.; Mertens, P. W.;

Meuris, M.; Raskin, G.; Sioncke, S.; Teerlinck, I.; Theuwis, A.; Van Steenbergen, J.; Vinckier, C. A Study of the Influence of Typical Wet Chemical Treatments on the Germanium Wafer Surface. *Solid State Phenom.* **2005**, *103–104*, 27–30. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/SSP.103-104.27.

- (20) Choi, K.; Buriak, J. M. Hydrogermylation of Alkenes and Alkynes on Hydride-Terminated Ge(100) Surfaces. *Langmuir* 2000, *16* (20), 7737–7741. https://doi.org/10.1021/la000413d.
- (21) Kahraman, M. V.; Kayaman-Apohan, N.; Arsu, N.; Güngör, A. Flame Retardance of Epoxy Acrylate Resin Modified with Phosphorus Containing Compounds. *Prog. Org. Coatings* 2004, 51 (3), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.porgcoat.2004.07.014.
- Jones, W. J.; Davies, W. C.; Bowden, S. T.; Edwards, C.; Davis, V. E.; Thomas,
  L. H. Preparation and Properties of Allyl Phosphines, Arsines, and Stannanes. *J. Chem. Soc.* 1947, No. 0, 1446. https://doi.org/10.1039/jr9470001446.
- (23) Al-attili, A. Z.; Kako, S.; Husain, M. K.; Gardes, F. Y.; Arimoto, H.; Higashitarumizu, N.; Iwamoto, S.; Arakawa, Y.; Ishikawa, Y.; Saito, S. Spinon Doping of Germanium-on-Insulator Wafers for Monolithic Light Sources on Silicon. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 2015, *54* (052101), 8. https://doi.org/10.7567/JJAP.54.052101.
- (24) Chroneos, A.; Bracht, H.; Grimes, R. W.; Uberuaga, B. P. Vacancy-Mediated Dopant Diffusion Activation Enthalpies for Germanium. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2008, 92 (17), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2918842.
- Brotzmann, S.; Bracht, H. Intrinsic and Extrinsic Diffusion of Phosphorus, Arsenic, and Antimony in Germanium. J. Appl. Phys. 2008, 103 (3), 033508. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2837103.

- (26) Vanhellemont, J.; Simoen, E. On the Diffusion and Activation of N-Type Dopants in Ge. *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.* 2012, *15* (6), 642–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2012.06.014.
- (27) Cristiano, F.; Shayesteh, M.; Duffy, R.; Huet, K.; Mazzamuto, F.; Qiu, Y.; Quillec, M.; Henrichsen, H. H.; Nielsen, P. F.; Petersen, D. H.; La Magna, a.; Caruso, G.; Boninelli, S. Defect Evolution and Dopant Activation in Laser Annealed Si and Ge. *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.* 2015, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2015.09.011.
- (28) Chui, C. O.; Kulig, L.; Moran, J.; Tsai, W.; Saraswat, K. C. Germanium n -Type Shallow Junction Activation Dependences. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2005, 87 (9), 13–16. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2037861.
- (29) Chroneos, A.; Bracht, H. Diffusion of n -Type Dopants in Germanium. *Appl. Phys. Rev.* 2014, 1 (1). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4838215.
- Brotzmann, S.; Bracht, H.; Hansen, J. L.; Larsen, A. N.; Simoen, E.; Haller, E.
  E.; Christensen, J. S.; Werner, P. Diffusion and Defect Reactions between Donors, C, and Vacancies in Ge. I. Experimental Results. *Phys. Rev. B* 2008, 77 (23), 235207. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.77.235207.
- (31) Satta, a.; Janssens, T.; Clarysse, T.; Simoen, E.; Meuris, M.; Benedetti, a.; Hoflijk, I.; De Jaeger, B.; Demeurisse, C.; Vandervorst, W. P Implantation Doping of Ge: Diffusion, Activation, and Recrystallization. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B Microelectron. Nanom. Struct.* 2006, 24 (1), 494. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.2162565.
- (32) Chih-Chao Yang; Tung-Ying Hsieh; Wen-Hsien Huang; Hsing-Hsiang Wang; Chang-Hong Shen; Jia-Min Shieh. Sequentially Stacked 3DIC Technology Using Green Nanosecond Laser Crystallization and Laser Spike Annealing

Technologies. In 2015 IEEE 22nd International Symposium on the Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits; IEEE, 2015; Vol. 2015-Augus, pp 389–391. https://doi.org/10.1109/IPFA.2015.7224423.

Wang, C.; Li, C.; Wei, J.; Lin, G.; Lan, X.; Chi, X.; Lu, C.; Huang, Z.; Chen,
C.; Huang, W.; Lai, H.; Chen, S. High-Performance Ge p-n Photodiode
Achieved With Preannealing and Excimer Laser Annealing. *IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett.* 2015, 27 (14), 1485–1488.
https://doi.org/10.1109/LPT.2015.2426016.
## **Chapter 4**

## Monolayer Doping of GaN Substrates

### with an Organosilicon Precursor

#### 4.1 Abstract

Silicon is the most commonly used n-dopant for GaN due to its high solubility; in the order of  $10^{20}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>. However, if incorporated during growth of the GaN crystal, the maximum concentration achievable is approximately  $10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, above which the crystal lattice quality of the GaN starts to degrade<sup>1</sup>. Alternative *ex-situ* doping methods could lead to higher dopant concentrations as well as preventing parasitic SiN growth reactions that occur when high concentrations of Si-precursors are used during MOCVD growth.<sup>2</sup> One such *ex-situ* alternative is provided by molecular layer doping (MLD), a technique already applied on various group IV semiconductors as well as III-V materials.

This Chapter describes the MLD of GaN substrates with Si to a maximum concentration of  $2 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>. Morphological characterisation of the substrates showed that the surface quality was retained through the processing steps, with a final RMS value of 0.161 nm; active dopant dose, diffusivity and electron mobilities were also extracted, with values in line with other reports of Si-doped GaN. The focus of the experiments was a matrix of annealing temperatures and times ranging from 300 to 900 °C and 1 to 100s respectively, with the goal of achieving the highest active carrier dose and mobility.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

Gallium nitride is a III-N compound of great interest in nanoelectronics; when combined with other materials it can be used to form high electron mobility transistors (HEMT) that outperform Si for those applications that require high power and high frequency handling<sup>3</sup>. Moreover, given its high thermal stability and wide bandgap, GaN is a material well suited to high temperature applications<sup>4</sup> (see **Table 4.1**). When compared with SiC, the other alternative for high power applications, GaN has a potential cost advantage and performs better for low voltage/high power applications, *e.g.* data centres, photovoltaics, electric vehicles, and targets the higher volume and cost-sensitive market of Si metal–oxide–semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs)<sup>3</sup>.

Semiconductors		Si	GaAs	InP	SiC	GaN
Characteristic	Unit					
Bandgap	eV	1.1	1.42	1.35	3.26	3.49
Electron Mobility (300 K)	cm²/Vs	1500	8500	5400	700	1000- 2000
Critical Breakdown Field	MV/cm	0.3	0.4	0.5	3.0	3.0
Thermal Conductivity	W/cm·K	1.5	0.5	0.7	4.5	>1.5
Relative dielectric constant	Et	11.8	12.8	12.5	10.0	9.0

Table 4.1: Material characteristics for Si and the most common III-V compounds<sup>5-7</sup>

While doping *via* ion implantation is a well-established method in the semiconductor industry, it has not gained widespread use in III-V systems due to the damage induced by the high energy bombardment; these defects act as non-radiative recombination centres, thus leading to a decrease or suppression in the photoluminescence intensity and rendering the material useless.<sup>8</sup> Moreover, the high temperature anneals required for dopant activation is usually in the order of two thirds of the melting point of the material. For GaN this would mean reaching temperatures of 1500 °C or higher<sup>9</sup>, well above its nitrogen desorption threshold at 800 °C, which would lead to vacancy formation and damage to the substrate surface due to GaN decomposition<sup>10</sup>. Therefore,

doping of GaN is typically carried out during growth, both in vacuum and vapour phase epitaxy methods. The amount of dopant introduced into the material during growth can be easily controlled either by varying the precursor flux in a molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) system, or by varying the flow rate of the dopant-containing gases into a vapour phase reactor<sup>11</sup>.

The growth of GaN-based heterostructures can be achieved by different techniques, such as molecular beam epitaxy<sup>12</sup>, hydride vapor phase epitaxy<sup>13</sup> and metal-organic chemical vapour deposition (MOCVD)<sup>14</sup>. The latter is mainly used in the semiconductor industry for growing GaN due to high growth rate and low operating costs. In MOCVD, films are typically formed by heating metal organic precursors, such as trimethylgallium (TMGa) or tryethylgallium (TEGa), in the presence of ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) over a substrate at a temperature ~1000 °C. N<sub>2</sub> or H<sub>2</sub> are also often used as carrier gases in the growth process (see **Figure 4.1**).<sup>15</sup>



**Figure 4.1**: Schematic of GaN growth by MOCVD: (1) bulk transport of reactant into the process volume; (2) gaseous diffusion of reactant to the surface; (3) adsorption of reactant on the surface; (4) surface reaction; (5) crystal lattice incorporation; (6)

reaction by-product desorption; (7) gaseous transport of by-products out of the process area.<sup>16</sup>

N-doping of GaN can be achieved using group IV atoms (such as C, Si and Ge), if incorporated as substitutions for Ga, or using group VI atoms (such as O, S and Se) when they substitute for nitrogen. Si is the most commonly used n-dopant due to its high solubility in GaN (in the order of 10<sup>20</sup> at/cm<sup>3</sup> for the growth temperatures used) and relative ease of incorporation into the crystal lattice<sup>11</sup>. For MOCVD systems the gases normally used are silane<sup>1</sup> (SiH<sub>4</sub>) or disilane<sup>17</sup> (Si<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>). While Si can be incorporated as a dopant up to carrier concentrations of about 10<sup>19</sup> at/cm<sup>3 1</sup>, at higher dopant values the quality of GaN starts to degrade very quickly due to the build-up of lattice strain<sup>18</sup>. An excess concentration of Si atoms pin dislocations, preventing them from climbing and thus releasing the stress that occurs during growth, thereby rendering *in-situ* high concentration Si incorporation virtually impossible.<sup>19</sup>

An alternative *ex-situ* doping technique could therefore potentially achieve higher dopant concentrations as opposed to the current *in-situ* dopant incorporation methods described above; moreover it might also prevent parasitic reactions that occur when high concentrations of Si-precursors are used during MOCVD growth.<sup>2</sup> *Ex-situ* doping of III-V materials with Si-based in-diffusion doping could also be useful for nanostructures that require selective area doping; it has already been shown that through UV photopatterning it is possible to functionalise a confined area of a surface, thus allowing for potential precise control of the area to dope<sup>20</sup>. As already described in the Chapters 1 and 3, MLD has already been successfully applied to a large variety of substrates and architectures, from group IV semiconductors like Si and Ge<sup>21–23</sup> to III-V compounds such as InGaAs<sup>24,25</sup>, InAs<sup>26</sup> and InP<sup>27</sup>. The MLD process is

extremely flexible as all reaction parameters, such as molecule choice, surface preparation and capping layer, can be finely tuned to optimise the final dopant concentration and diffusion.

The data presented in this Chapter focus on the application of Si doping of GaN by MLD. **Figure 4.2** shows the different process steps employed to carry out the cleaning, functionalisation and doping of the GaN substrate using MLD. A more detailed description of the method employed can be found in the Chapter 2 Section 2.4.2. A matrix of experiments was undertaken to identify optimal annealing conditions as to the best of my knowledge, Si-MLD has never been carried out on MOCVD grown GaN outside of a reactor.



**Figure 4.2:** Schematic of the MLD procedure carried out in this study: (1) as received surface is cleaned with Piranha solution leaving (2) OH- terminated GaN, which is then sonicated in the APTES solution to form (3) a self-assembled monolayer (SAM). The sample is the annealed to drive in the Si in the GaN (4).

#### 4.3 Results and Discussion

#### **4.3.1 Surface functionalisation**

The functionalisation reaction was carried out following the procedure outlined in the experimental section (see also **Figure 4.2** and **Chapter 2, Section 2.4**)<sup>28</sup>. The surface quality of the GaN films was analysed by atomic force microscopy (AFM) before and after functionalisation. When dealing with processes that can potentially be transferred to nanoscale devices, a root mean square (RMS) roughness value of < 1 nm is deemed acceptable at the end of the processing steps. **Figure 4.3** shows AFM images at different stages in the reaction process: (a) as received, (b) after cleaning with Piranha solution, (c) functionalisation with (3-aminopropyl)triethoxysilane (APTES) via sonication and (d) after subsequent capping, annealing and cap removal.

Before and after Piranha clean (**Figures 4.3(a) & (b**)) it is possible to see how the surface roughness is slightly improved as the RMS value goes from 0.321 nm to 0.266 nm post clean. After the subsequent functionalisation step with APTES (**Figure 4.3** (c)) surface roughness is still maintained and some small agglomeration features start to appear in the AFM images, likely due to the hydrolysation and condensation of the APTES as the reaction is being carried out in a non-inert environment. The final capping, anneal and cap strip steps (**Figure 4.3** (d)) have no impact on the quality of the surface, with a final RMS value of 0.161 nm, well below the 1 nm upper limit mentioned before.



**Figure 4.3**: AFM imaging of a GaN film (a) as-received, (b) after Piranha clean (c) after APTES functionalisation with sonication and (d) after subsequent capping, annealing and cap removal. The surface integrity is maintained even after high temperature annealing if cap is used, preventing outgassing and degradation of the surface. The RMS of each AFM image is also indicated.

The capping layer and annealing temperatures were also the object of a small preliminary study to optimise the process, see **Table 4.2**.

*Table 4.2*: Matrix table of the annealing screening experiments. For each condition the RMS value from AFM is indicated.

Temperature/Cap	50 nm Sputtered	No Cap
	SiO <sub>2</sub>	
700 °C	0.154 nm	0.151 nm
900 °C	0.159 nm	0.192 nm
1100 °C	0.279 nm	0.189 nm

GaN films functionalised with APTES, with and without 50 nm sputtered silica (SiO<sub>2</sub>) caps, were annealed at temperatures of 700, 900 and 1100 °C. As also described in **Chapter 3**, a capping layer might be necessary in order to prevent dopant outgassing during the subsequent drive-in anneal step; moreover it was deemed necessary in order to preserve surface quality, as GaN starts to degrade at temperatures above 800 °C due to nitrogen desorption<sup>10</sup>. The effect of the cap was therefore checked by employing 50 nm of sputtered SiO<sub>2</sub> because the MLD studies on Ge outlined in **Chapter 3** showed that it leads to the best dopant dose being delivered. The annealing temperatures were chosen by keeping in mind the RTA thermal budget limitation of  $2/3^{rd}$  melting point of the material, *i.e.*, 2500 °C for GaN, giving a maximum operating temperature of ~1600 °C, as well as the maximum temperature limit of the tool, *i.e.*, 1100 °C; an anneal time of 10 s was employed for all samples for this first screening. At an annealing temperature of 1100 °C both capped and uncapped GaN samples showed signs of surface degradation as the RMS is increased when compared with the other

samples (**Figures 4.4** (**c**) & (**f**)). Moreover, the AFM image for the uncapped sample (**Figure 4.4** (**f**)) also shows pitting appearing due to onset of N<sub>2</sub> outgassing. While the uncapped samples started to show surface degradation starting from 900 °C (**Figure 4.4** (**e**)), the capped samples showed the lowest RMS value up to 900 °C (**Figure 4.4** (**b**)). Therefore, capping can allow for higher temperature anneals by delaying the onset of nitrogen desorption, thus broadening the range of thermal budgets that can be applied to the samples.

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) was carried out on surface functionalised GaN samples, prior to capping and/or annealing, to check for the presence of APTES bound to the surface of the films. **Figure 4.5** displays high resolution XPS survey and core level spectra for an APTES-functionalised GaN sample. **Figure 4.5(a)** shows the survey spectra from a functionalised film with the main peaks of Ga 2*p*, O 1*s*, N 1*s* and C 1*s* being highlighted. **Table 4.3** shows the percentage of the main peaks before and after the functionalisation; consistent with the functionalisation taking place, the Ga percentage decreases while the O, N and C signal increase as the surface of the GaN is covered with the APTES molecule.



**Figure 4.4**: AFM images of the GaN annealing matrix: A - C, capped with sputtered SiO<sub>2</sub>, annealed at the defined temperature and after cap strip. D - F, annealed without any cap at the defined temperatures. The RMS value increases with higher processing temperature due to onset of nitrogen desorption which can also be identified by the increased pitting in image F.

**Table 4.3**: Percentage of XPS peak area from the survey spectra of GaN as received and after cleaning and APTES functionalisation. The functionalised surface shows a drop in Ga signal, due to signal attenuation from the self-assembled monolayer, as well as an increase in O, N and C signals due to the APTES molecule present on the surface.

	Ga 2p	<b>O</b> 1s	N 1s	C 1s
As received	11.0 %	1.3 %	84.3 %	3.4 %
Post clean and functionalisation	3.3 %	22.0 %	57.5 %	17.2 %

As shown in **Figure 4.5(b)**, the Ga 3s XPS core level emission peak at 160.2 eV was analysed for GaN films before and after surface functionalisation. This peak shows a 15 % decrease in intensity after functionalisation, also in this case due to signal attenuation resulting from the APTES surface groups. Moreover, Figure 4.5(b) shows the appearance of two additional peaks in the XPS spectrum of the APTESfunctionalised GaN film which were not present in as-received samples; the peak at 153.8  $eV^{29}$  is the Si 2s peak, further proof that the silane molecule is indeed present on the surface. The peak at 168.9 eV, assigned as a S 2p peak, is likely due to sulphur remnants left on the surface of the GaN films due to the H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> cleaning; although this peak has never been shown in the GaN surface cleaning literature, it has been reported that high concentration H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> based cleans on GaN can leave sulphate residues.<sup>30</sup> Figure 4.5(c) shows XPS data from the C 1s core level peak; three different components can be identified. The first component at 284.8 eV is due to C-C signal contribution from the molecule skeleton and adventitious carbon, the second component at 286.3  $eV^{31}$  can be attributed to the C-amino features present on the molecule, whereas the last peak at 287.2  $eV^{32}$  is associated to the C-methoxysilane bond. The XPS N 1s peak shown in Figure 4.5(d) can be deconvoluted into two components; one at 397.1 eV<sup>33</sup> due to nitrogen in the GaN surface, and one at 398.6 eV<sup>34,35</sup>, due to the amino group present on the APTES molecule. At 402.8 eV a N 1s a plasmon energy loss component is present.



Figure 4.5: XPS of an APTES-functionalised GaN film showing (a) a survey spectrum of the functionalised surface with main peaks highlighted, (b) core level Ga 3s peaks as well as S 2p and Si 2s before and after functionalisation, (c) core level C 1s peaks with deconvoluted components and (d) core level N 1s peak with the deconvoluted components arising from GaN and  $NH_x$  groups of the APTES molecule.

The thickness of the organosilicon layer formed by the APTES molecules was estimated using XPS data and following a method originally defined by Cumpson<sup>36</sup>, as shown in equation 4.1:

$$\ln\left(\frac{I_0 S_0}{I_s S_s}\right) - \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{\lambda_s}\right) \frac{1}{\lambda_0 \cos \theta} - \ln 2 = \ln \sinh\left(\frac{t}{2\lambda_0 \cos \theta}\right)$$
(4.1)

where  $I_0$  and  $I_s$  represent the respective measured peak intensities of the overlayer (APTES layer) and substrate peaks in arbitrary units,  $S_0$  and  $S_s$  refer to the unitless relative sensitivity factors for the overlayer and the substrate respectively, with  $\lambda_0$  and  $\lambda_s$  referring to the attenuation lengths of electrons in the overlayer and substrate in nm.

 $\theta$  is the emission angle with respect to the surface normal. To minimise the effect of potential errors arising from surface roughness and inelastic scattering a photon emission angle of 35° was used in conjunction with a 90° take-off angle with respect to the sample normal. The peak intensity of the overlayer peak,  $I_o$ , and the peak intensity of the substrate peak, Is, were determined using CasaXPS software after automatic transmission correction. The relative sensitivity factors for the substrate peak  $S_s$  and the overlayer peak  $S_o$  were obtained from the database in the XPS instrument acquisition software and manually inputted into the data processing software in order to scale the two peaks, *i.e.* substrate and overlayer. The attenuation length of photoelectrons in the overlayer,  $\lambda_o$ , was estimated using the NIST Electron Effective Attenuation Length database<sup>37</sup> to be  $4.2 \pm 0.4$  nm for the Si 2s component. The surface was thoroughly cleaned by prolonged sonication in anhydrous solvents prior to characterisation to remove all physisorbed species prior to analysis to minimise contributions from contaminants to the overlayer thickness. The thickness of the overlayer was calculated to be  $1.1 \pm 0.2$  nm. As the length of a full APTES molecule is *ca*. 0.8 nm, it appears that there is a little more than a monolayer of the molecule on the surface. This correlates with the AFM micrographs (Figure 4.3 (c)) showing agglomeration at the surface as this would lead to an increase in the amount of silane deposited on the substrate.

#### **4.3.2 Dopant profiling**

Based on the AFM surface analysis (**Figure 4.4**) and on the capping studies carried out for Ge MLD (see **Chapter 3**), it was decided to use a capping layer to prevent any surface degradation and in order to maximise the amount of dopant delivery in the sample. Undoped GaN substrates were functionalised, capped with 100 nm of SiO<sub>2</sub>, annealed and then the cap was removed. The samples were then capped with 10 nm of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> which acts as an artificial barrier preventing sputtering of analytes during time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry (TOF-SIMS) analysis thus avoiding the common artificial increase of analyte concentration seen in the first few nanometres of a SIMS scan. Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> was chosen to prevent any Si signal overlap that might occur if a SiO<sub>2</sub> cap was going to be used. SIMS analysis of the samples was undertaken in collaboration with Dr. Jean-Paul Barnes of CEA-Leti as part of the ASCENT European Nanoelectronics Access program. For the SIMS analysis, annealing temperatures of 300, 600 and 900 °C were used with annealing times of 1 and 100s (see **Table 4.4**). Three *in-situ* Si-doped ( $N_d = 3 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>) samples were also submitted: one sample was a calibration reference for the Si signal, one sample was capped with 100 nm of SiO<sub>2</sub>, annealed at 700 °C for 1s and the cap was stripped in order to check for Si diffusion originating from the cap, and one sample was just annealed at 700 °C for 1s to see if the dopant profile would be affected by the thermal budget applied.

**Figure 4.6(a)** shows depth profiling of Si concentrations (at/cm<sup>3</sup>) obtained from SIMS analysis for the samples. Data from the first 10 nm of each spectrum has been removed, due to the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> cap. Si had diffused into all of the samples; the highest Si concentration and dose, *i.e.* the area under the SIMS curve from 0 to 150  $\mu$ m, were achieved for samples annealed at 600 °C for 1 s, with values of 4 × 10<sup>20</sup> at/cm<sup>3</sup> and 10<sup>15</sup> at/cm<sup>2</sup> respectively; the rest of the samples showed Si doses ranging from 2 × 10<sup>12</sup> at/cm<sup>2</sup> for 300 °C/1 s, up to 10<sup>13</sup> at/cm<sup>2</sup> for a 900 °C/1 s anneal. The theoretical maximum dose for a single monolayer where a silane group binds to three OH groups on the surface is *ca*. 3 × 10<sup>14</sup> at/cm<sup>2 38</sup>. As XPS data suggests that there is a little more than a single monolayer covering the surface of the GaN samples, it appears that

incomplete diffusion has occurred, with some Si possibly out-diffusing in the SiO<sub>2</sub> during the annealing step.<sup>39</sup> When compared with the chemical concentration values for the rest of the samples and considering that Hall measurement showed a dose value in line with the other samples (see **Table 4.2**), the SIMS data for this particular sample is likely an outlier. Moreover, the 300 °C/100 s sample could not be measured.

**Table 4.4:** Matrix of experiments submitted for SIMS analysis to CEA-Leti with data extracted. The surface concentration was taken at the 10 nm depth to exclude the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and the artificial dopant increase. The dose was extracted by integration of the SIMS curve from 0.1 to 150 nm, and the diffusivity was calculated following **Equation 4.2**.

	Anneal	Ammool	SIMS Surface	SIMS	D:#:4	
Sample	Temperature (°C)	Anneal Time (s)	Concentration (at/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Dose (at/cm <sup>2</sup> )	(cm <sup>2</sup> /s)	
D01	300	1	$4.0  imes 10^{18}$	$2.4 \times 10^{12}$	$2.7 \times 10^{-13}$	
D02	300	100	Sample broken			
D03	600	1	$4.2 \times 10^{20}$	$1.1 \times 10^{15}$	4.9 ×10 <sup>-12</sup>	
D04	600	100	$2.5  imes 10^{18}$	$2.5 \times 10^{12}$	$7.5  imes 10^{-15}$	
D05	900	1	$2.4 \times 10^{19}$	$1.3 \times 10^{13}$	$2.3 \times 10^{-13}$	
<b>D</b> 06	900	100	$3.4 \times 10^{18}$	$5.4 \times 10^{12}$	$2.0 \times 10^{-14}$	



*Figure 4.6:* (a) SIMS analysis of the GaN samples and (b) diffusivity plot with values extracted from the SIMS plots. The fast and slow diffusions regimes have been taken from Jakiela et al.<sup>40</sup>

Diffusion constants for Si in the GaN films were extracted from the SIMS data using **Equation 4.2**:

$$D = \left(\frac{Q_{(t)}}{2C_s}\sqrt{\pi}\right)^2 \frac{1}{t} \tag{4.2}$$

where  $Q_{(t)}$  is the calculated dose in at/cm<sup>3</sup>,  $C_s$  is the surface carrier concentration at 10 nm depth in at/cm<sup>2</sup> and *t* is the annealing time in seconds. These calculated values were then plotted against literature values, as shown in **Figure 4.6(b)**. The diffusivity values calculated, except for the outlier of the 600 °C/1s run, are dependent on the carrier concentration and therefore confirm that extrinsic diffusion of Si in GaN is occurring, further confirmed by the low diffusivity value of Si in GaN at 810 °C of  $3.5 \times 10^{-18}$  cm<sup>2</sup>/s.<sup>41</sup> The result is also in line with other MLD reports which have shown that introduced dopants have displayed diffusivity in the extrinsic regime, where the dopant concentration was above the intrinsic carrier concentration with concentration dependent diffusion coefficients<sup>21</sup>.

Moreover, the calculated diffusivity values appear to be time dependent at constant temperature, decreasing with time. This time dependency might be due to the inhibition of a "slow" diffusion mechanism when the annealing time is kept short; the "slow" mechanism is then activated when annealing for longer times, leading to an increase in the diffusion constant. Previous literature reports<sup>40</sup> suggest that the slow diffusion mechanism is driven by microscopic diffusion where Si employs Ga vacancies and fast diffusion is driven by a macroscopic mechanism in which the Si diffuses by grain boundaries or dislocations. Capping layers have also been shown<sup>40</sup> to promote slow diffusion over fast diffusion when annealing conditions are kept constant. This result suggests that for GaN where shallow doping is required, *e.g.* good contact formation, no caps and short anneals are preferred, perhaps by employing more advanced techniques such as laser annealing or flash lamp annealing. On the other hand, when deep and box-shaped profiles are required, *e.g.* for optical applications, conventional annealing such as RTA or furnace anneal should be used in conjunction with a capping layer.

**Figure 4.7** shows the SIMS Si depth-profile for the three n-doped control samples sent for calibration and to evaluate the potential effect that the annealing and SiO<sub>2</sub> cap could have on the Si signal. From the three spectra, it is clear that the doping profile is unchanged for all 3 conditions (as received, capped and annealed at 700 °C for 1s and just annealed at 700 °C for 1s) therefore the Si signal for the functionalised samples is coming from in-diffused dopants.



*Figure 4.7: SIMS analysis of the three control doped samples used to decouple the effect of the capping and the anneal on the Si levels.* 

Hall effect measurements were also performed on all samples to quantify the active dopant concentration and determine the activation efficiency of the MLD process. **Table 4.5** shows dose values extracted from the SIMS measurement, which represent the total Si concentration (at/cm<sup>3</sup>) in each sample, compared to the Hall effect measurement, which detects only the active dopants in the sample. The data show how the total activated dose for all samples was ca.  $1 \times 10^{13}$  at/cm<sup>2</sup> with a good match between the SIMS extrapolated doses and the Hall doses.

Annealing	SIMS Dose	Hall effect	Chemical	$\mu_{e}$
Temperature / °C	$(at/cm^2)$	Dose	conc. SIMS	$(cm^2/V \cdot s)$
(Time, sec)		(at/cm <sup>2</sup> )	(at/cm <sup>3</sup> )	
<b>300</b> (1s)	$2.4 \times 10^{12}$	$4.0 \times 10^{9}$	$4.0  imes 10^{18}$	34.6
600 (1 s)	$1.1  imes 10^{15}$	$8.0 \times 10^{12}$	$4.2 \times 10^{20}$	4.6
600 (100 s)	$2.5 \times 10^{12}$	$1.2 \times 10^{13}$	$2.5  imes 10^{18}$	4.7
900 (1 s)	$1.3 \times 10^{13}$	$2.0 \times 10^{13}$	$2.4 \times 10^{19}$	3.6
900 (100 s)	$5.4 \times 10^{12}$	$1.3 \times 10^{13}$	$3.4 \times 10^{18}$	4.6

 Table 4.5: Doping data extracted from SIMS and Hall effect measurements.

The mismatch between some of the results can be attributed to error arising from both set of measurements. As mentioned before, the SIMS measurement for the 600  $^{\circ}$ C/1 s sample was considered an outlier due to the diffusivity value and carrier concentration not being in line with the other samples. Moreover, as already discussed in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.10, the GaN samples used for Hall measurement did not satisfy all the conditions for optimal Hall measurements, as the area of the contacts were not at least one order of magnitude smaller than the sample area; leading to a degree of error in the resistivity and Hall effect measurements in the order of D/L, where D is the average contact diameter and L is the distance between the contacts<sup>42–44</sup>. The electron mobility  $(\mu_e)$  values of the Si-doped GaN films, calculated from Hall measurements and displayed in Table 4.5, are in good agreement with each other but are lower than the expected values for GaN<sup>45</sup>, *i.e.* between 135 cm<sup>2</sup>/V s at 300 K for a Si concentration of  $2 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> and 369 cm<sup>2</sup>/V s at 300 K for a Si concentration of  $1 \times 10^{17}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>. This difference can be explained both by the non-uniform doping profile of the MLD method, considering that the Hall effect measurement assumes a uniform profile throughout the thickness of the sample, and from scattering effects arising both from impurities being introduced by the diffusion process, *i.e.* C and O, see Figure 4.8(a). Surface states<sup>46-48</sup> which are related to dangling bonds, impurities, surface reconstruction or random stress on the surfaces of the GaN films can also influence the electron mobility data obtained. Moreover, there have been reports on the correlation between C impurities and mobility collapse in Si-doped GaN which might also explain the low mobility data obtained due to the C introduced in the film<sup>49</sup>. As already discussed, future experiments should be aimed at improving the reaction as a whole, both by using C and O free precursors as well as by employing different surface preparation techniques which could reduce the amount of surface states<sup>50</sup>.



*Figure 4.8:* (a) TOF-SIMS plot of Si, C, H and O, outlining how impurities from the dopant molecules are introduced into the sample after annealing and (b) Photoluminescence data from of Si-doped GaN samples

**Figure 4.8(b)** displays photoluminescence data collected on the Si-doped GaN samples after SIMS analysis. The data demonstrates the presence of impurities in the samples after MLD treatment due to deep level (DL) yellow emission, starting at a wavelength of around 475 nm which is absent from the as received undoped samples. The emission can be attributed to either active Si atom diffusion into the GaN films from the surface, to non-radiative centres arising from dopant clustering and more likely, diffusion of C and O into the GaN lattice which act as recombination centres

not participating in electron exchanges<sup>51,52</sup>. The SIMS data shown in **Figure 4.8(a)** also suggests that both C and O diffuse into the GaN lattice upon annealing. Therefore, the efficiency of doping GaN films with Si using this approach might be improved by employing molecules with a smaller carbon skeleton, *e.g.* trimethoxysilane, vinyltrimethoxysilane, methyltrimethoxysilane, thus reducing the total amount of carbon being deposited on the surface and inside the films. In addition, carrying out the reaction in inert environment, *e.g.* under a N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere, should help reduce the amount of O<sub>2</sub> being adsorbed into the films.

#### **4.4 Conclusions**

MLD of GaN could allow Si doping concentrations on par with those achieved with conventional *in-situ* doping methods but with the potential of preventing parasitic SiN growth which occurs in MOCVD reactors when Si process gases are utilised for doping. By doping GaN outside of a reactor, it could also be possible to prevent strain build-up in films which can happen when a high concentration of dopant is introduced during growth. Moreover, in-diffusion doping would be useful for nanostructures that require selective area doping; by employing techniques such as UV photopatterning it has already been shown that it is possible to functionalise a pre-determined area of a surface<sup>20</sup>. The data reported in this Chapter has shown that, as a proof of concept, it is possible to dope GaN films outside of a reactor by in-diffusing Si from a self-assembled monolayer on the surface. The highest Si concentration achieved was  $2 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, with optimal dopant activation and minimal impact to the surface quality. However, in-diffusion through MLD is still challenging due to the very low electron mobility likely caused by the C and O impurities that are driven in the substrate during the process. By using different dopant precursors, it could be possible to maximise the

active dopant content in the films without introducing such non-radiative impurities, thus achieving better electrical properties.

#### 4.5 Bibliography

- Nakamura, S.; Mukai, T.; Senoh, M. Si- and Ge-Doped GaN Films Grown with GaN Buffer Layers. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* **1992**, *31* (Part 1, No. 9A), 2883–2888. https://doi.org/10.1143/JJAP.31.2883.
- Li, S.; Mo, C.; Wang, L.; Xiong, C.; Peng, X.; Jiang, F.; Deng, Z.; Gong, D. The Influence of Si-Doping to the Growth Rate and Yellow Luminescence of GaN Grown by MOCVD. J. Lumin. 2001, 93 (4), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2313(01)00206-X.
- Mishra, U. K.; Parikh, P.; Yi-Feng Wu. AlGaN/GaN HEMTs-an Overview of Device Operation and Applications. *Proc. IEEE* 2002, *90* (6), 1022–1031. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2002.1021567.
- Eastman, L. F.; Mishra, U. K. The Toughest Transistor yet [GaN Transistors].
   *IEEE Spectr.* 2002, *39* (5), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1109/6.999791.
- (5) International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors http://www.itrs2.net/ (accessed Sep 25, 2017).
- Pearton, S. J.; Zolper, J. C.; Shul, R. J.; Ren, F. GaN: Processing, Defects, and Devices. J. Appl. Phys. 1999, 86 (1), 1–78. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.371145.
- (7) IOFFE Institute of Physics and Technology http://www.ioffe.ru/SVA/NSM/Semicond/ (accessed May 17, 2021).
- Majid, A.; Ahmad, N.; Khalid, N. R.; Shakil, M.; Zhu, J. Effects of Transition Metal Ions Doping on Optical and Electronic Properties of GaN. *J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Electron.* 2017, 28 (14), 10596–10602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10854-017-6834-5.
- Ronning, C.; Carlson, E. P.; Davis, R. F. Ion Implantation into Gallium Nitride.
   *Phys. Rep.* 2001, 351 (5), 349–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-

1573(00)00142-3.

- Unland, J.; Onderka, B.; Davydov, A.; Schmid-Fetzer, R. Thermodynamics and Phase Stability in the Ga–N System. J. Cryst. Growth 2003, 256 (1–2), 33–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0248(03)01352-6.
- (11) Pampili, P.; Parbrook, P. J. Doping of III-Nitride Materials. *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.* 2017, 62 (August 2016), 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2016.11.006.
- (12) Yoshida, S.; Misawa, S.; Gonda, S. Improvements on the Electrical and Luminescent Properties of Reactive Molecular Beam Epitaxially Grown GaN Films by Using AlN-coated Sapphire Substrates. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1983, 42 (5), 427–429. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.93952.
- Motoki, K.; Okahisa, T.; Matsumoto, N.; Matsushima, M.; Kimura, H.; Kasai, H.; Takemoto, K.; Uematsu, K.; Hirano, T.; Nakayama, M.; Nakahata, S.; Ueno, M.; Hara, D.; Kumagai, Y.; Koukitu, A.; Seki, H. Preparation of Large Freestanding GaN Substrates by Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy Using GaAs as a Starting Substrate. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 2001, *40* (Part 2, No. 2B), L140–L143. https://doi.org/10.1143/JJAP.40.L140.
- (14) Khan, M. A.; Skogman, R. A.; Schulze, R. G.; Gershenzon, M. Electrical Properties and Ion Implantation of Epitaxial GaN, Grown by Low Pressure Metalorganic Chemical Vapor Deposition. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1983**, *42* (5), 430– 432. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.93953.
- (15) Amano, H.; Sawaki, N.; Akasaki, I.; Toyoda, Y. Metalorganic Vapor Phase Epitaxial Growth of a High Quality GaN Film Using an AlN Buffer Layer. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1986**, *48* (5), 353–355. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.96549.
- (16) Sensor Electronic Technology Inc. http://www.s-et.com/en/technology/chip/

(accessed May 16, 2021).

- (17) Sheu, J. K.; Chi, G. C. The Doping Process and Dopant Characteristics of GaN.
   J. Phys. Condens. Matter 2002, 14 (22), 201. https://doi.org/10.1088/0953-8984/14/22/201.
- (18) Romano, L. T.; Van de Walle, C. G.; Ager, J. W.; Götz, W.; Kern, R. S. Effect of Si Doping on Strain, Cracking, and Microstructure in GaN Thin Films Grown by Metalorganic Chemical Vapor Deposition. *J. Appl. Phys.* 2000, *87* (11), 7745–7752. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.373529.
- Moram, M. A.; Kappers, M. J.; Massabuau, F.; Oliver, R. A.; Humphreys, C. J. The Effects of Si Doping on Dislocation Movement and Tensile Stress in GaN Films. J. Appl. Phys. 2011, 109 (7), 073509. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3553841.
- Howgate, J.; Schoell, S. J.; Hoeb, M.; Steins, W.; Baur, B.; Hertrich, S.; Nickel, B.; Sharp, I. D.; Stutzmann, M.; Eickhoff, M. Photocatalytic Cleavage of Self-Assembled Organic Monolayers by UV-Induced Charge Transfer from GaN Substrates. *Adv. Mater.* 2010, 22 (24), 2632–2636. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200903756.
- (21) O'Connell, J.; Verni, G. A.; Gangnaik, A.; Shayesteh, M.; Long, B.; Georgiev, Y. M.; Petkov, N.; McGlacken, G. P.; Morris, M. A.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D. Organo-Arsenic Molecular Layers on Silicon for High-Density Doping. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* 2015, 7 (28), 15514–15521. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b03768.
- (22) Long, B.; Alessio Verni, G.; O'Connell, J.; Holmes, J.; Shayesteh, M.;
  O'Connell, D.; Duffy, R. Molecular Layer Doping: Non-Destructive Doping of Silicon and Germanium. In 2014 20th International Conference on Ion Implantation Technology (IIT); IEEE: Portland, 2014; pp 1–4.

https://doi.org/10.1109/IIT.2014.6939995.

- (23) Long, B.; Alessio Verni, G.; O'Connell, J.; Shayesteh, M.; Gangnaik, A.; Georgiev, Y. M.; Carolan, P.; O'Connell, D.; Kuhn, K. J.; Clendenning, S. B.; Nagle, R.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D. Doping Top-down e-Beam Fabricated Germanium Nanowires Using Molecular Monolayers. *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.* 2017, 62 (October), 196–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2016.10.038.
- (24) Loh, W.-Y.; Wang, W.-E.; Hill, R. J. W.; Barnett, J.; Yum, J. H.; Lysagth, P.; Price, J.; Hung, P. Y.; Kirsch, P. D.; Jammy, R. Sub-10nm Junction in InGaAs with Sulfur Mono-Layer Doping. In 2013 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Application (VLSI-TSA); IEEE, 2013; pp 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1109/VLSI-TSA.2013.6545610.
- (25) O'Connell, J.; Napolitani, E.; Impellizzeri, G.; Glynn, C.; McGlacken, G. P.;
  O'Dwyer, C.; Duffy, R.; Holmes, J. D. Liquid-Phase Monolayer Doping of InGaAs with Si-, S-, and Sn-Containing Organic Molecular Layers. ACS Omega 2017, 2 (5), 1750–1759. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.7b00204.
- Ho, J. C.; Ford, A. C.; Chueh, Y. L.; Leu, P. W.; Ergen, O.; Takei, K.; Smith, G.; Majhi, P.; Bennett, J.; Javey, A. Nanoscale Doping of InAs via Sulfur Monolayers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2009, 95 (7), 2–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3205113.
- (27) Cho, K.; Ruebusch, D. J.; Lee, M. H.; Moon, J. H.; Ford, A. C.; Kapadia, R.; Takei, K.; Ergen, O.; Javey, A. Molecular Monolayers for Conformal, Nanoscale Doping of InP Nanopillar Photovoltaics. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2011, 98 (20), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3585138.
- (28) Baur, B.; Steinhoff, G.; Hernando, J.; Purrucker, O.; Tanaka, M.; Nickel, B.;

Stutzmann, M.; Eickhoff, M. Chemical Functionalization of GaN and AlN Surfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2005**, 87 (26), 263901. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2150280.

- (29) Iimura, K.; Suzuki, N.; Kato, T. Studies on Spread Monolayers and LB Films of Long-Chain Alkylchlorosilanes by Brewster Angle Microscopy and X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* 1996, *69* (5), 1201–1211. https://doi.org/10.1246/bcsj.69.1201.
- (30) King, S. W.; Barnak, J. P.; Bremser, M. D.; Tracy, K. M.; Ronning, C.; Davis,
  R. F.; Nemanich, R. J. Cleaning of AlN and GaN Surfaces. *J. Appl. Phys.* 1998, 84 (9), 5248–5260. https://doi.org/doi:10.1063/1.368814.
- (31) Sugama, T.; Kukacka, L. E.; Carciello, N.; Hocker, N. J. Study of Interactions at Water-Soluble Polymer/Ca(OH)2 or Gibbsite Interfaces by XPS. *Cem. Concr. Res.* 1989, 19 (6), 857–867. https://doi.org/10.1016/0008-8846(89)90098-7.
- (32) Laoharojanaphand, P.; Lin, T. J.; Stoffer, J. O. Glow Discharge Polymerization of Reactive Functional Silanes on Poly(Methyl Methacrylate). *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* 1990, *40* (34), 369–384. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.1990.070400306.
- (33) Carin, R.; Deville, J. P.; Werckmann, J. An XPS Study of GaN Thin Films on GaAs. Surf. Interface Anal. 1990, 16 (1–12), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/sia.740160116.
- (34) Lindberg, B.; Maripuu, R.; Siegbahn, K.; Larsson, R.; Gölander, C.-G.; Eriksson, J. . ESCA Studies of Heparinized and Related Surfaces. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1983, 95 (2), 308–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9797(83)90190-X.
- (35) Bierbaum, K.; Kinzler, M.; Woell, C.; Grunze, M.; Haehner, G.; Heid, S.;

Effenberger, F. A Near Edge X-Ray Absorption Fine Structure Spectroscopy and X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy Study of the Film Properties of Self-Assembled Monolayers of Organosilanes on Oxidized Si(100). *Langmuir* **1995**, *11* (2), 512–518. https://doi.org/10.1021/la00002a025.

- (36) Cumpson, P. J.; Zalm, P. C. Thickogram: A Method for Easy Film Thickness Measurement in XPS. *Surf. Interface Anal.* 2000, 29 (6), 403–406. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9918(200006)29:6<403::AID-SIA884>3.0.CO;2-8.
- (37) Powell, C. J.; Jablonski, A. *Electron Effective-Attenuation-Length Database -Version 1.3*; National Institute of Standards and Technology: Gaithersburg, MD, 2011.
- (38) Bayer, M.; Uhl, C.; Vogl, P. Theoretical Study of Electrolyte Gate AlGaN/GaN
  Field Effect Transistors. J. Appl. Phys. 2005, 97 (3), 033703.
  https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1847730.
- (39) Ostermaier, C.; Ahn, S. II; Potzger, K.; Helm, M.; Kuzmik, J.; Pogany, D.; Strasser, G.; Lee, J. H.; Hahm, S. H.; Lee, J. H. Study of Si Implantation into Mg-Doped GaN for MOSFETs. *Phys. Status Solidi Curr. Top. Solid State Phys.* 2010, 7 (7–8), 1964–1966. https://doi.org/10.1002/pssc.200983534.
- (40) Jakiela, R.; Barcz, A.; Dumiszewska, E.; Jagoda, A. Si Diffusion in Epitaxial GaN. *Phys. Status Solidi Curr. Top. Solid State Phys.* 2006, *3* (6), 1416–1419. https://doi.org/10.1002/pssc.200565112.
- (41) Munkholm, A.; Stephenson, G. B.; Eastman, J. A.; Auciello, O.; Murty, M. V. R.; Thompson, C.; Fini, P.; Speck, J. S.; DenBaars, S. P. In Situ Studies of the Effect of Silicon on GaN Growth Modes. *J. Cryst. Growth* 2000, *221* (1–4), 98–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0248(00)00656-4.

- (42) Van Der Pauw, L. J. A METHOD OF MEASURING THE RESISTIVITY AND HALL EFFECT COEFFICIENT OF LAMELLAE OF ARBITRARY SHAPE. *Philips Res. Reports* 1958, 20, 220–224.
- (43) Van Der Pauw, L. J. A METHOD OF MEASURING SPECIFIC RESISTIVITY AND HALL EFFECT OF DISCS OF ARBITRARY SHAPE. *Philips Res. Reports* 1958, 13, 1–9.
- (44) Webster, J. G.; Eren, H. Measurement, Instrumentation, and Sensors Handbook, 2nd ed.; CRC Press, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315217109.
- (45) Götz, W.; Johnson, N. M.; Chen, C.; Liu, H.; Kuo, C.; Imler, W. Activation Energies of Si Donors in GaN. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1996**, *68* (22), 3144–3146. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.115805.
- (46) Bermudez, V. M. Study of Oxygen Chemisorption on the GaN(0001)-(1×1)
  Surface. J. Appl. Phys. 1996, 80 (2), 1190–1200.
  https://doi.org/10.1063/1.362924.
- (47) Koley, G.; Spencer, M. G. Surface Potential Measurements on GaN and AlGaN/GaN Heterostructures by Scanning Kelvin Probe Microscopy. J. Appl. Phys. 2001, 90 (1), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1371941.
- (48) Wu, C. I.; Kahn, A.; Taskar, N.; Dorman, D.; Gallagher, D. GaN (0001)-(1×1)
  Surfaces: Composition and Electronic Properties. *J. Appl. Phys.* 1998, *83* (8),
  4249–4252. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.367182.
- (49) Kaess, F.; Mita, S.; Xie, J.; Reddy, P.; Klump, A.; Hernandez-Balderrama, L.
  H.; Washiyama, S.; Franke, A.; Kirste, R.; Hoffmann, A.; Collazo, R.; Sitar, Z.
  Correlation between Mobility Collapse and Carbon Impurities in Si-Doped
  GaN Grown by Low Pressure Metalorganic Chemical Vapor Deposition. J.
  Appl. Phys. 2016, 120 (10), 105701. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4962017.

- (50) Winnerl, A.; Garrido, J. A.; Stutzmann, M. GaN Surface States Investigated by Electrochemical Studies. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2017, *110* (10). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4977947.
- (51) Armstrong, A.; Arehart, A. R.; Moran, B.; DenBaars, S. P.; Mishra, U. K.;
  Speck, J. S.; Ringel, S. A. Impact of Carbon on Trap States in n -Type GaN
  Grown by Metalorganic Chemical Vapor Deposition. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2004, 84 (3), 374–376. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1643540.
- (52) Yoo, Y. Z.; Choi, J. S.; Kim, K. J.; Woo, G. J.; Park, B. M. Direct Evidence of Carrier Compensation Induced by Auto-Doped Oxygen in n-GaN. J. *Electrochem. Soc.* 2012, 159 (6), J209. https://doi.org/10.1149/2.060206jes.

## **Chapter 5**

# Oxide Removal and Stabilisation of Bismuth Thin Films Through Chemically Bound Thiol Layers

Some of the data in this Chapter has been published as part of peer reviewed articles in *RSC Advances*<sup>1</sup> and *Microelectronics Engineering*.<sup>2</sup> My contribution to the *RSC Advances* paper was sample preparation and functionalisation, data collection and analysis and the paper drafting. Thin films of Bi were supplied by the Jülich Research Centre, in Jülich, Germany.

**Alessio Verni, G.**; Long, B. Gity, F.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.; Greer, J.; Holmes, J. D., 'Oxide removal and stabilization of bismuth thin films through chemically bound thiol layers', *RSC Adv.*, **2018**, *8* (58), 33368-33373.

Gity, F.; Ansari, L.; König, C.; Alessio Verni, G.; Holmes, J. D.; Long, B.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.; Greer, J. C., 'Metal-semimetal Schottky diode relying on quantum confinement', *Microelec. Eng.*, **2018**, *195*, 21-25.

#### **5.1 Abstract**

Semiconductor surface passivation and stabilisation is of paramount importance as it allows for processing under ambient conditions, thus simplifying the fabrication flow and ultimately lowering the cost of device manufacture. Additionally, a common problem in semiconductor processing is unplanned downtime, which can lead to oxidation of non-passivated semiconductor and metallic surfaces. Extensive surface passivation methods have been developed over the past decade for the main semiconductors used in industry, *i.e.* Si, Ge, III-Vs, but as alternative materials such as Bi (a semimetal) are being explored for future applications, new surface stabilisation chemistries are required. This Chapter describes the surface passivation of bismuth thin films, grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE), using an ambient wet chemistry method. Alkanethiol molecules were used both to dissolve bismuth oxides from the surface of Bi thin films, through a catalytic reaction, and subsequently passivate these 'cleaned' surfaces. The organic thiol layer formed on the surface of the Bi films showed resistance to complete reoxidation for up to 10 days. Although complete removal of bismuth oxide was not possible, due to the high reactivity of the Bi surface, the data reported highlights the potential use of organic molecules in the passivation of Bi thin films.

#### **5.2 Introduction**

Bulk Bi has always been a material of interest, due to its extremely high electron mobility, low effective mass and high anisotropy in the Fermi level, which leads to high magnetoresistance<sup>3–5</sup>. Moreover, Bi is a good example of a material where differences exist between its surface and bulk properties. In particular, the surface of Bi has more metallic characteristics compared to its bulk, due to the existence of

electronic surface states which cross the Fermi level<sup>6</sup>. As a semimetal, Bi lies between a semiconductor and a metal; a small band-gap of 13.6 meV at 0 K exists between the L-point valence and conduction bands like in a semiconductor<sup>7</sup>. On the other hand, a small indirect overlap of the T-point valence band and the L-point conduction bands (38 and 98 meV at 2 and 300 K, respectively)<sup>7</sup> make bulk Bi a semimetal (**Figure 5.1**).



*Figure 5.1: Bulk band structure of Bi from tight-binding (green) and first-principle (red) calculations.*<sup>8</sup>

When the surface of Bi is metallic, it acts a pseudo-two-dimensional metal deposited on a semiconductor, *i.e.* bulk Bi<sup>8</sup>. The properties of bulk Bi are also radically altered by quantum size effects; quantum mechanics dictates that when particles with an effective de Broglie wavelength of  $\lambda_B$  are confined to structures with dimensions smaller or comparable to  $\lambda_B$ , interference effects and quantised states arise<sup>9</sup>. By achieving quantum confinement in nanoscale semimetals, such as Bi, it is possible to

get a semimetal-to-semiconductor transition as the physical size of the nanostructure becomes comparable to the de Broglie wavelengths of electrons and/or holes. Given the low Fermi energy of Bi and the small effective mass of its carriers  $(0.003 m_e)^{10}$ , the de Broglie wavelength in Bi is approximately 12 nm, which means that quantum confinement effects can potentially be observed for thin films or nanowire structures<sup>8,11-14</sup>. This form of band gap engineering can be exploited to form a transistor using a single element, in what is defined as a confinement modulated gap transistor (CMGT)<sup>15</sup>. In a CMGT, the semiconducting channel is formed by a nanowire or a quasi-two dimensional region which is placed between the bulk semimetallic source and drain regions. By varying the cross section of the nanowire (or the thickness of the two dimensional region) it is possible to modulate the energy gap of the transistor, thus eliminating the need to dope the nanostructure, and use a single element to fabricate a transistor. Calculations by Ansari et al.<sup>16</sup> have shown that a Schottky junction can indeed be formed in a semimetal nanowire, e.g. Bi and Gity et al.<sup>17</sup> have then proceeded to fabricate a working hetero-dimensional rectifier consisting of a three dimensional (3D) semimetallic region abutting a thinner quasitwo dimensional (2D) semiconducting region, without the need to dope the structure to achieve near ideal diode behaviour.

However, the creation of a CMGT with Bi requires the formation of a metal-semimetal junction under vacuum, via a reactive ion etch step to prevent surface reoxidation. Gity *et al.*<sup>2</sup> showed in subsequent work that bismuth oxides form on Bi thin films upon contact with air. To retain its semiconducting behaviour, the research team had to strip away the oxide via Ar sputtering before proceeding to *in-vacuo* metallisation. An *in-situ* passivation cap would therefore be beneficial for such processing to protect the Bi surface from oxidising, allowing sample handling in air. However, the precursors used
during the capping process must be inert towards Bi, preventing oxidation but with enough etch contrast to Bi for easy removal if required.

The oxidation of bismuth thin films was first reported by Hapase *et al.*<sup>18</sup> as far back as 1967. Oxidation of Bi proceeds by diffusion of Bi ions from the bulk of the substrate through the oxide film <sup>19</sup>, via a Wagner mechanism (**Figure 5.2**).



**Figure 5.2:** Schematic of the Wagner diffusion mechanism of oxide formation; the oxide forms at the surface thanks to metal ions  $(M^+)$  diffusing from the metal bulk, through the oxide, all the way to the oxide-gas interface.

Rather than oxygen diffusing to the metal-oxide interface and controlling oxide growth rate (such as in the case for  $SiO_2$  growth on Si), the oxidation rate of a Wagnertype mechanism is determined by the ion transport from the metal-oxide interface to the oxide-gas interface, under the combined effects of concentration gradients and electric fields. The growth kinetics in most cases are controlled by the diffusive properties of the oxide.<sup>20</sup> To further support this, studies by Komorita *et al.*<sup>21</sup> correlated the oxide thickness on the surface of Bi films, *X*, to Bi diffusion as shown in **Equation 5.1**:

$$X = \left[\frac{(c_{Bi}^S - c_{Bi}^0)}{N_0 \rho} \cdot MDt\right]^{1/2}$$
(5.1)

Where  $C_{Bi}^{S}$  is the concentration of Bi at the Bi/Bi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> interface,  $C_{Bi}^{0}$  is the concentration of Bi near the surface of Bi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>,  $N_{0}$  is Avogadro's number,  $\rho$  is the density of Bi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, M is the molecular weight of Bi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, D is the diffusion coefficient of Bi and t is the time. The authors showed that first a metastable cubic crystal phase of the oxide forms on the surface, which then slowly evolves to a more stable phase either when heat is applied or over time<sup>21</sup>. In 1990 Puckrin *et al.*<sup>22</sup> compared the oxidation of bulk Bi and thin films using different spectroscopy techniques. In both cases, BiO was the first oxide to form on the surface of the samples, with a total thickness of roughly 8 monolayers (*ca.* 2 nm). Further exposure to air oxidation lead to the formation of Bi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, which then relates back with the studies of Hapase<sup>18</sup> and Komorita<sup>21</sup> who showed that B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> is the thermodynamically stable phase<sup>23</sup>. Despite these results which focused on bulk films, the oxidation behaviour of Bi thin films has not been studied extensively.

This Chapter describes oxide removal and subsequent passivation of Bi thin films by thiol molecules. While complete removal of the surface oxide was not achieved, due to the high surface reactivity of Bi towards atmospheric oxygen, data reveals that oxide removal is possible outside a vacuum. With further optimisation, the potential exists to apply this method developed to larger scale processing.

#### **5.3 Results and Discussion**

**Figure 5.3** shows XPS scans of the Bi *4f* core level peaks for Bi films as received, after annealing the film at 180 °C for 3 hr, after treatment with 100 mM solution of 1-dodecanethiol and after combined anneal and subsequent thiol treatment without air exposure. The peaks at 156.5 and 161.8 eV are from Bi metal (*4f* 7/2 and 5/2 components respectively)<sup>24</sup>, whereas the peaks at 158.6 and 163.4 eV<sup>25</sup> are from the Bi-X interactions (*4f* 7/2 and 5/2 components respectively); where X is a heteroatom (usually O). The XPS shows how thermal treatment by itself does not lead to any oxide reduction, as the two BiO<sub>x</sub> components are not reduced. On the other hand, the thiol only treatment leads to a partial reduction in the oxygen content, as the metallic Bi peak increases in intensity. The combination of anneal and the thiol treatment without an air break in between, allows for a more dramatic reduction in the BiO<sub>x</sub> component. The thermal treatment is likely removing any moisture adsorbed onto the surface, thus allowing for a more efficient reaction of the thiols with the substrate.



**Figure 5.3:** Overlaid Bi 4f core level XPS spectra of as received Bi and after annealing and treatment with 1-dodecanethiol solution. Graphs have been normalised to the Bi  $4f_{7/2}$  peak of the as-received sample to better show the oxide reduction effect.

**Figure 5.4** shows XPS scans of the Bi *4f* core level peaks for Bi films before and after reaction with different concentrations of 1-dodecanethiol solutions. **Table 5.1** shows the relative percentages of the peak areas of Bi metal and Bi-X for each of the *4f* components. Treating the Bi films with thiols at a concentration of 1 mM did not significantly alter the intensities of the Bi-X peak considerably, as shown in **Figure 5.4** and **Table 5.1**. The 10 and 100 mM treatments, on the other hand, were clearly progressively more effective in increasing the intensity of the Bi metal component when compared to the as-received sample.



**Figure 5.4:** Overlaid Bi 4f core level XPS spectra after reaction with 1-dodecanethiol solutions at different concentrations. Graphs have been normalised to the Bi  $4f_{7/2}$  peak of the as-received sample to better show the oxide reduction effect.

**Table 5.1**: Percentages of XPS peak areas for elemental Bi and Bi-X for each Bi 4f core level component acquired on as-received and thiol-treated Bi thin films as well as as-received and thiol-treated Bi powder.

Sample	Bi 4f5/2	Bi 4f <sub>7/2</sub>	BiX 4f5/2	BiX 4f7/2
	161.8 eV	156.5 eV	163.4 eV	158.6 eV
Wafer as rec.	23.5		76.5	
Wafer + 1 mM thiol solution	28.0		72.0	
Wafer + 10 mM thiol solution	59.1		40.9	
Wafer + 100 mM thiol solution	64.9		35.1	
Wafer + 100 mM thiol + air exp.	57.5		42.5	
Powder as rec.	23.5		76.5	
Powder + 100 mM	45.6		54.4	

The XPS shoulder peaks at the peaks at 158.6 and 163.4 eV, while usually being associated with the Bi-O component of  $Bi_2O_3$ , can also be associated with a Bi-S component; in order to decouple the two components, we can compare the thickness of the total overlayer (oxide + thiol) and the thickness of just the oxide by following the method originally defined by Cumpson<sup>26</sup>, see **Equation 5.2**. As the method cannot be used for more than one overlayer and to directly compare the thickness calculations, the overlayer was approximated as just the oxide  $Bi_2O_3$ ,

$$\ln\left(\frac{I_0 S_0}{I_s S_s}\right) - \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{\lambda_s}\right) \frac{1}{\lambda_0 \cos \theta} - \ln 2 = \ln \sinh\left(\frac{t}{2\lambda_0 \cos \theta}\right)$$
(5.2)

where  $I_0$  and  $I_s$  represent the respective measured peak intensities of the overlayer and substrate peaks,  $S_0$  and  $S_s$  refer to the relative sensitivity factors for the overlayer and the substrate respectively, with  $\lambda_o$  and  $\lambda_s$  referring to the attenuation lengths of electrons in the overlayer and substrate.  $\theta$  is the emission angle with respect to the surface normal. To minimise the effect of potential errors arising from surface roughness and inelastic scattering a photon emission angle of 35° was used in conjunction with a  $90^{\circ}$  take-off angle with respect to the sample normal. The peak intensity of the overlayer peak,  $I_o$ , and the peak intensity of the substrate peak,  $I_s$ , were determined using CasaXPS software after a transmission correction. The relative sensitivity factors for the substrate peak  $S_s$  and the overlayer peak  $S_o$  were obtained from the database in the XPS instrument acquisition software and manually inputted into the data processing software to remove instrumental factors which may affect quantification. The method requires for the binding energy difference between the substrate and the overlayer peaks to be as little as possible. To calculate the thickness of the total overlayer (oxide+thiol), the Bi-X  $4f_{7/2}$  shoulder at 158.6 eV was used as the overlayer peak and the Bi  $4f_{7/2}$  peak at 156.5 eV as the substrate peak; to calculate

the thickness of the oxide the O *1s* Bi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> peak at 530.3 eV was used as the overlayer peak and the Bi  $4d_{5/2}$  peak at 440.4 eV as the substrate peak. The attenuation length of photoelectrons in the overlayer,  $\lambda_o$ , was estimated using the NIST Electron Effective Attenuation Length database<sup>27</sup> to be 2.1±0.2 nm for the Bi *4f* component, and 1.7±0.2 nm for the Bi  $4d_{5/2}$  component. The surface was thoroughly cleaned by prolonged sonication in anhydrous solvents prior to characterisation to remove all physisorbed species prior to analysis; to minimise contributions from contaminants to the overlayer thickness. The thickness of the total overlayer was found to be 0.95±0.10 nm whereas the thickness of the oxide is 0.43±0.05 nm. This discrepancy in thickness is likely due to S also bound to surface Bi atoms, thus leading to a higher intensity Bi *4f* shoulder peak, *i.e.* Bi-S and Bi-O. Moreover, TEM imaging of the as-received Bi films (see **Figure 5.5**) shows oxide layers of between 1.5 – 2 nm; therefore, oxide removal takes place as there has been a considerable reduction in the total oxide thickness.



*Figure 5.5: High resolution TEM image of an MBE-grown Bi thin film showing the native Bi oxide*).<sup>2</sup>

Thiol-functionalised Bi thin films were left in air for up to 10 days and analysed by XPS to determine the extent of reoxidation with time. **Figure 5.6(a)** shows a comparison of the Bi *4f* core level peaks of the 100 mM functionalised samples measured after 0 hr, 1 hr, 2 days and 10 days of air exposure. XPS analysis showed that complete reoxidation of the functionalised Bi films did not occur; the small increase in the peaks at 158.6 and 163.4 eV<sup>25</sup> (Bi-X *4f* 7/2 and 5/2 components respectively) is likely due to partial oxidation of the exposed surface to wafer, due to non-continuity of the layer as shown by AFM (**Figure 5.7(c)**). Post functionalisation (**Figure 5.7(c)**) it is possible to see an increase in the RMS of the samples (0.79 nm to 2.30 nm) and the surface topography shows that the film is not fully closed and leaves some small areas of the underlying surface exposed to reoxidation.



**Figure 5.6:** (a) XPS Bi 4f core level spectra from thiol-functionalised Bi thin films before and after exposure to air. Spectra have been normalised to the Bi 4f<sub>7/2</sub> peak of the sample after reaction to better outline the reoxidation process. (b) XPS O 1s core level spectra taken from thiol-functionalised Bi films before and after reoxidation with main component peaks being highlighted.



**Figure 5.7:** AFM images and RMS roughness values of (a) as received Bi film on Si substrates, (b) Bi films after annealing at 180 °C for 1 hr, (c) annealed Bi films after functionalisation with 1-dodecanethiol. Note in image (c) the non-continuity of the film which causes some areas of the wafer to reoxidise.

As further proof, **Figure 5.6(b)** shows XPS O *1s* spectra of thiol-functionalised Bi thin films before and after exposure to air. The surface  $Bi_2O_3$  peak at 530.3 eV<sup>28</sup> increases in intensity after air exposure, further proof that partial surface reoxidation does occur. This increase is accompanied by a general decrease in the intensity of two peaks at 532.6 eV<sup>29,30</sup> and 534.7 eV<sup>31</sup> belonging to O-H/S-O and H<sub>2</sub>O respectively; surface hydroxyl groups arise from H-termination of the surface oxide, sulphoxide groups from oxidation of the surface-bound and adsorbed thiol groups, and the water from adsorption on the layer of the reaction by-product due to hydrophilicity of the outer facing thiol group.<sup>32,33</sup>

**Figure 5.8(a)** shows an ATR-FTIR scan of the Bi wafer surface before and after the functionalisation process. The solvent-cleaned as-received Bi thin film wafer presents vibrations only due to adventitious carbon adsorbed on the surface. After functionalisation and air exposure, multiple vibrations were observed at 2993 and 2909 cm<sup>-1</sup>, arising from C-H and vibrations from the aliphatic carbon chains of the thiol molecules. In the fingerprint region between 1500 - 750 cm<sup>-1</sup> there are the two peaks for asymmetric stretching of SO<sub>2</sub> at 1367 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1174 cm<sup>-1</sup> and one peak for the symmetric stretching at 1083 cm<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>34</sup> This data suggests that the outer facing thiols

from the second adsorbed layer, due to the oxidative environment created by the  $Bi_2O_3/Bi$  pair,<sup>35,36</sup> are readily oxidised to their sulphonic acid equivalents (see **Figure 5.8(b)**). It has already been shown that surface bound thiols progressively oxidise to sulphonic acids in the presence of strong oxidative environments.<sup>37,38</sup> The Bi(III) catalyses the formation of a disulphide bond between two 1-dodecanethiol molecules, similarly to what has already been observed for copper<sup>39</sup> with water as a by-product. As the sample/solution system is kept under N<sub>2</sub>, the oxide layer cannot form again and is consumed.<sup>35</sup>



**Figure 5.8:** (a) IR spectra of the surface of a Bi thin film before and after surface functionalisation and (b) schematic of a functionalised Bi surface after exposure to air.

Similar "bilayer" structures formed with long alkyl chain molecules can be easily formed both on nanoparticles<sup>40,41</sup> and on 2-D films<sup>33,42</sup> when using a polar solvent. Moreover, a previous study on silver colloidal nanoparticles<sup>43</sup> has shown that an excess of precursor molecules can lead to bilayer structures which in turn lead to an increase in the air stability of films. In a similar fashion, Cu films and powders functionalised with excess thiols, leads to multilayer formation of self-assembled copper thiolate layers.<sup>39</sup> The formation of a thiol bilayer structure on the Bi thin films is further corroborated by XPS thickness measurements which have quantified a surface carbon layer thickness of  $4.3 \pm 0.5$  nm, which equates to about 2.7 layers of 1dodecanethiol. This bilayer configuration delays the surface oxidation of the Bi films in air. In contrast, an oxide-free Bi metal surface obtained by reactive ion etching (RIE), would completely reoxidise in air in less than 2 min.

Oxide removal and passivation of the Bi films with thiols likely proceeds due to a sulphur oxidation reaction catalysed by surface  $Bi_2O_3$ . Bi(III) catalyses the formation of a disulphide bond between two 1-dodecanethiol molecules and, as the sample/solution system is kept under N<sub>2</sub>, the oxide layer cannot form again and is consumed<sup>35</sup>. Once the bare Bi surface is exposed, the thiol passivates the surface thanks to the higher thermodynamic stability of Bi-S bonds over Bi-O bonds<sup>44,45</sup>. This theory is supported by experiments carried out on Bi powder where the as-received powder was annealed, similarly to the films, and submerged in 1-dodecanethiol solutions made in isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and hexane. After 3 hr, the solution changed from colourless to yellow, and a precipitate was formed (**Figure 5.9**).



*Figure 5.9:* Photos of (a) a flask containing Bi powder and a 100 mM solution of 1dodecanethiol in IPA, under  $N_2$ , (b) a sample vial containing Bi powder and 100 mM solution of 1-dodecanethiol in IPA, in air.

The precipitate was collected and dissolved in deuterated chloroform (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) for NMR analysis. An NMR of the as received 1-dodecanethiol was also collected and used for comparison to check for the presence of the starting material at the end of the reaction. **Figure 5.10** shows stacked NMR scans for the as-received 1-dodecanethiol. A quartet of resonance peaks at 2.51 ppm (J = 7.33 Hz) arise from the  $\alpha$ -methylene of the thiol group. The  $\beta$ -methylene and the thiol proton resonate at 1.60 ppm (quintet, J = 7.58 Hz) and 1.39 ppm (unresolved multiplet) respectively, the methyl of the C12 carbon is found at 0.87 ppm (triplet, J = 6.90 Hz) and the remaining protons on C3-C11 form an unresolved multiplet at 1.26 ppm<sup>46</sup>. For the NMR of the reaction product the two  $\alpha$ -methylene groups of the disulphide moiety resonate as a triplet at 2.68 ppm (J = 7.35 Hz); the two  $\beta$ -methylene groups resonate at 1.67 ppm (quintet, J = 7.31 Hz) and between 1.26 and 1.39 ppm there is an unresolved multiplet formed by the protons on the two alkyl chains. The remaining two methyls at the end of the chains resonate at 0.88 ppm (triplet, J = 6.70 Hz)<sup>47</sup>.



*Figure 5.10:* NMR spectra of (a) the as-received 1-dodecanethiol used for the reaction and (b) the dodecyldisulphide product found after reacting 1-dodecanethiol solution with Bi powder.

Based on the NMR data, 1-dodecanethiol was completely converted to disulphide in the presence of the Bi powder, without the formation of impurities; no thiol was found in the NMR spectrum of the final product, *i.e.* the distinctive  $\alpha$ -methylene quartet absent. The reaction carried out with the Bi powder in air can proceed indefinitely until all the thiol starting material is oxidised; the powder is in fact allowed to reoxidise, unlike under N<sub>2</sub>, thus catalysing the reaction. No precipitate or colour change of the solution was observed when functionalising the Bi films with thiols, probably due to the much smaller surface area of the films compared to the powder samples and the small quantity of thiol used in the experiments. Also, at a thiol concentration of 10 mM only partial oxide reduction on the Bi films was observed (when compared to higher concentrations, see **Figure 5.4**), probably due to most of the thiol molecules in solution becoming oxidised upon removing the outer oxide layer, leaving only few available molecules to actually bind to the surface. Using thiol concentrations higher than 100 mM however lead to visible corrosion of the sample surface and therefore was considered not a viable solution to further improve oxide removal.

Bi powder samples, as-received and thiol-functionalised, were also analysed by XPS (**Figure 5.11**) to determine the extent of surface oxide. Although surface oxide reduction was not as dramatic as for the Bi thin film samples, the total surface oxide reduced by 22 % (see **Table 5.1**). The oxide reduction in the Bi powders was less than with the Bi films (where the surface oxide reduction was 41 %) due to the higher surface area of the powders and the difficulty in completely covering the surface of the powdered samples with the thiol solution due to its poor dispersity in the solvent.



*Figure 5.11:* Overlaid XPS spectra of Bi 4f core level of Bi powder before and after reaction with 100 mM 1-dodecanethiol in IPA. Spectra have been normalised to the minimum of the as-received sample to highlight the oxide reduction effect.

### **5.4 Conclusions**

In conclusion, I have shown that oxide removal and stabilisation of nanoscale Bi thin film is possible outside of a vacuum using long chain alkyl thiols. Complete surface reoxidation was prevented for up to 10 days, as opposed to less than 2 min for unpassivated surfaces. Oxide removal takes place due to a catalytic reaction between bismuth oxide and 1-dodecanethiol. Once the oxide has been removed the thiol groups passivate the bare Bi surface. While there is a basic understanding of the possible mechanisms behind the passivation reaction and oxidation resistance, there is still potential for improvement, for example by employing different length thiol molecules or by coating the surface with an inorganic protective layer once the oxide has been removed by chemical methods.

### **5.5 Bibliography**

- Alessio Verni, G.; Long, B.; Gity, F.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.; Greer, J.; Holmes, J. D. Oxide Removal and Stabilization of Bismuth Thin Films through Chemically Bound Thiol Layers. *RSC Adv.* 2018, 8 (58), 33368–33373. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8RA06840B.
- Gity, F.; Ansari, L.; König, C.; Verni, G. A.; Holmes, J. D.; Long, B.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.; Greer, J. C. Metal-Semimetal Schottky Diode Relying on Quantum Confinement. *Microelectron. Eng.* 2018, *195*, 21–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2018.03.022.
- Jones, H. Applications of the Bloch Theory to the Study of Alloys and of the Properties of Bismuth. *Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 1934, *147* (861), 396–417. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1934.0224.
- (4) Blackman, M. On the Diamagnetic Susceptibility of Bismuth. Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 1938, 166 (924), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1938.0078.
- (5) Dhillon, J. S.; Shoenberg, D. The de Haas-Van Alphen Effect. III. Experiments at Fields up to 32 KG. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 1955, 248 (937), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.1955.0007.
- (6) Ogrin, Y. F.; Lutskii, V. ~N.; Elinson, M. ~I. Observation of Quantum Size Effects in Thin Bismuth Films. Sov. J. Exp. Theor. Phys. Lett. 1966, 3, 71.
- Marchak, D.; Glozman, D.; Vinshtein, Y.; Jarby, S.; Lereah, Y.; Cheshnovsky,
   O.; Selzer, Y. Large Anisotropic Conductance and Band Gap Fluctuations in Nearly Round-Shape Bismuth Nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* 2012, *12* (2), 1087– 1091. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl204460y.
- (8) Hofmann, P. The Surfaces of Bismuth: Structural and Electronic Properties.

 Prog.
 Surf.
 Sci.
 2006,
 81
 (5),
 191–245.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progsurf.2006.03.001.

- Cahay, M. Quantum Confinement VI: Nanostructured Materials and Devices : Proceedings of the International Symposium; Proceedings (Electrochemical Society); Electrochemical Society, 2001.
- Hoffman, C. A.; Meyer, J. R.; Bartoli, F. J.; Di Venere, A.; Yi, X. J.; Hou, C. L.; Wang, H. C.; Ketterson, J. B.; Wong, G. K. Semimetal-to-Semiconductor Transition in Bismuth Thin Films. *Phys. Rev. B* 1993, *48* (15), 11431–11434. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.48.11431.
- (11) Ast, C. R.; Höchst, H. Electronic Structure of a Bismuth Bilayer. *Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* 2003, 67 (11), 4. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.67.113102.
- (12) Sun, X.; Zhang, Z.; Dresselhaus, M. S. Theoretical Modeling of Thermoelectricity in Bi Nanowires. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1999, 74 (26), 4005–4007. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.123242.
- (13) Lin, Y.-M.; Cronin, S. B.; Ying, J. Y.; Dresselhaus, M. S.; Heremans, J. P. Transport Properties of Bi Nanowire Arrays. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2000, *76* (26), 3944–3946. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.126829.
- (14) Zhang, Z.; Sun, X.; Dresselhaus, M. S.; Ying, J. Y.; Heremans, J. Electronic Transport Properties of Single-Crystal Bismuth Nanowire Arrays. *Phys. Rev. B* 2000, *61* (7), 4850–4861. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.61.4850.
- (15) Ansari, L.; Fagas, G.; Colinge, J.-P.; Greer, J. C. A Proposed Confinement Modulated Gap Nanowire Transistor Based on a Metal (Tin). *Nano Lett.* 2012, *12* (5), 2222–2227. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl2040817.
- (16) Ansari, L.; Gity, F.; Greer, J. C. Electronic and Structural Properties of

Rhombohedral [1 1 1] and [1 1 0] Oriented Ultra-Thin Bismuth Nanowires. J. Phys. Condens. Matter 2017, 29 (6), 065301. https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-648X/aa4e63.

- (17) Gity, F.; Ansari, L.; Lanius, M.; Schüffelgen, P.; Mussler, G.; Grützmacher, D.;
  Greer, J. C. Reinventing Solid State Electronics: Harnessing Quantum Confinement in Bismuth Thin Films. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2017, *110* (9), 093111.
  https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4977431.
- (18) Hapase, H. G.; Tare, V. B.; Biswas, A. B. Oxidation of Bismuth. *Acta Met.* **1967**, *15* (January), 131–133.
- Palkar, G. D.; Sitharamarao, D. N.; Dasgupta, A. K. Self-Diffusion of Bismuth in Bismuth Oxide. *Trans. Faraday Soc.* 1963, 59 (3), 2634. https://doi.org/10.1039/tf9635902634.
- (20) Atkinson, A. Wagner Theory and Short Circuit Diffusion. *Mater. Sci. Technol.* **1988**, *4* (12), 1046–1051. https://doi.org/10.1179/mst.1988.4.12.1046.
- (21) Komorita, K.; Nishinaga, T.; Nisio, M. Oxidation of Bismuth Thin Films. J.
   *Vac. Soc. Japan* **1978**, *21* (6), 196–202. https://doi.org/10.3131/jvsj.21.196.
- (22) Puckrin, E.; Slavin, A. J. Comparison of the Oxidation of Polycrystalline Bulk Bismuth and Thin Bismuth Films on the Au(111) Surface. *Phys. Rev. B* 1990, 42 (2), 1168–1176. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.42.1168.
- (23) Kowalczyk, P. J.; Belic, D.; Mahapatra, O.; Brown, S. A.; Kadantsev, E. S.;
  Woo, T. K.; Ingham, B.; Kozlowski, W. Anisotropic Oxidation of Bismuth Nanostructures: Evidence for a Thin Film Allotrope of Bismuth. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2012, *100* (15), 151904. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3701166.
- (24) Nyholm, R.; Berndtsson, A.; Martensson, N. Core Level Binding Energies for the Elements Hf to Bi (Z=72-83). J. Phys. C Solid State Phys. 1980, 13 (36),

L1091–L1096. https://doi.org/10.1088/0022-3719/13/36/009.

- (25) Dharmadhikari, V. S.; Sainkar, S. R.; Badrinarayan, S.; Goswami, A. Characterisation of Thin Films of Bismuth Oxide by X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy. J. Electron Spectros. Relat. Phenomena 1982, 25 (2), 181–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/0368-2048(82)85016-0.
- (26) Cumpson, P. J.; Zalm, P. C. Thickogram: A Method for Easy Film Thickness Measurement in XPS. *Surf. Interface Anal.* 2000, 29 (6), 403–406. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9918(200006)29:6<403::AID-SIA884>3.0.CO;2-8.
- (27) Powell, C. J.; Jablonski, A. *Electron Effective-Attenuation-Length Database -Version 1.3*; National Institute of Standards and Technology: Gaithersburg, MD, 2011.
- (28) Zhao, L. Z.; Zhang, J. B. Bi and O Valences in Ba-K-Bi-O, Ba-K-M-Bi-O (M = Rb, La, Eu, In, Tland Pb) and the Related Compounds. *Solid State Commun.* 1994, *90* (11), 709–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1098(94)90190-2.
- (29) Pireaux, J. J.; Riga, J.; Caudano, R.; Verbist, J. J.; Delhalle, J.; Delhalle, S.;
  André, J. M.; Gobillon, Y. Polymer Primary Structures Studied by ESCA and EHCO Methods. *Phys. Scr.* 1977, *16* (5–6), 329–338. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-8949/16/5-6/024.
- (30) Lindberg, B. J.; Hamrin, K.; Johansson, G.; Gelius, U.; Fahlman, A.; Nordling,
  C.; Siegbahn, K. Molecular Spectroscopy by Means of ESCA II. Sulfur
  Compounds. Correlation of Electron Binding Energy with Structure. *Phys. Scr.* **1970**, *1* (5–6), 286–298. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-8949/1/5-6/020.
- (31) Russat, J. Characterization of Polyamic Acid/Polyimide Films in the Nanometric Thickness Range from Spin-Deposited Polyamic Acid. *Surf.*

Interface Anal. 1988, 11 (8), 414–420. https://doi.org/10.1002/sia.740110803.

- (32) Dubois, L. H.; Nuzzo, R. G. Synthesis, Structure, and Properties of Model Organic Surfaces. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1992, 43 (1), 437–463. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pc.43.100192.002253.
- (33) Rieley, H.; Kendall, G. K.; Zemicael, F. W.; Smith, T. L.; Yang, S. X-Ray Studies of Self-Assembled Monolayers on Coinage Metals . 1 . Alignment and Photooxidation in 1, 8-Octanedithiol and 1-Octanethiol on Au. *Langmuir* 1998, 7463 (5), 5147–5153.
- (34) Nersasian, A.; Johnson, P. R. Infrared Spectra of Alkanesulfonic Acids, Chlorosulfonated Polyethylene, and Their Derivatives. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 1965, 9 (5), 1653–1668. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.1965.070090505.
- (35) Bothwell, J. M.; Krabbe, S. W.; Mohan, R. S. Applications of Bismuth(Iii) Compounds in Organic Synthesis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2011, 40 (9), 4649. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0cs00206b.
- (36) Postel, M.; Duñach, E. Bismuth Derivatives for the Oxidation of Organic Compounds. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 1996, 155, 127–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-8545(96)90179-4.
- Jones, C. W. Applications of Hydrogen Peroxide and Derivatives; RSC Clean Technology Monographs; Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge, 1999. https://doi.org/10.1039/9781847550132.
- Holmberg, V. C.; Korgel, B. a. Corrosion Resistance of Thiol- and Alkene-Passivated Germanium Nanowires. *Chem. Mater.* 2010, 22 (8), 3698–3703. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm1005696.
- (39) Keller, H.; Simak, P.; Schrepp, W.; Dembowski, J. Surface Chemistry of Thiols on Copper: An Efficient Way of Producing Multilayers. *Thin Solid Films* 1994,

244 (1-2), 799-805. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-6090(94)90574-6.

- (40) Fan, H.; Chen, Z.; Brinker, C. J.; Clawson, J.; Alam, T. Synthesis of Organo-Silane Functionalized Nanocrystal Micelles and Their Self-Assembly. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2005, *127* (40), 13746–13747. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0537950.
- (41) Nikoobakht, B.; El-sayed, M. a. Evidence for Bilayer Assembly of Cationic Surfactants on the Surface of Gold Nanorods Evidence for Bilayer Assembly of Cationic Surfactants on the Surface of Gold Nanorods. *Assembly* 2001, No. 18, 6368–6374. https://doi.org/10.1021/la010530o.
- (42) Ward, R. N.; Duffy, D. C.; Davies, P. B.; Bain, C. D. Sum-Frequency Spectroscopy of Surfactants Adsorbed at a Flat Hydrophobic Surface. *J. Phys. Chem.* 1994, 98 (34), 8536–8542. https://doi.org/10.1021/j100085a037.
- (43) Patil, V.; Mayya, K. S.; Pradhan, S. D.; Sastry, M. Evidence for Novel Interdigitated Bilayer Formation of Fatty Acids during Three-Dimensional Self-Assembly on Silver Colloidal Particles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1997, *119* (39), 9281–9282. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja971161e.
- (44) Briand, G. G.; Burford, N. Coordination Complexes of Bismuth(III) Involving Organic Ligands with Pnictogen or Chalcogen Donors. *Adv. Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, *50*, 285–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0898-8838(00)50007-5.
- (45) Phillips, H. A.; Burford, N. Identification of Bismuth-Thiolate-Carboxylate Clusters by Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Inorg. Chem.* 2008, 47
  (7), 2428–2441. https://doi.org/10.1021/ic701657r.
- (46) Jayabharathi, J.; Sundari, G. A.; Thanikachalam, V.; Jeeva, P.; Panimozhi, S. A Dodecanethiol-Functionalized Ag Nanoparticle-Modified ITO Anode for Efficient Performance of Organic Light-Emitting Devices. *RSC Adv.* 2017, 7 (62), 38923–38934. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA07080B.

(47) Kirihara, M.; Asai, Y.; Ogawa, S.; Noguchi, T.; Hatano, A.; Hirai, Y. A Mild and Environmentally Benign Oxidation of Thiols to Disulfides. *Synthesis* (*Stuttg*). 2007, 2007 (21), 3286–3289. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-990800.

# **Chapter 6**

## Conclusions and Future Work

### **6.1 Conclusions**

The evolution of current logic devices is constantly requiring materials and processes which can lead to better performances, higher device reliability and more energy efficiency. Integration in current manufacturing processes is of paramount importance as current chip architectures require hundreds of subsequent steps that are closely interlinked with each other. Moreover, as the source-drain and channel dimensions are scaling down towards atomic layer scale and device complexity increases to more advanced three-dimensional geometries, it will be of the utmost importance to be able to functionalise and dope these materials in the most controllable way possible, while at the same time eliminating any possible source of defect introduction.

Surface functionalisation with organic monolayers will become increasingly more vital as the surface to volume ratio of current transistors keeps increasing. Materials such as Ge, SiGe and III-V compounds are starting to replace Si as a channel material, due to their higher carrier mobilities, leading to lower power consumption for the equivalent performance of their Si-counterparts. 2D transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDs) are also being explored as the next generation channel materials, due to their structural stability, direct bandgap and electron mobility comparable to Si. However, these materials introduce a whole new set of challenges when it comes to doping and functionalisation. Application of molecular layer doping (MLD) to next generation architectures and new materials will require a coordinated effort from industrial partners, device physicist, chemists and chemical suppliers as the demand from the logic industry for new solutions is constantly increasing.

Chapter 1 gave an overview of the transistor evolution over the last few years and how MLD has been applied to both group IV and group III-V materials. A summary of alternative channel materials has also been included, with the focus on Ge and GaN,

their surface chemistry and functionalisation. Finally, a summary has been made of Bi, its interesting electrical properties as well as its oxide and surface functionalisation.

Chapter 2 outlined the experimental methods used to functionalise Ge and GaN surfaces with dopant-containing precursors, as well as the passivation procedure of Bi developed using organothiol self-assembled monolayers (SAMs). The synthesis of custom-designed molecules was also described. NMR was used to determine the purity of the molecules prior to their use in the functionalisation process. Characterisation methods for coupons included XPS, AFM, FTIR, SIMS, ECV, Hall effect measurements and PL spectroscopy. For nanostructured devices, TEM was used to monitor the nanowire morphology and to verify that there was no damage caused to the crystal lattice of the test-structures throughout the MLD process. The fabrication of the nanostructured devices by EBL and their testing procedure was also outlined. The substrate growth parameters for the GaN and Bi substrates used for this work have also been described.

Chapter 3 described the first application of organo-arsenic and organo-phosphorous monolayers on Ge for MLD. A custom-synthesised organo-arsenic molecule and a commercially available organo-phosphorous precursor were used to successfully functionalise planar Ge substrates and GOI nanowire devices ranging from 1000 to 20 nm. High dopant concentrations approaching  $9 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> for P and  $6 \times 10^{18}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup> for As were achieved for bulk Ge. The resistivity of MLD P-doped GOI nanowires was also decreased by up to five orders of magnitude using the MLD technique when compared with the undoped nanowires. TEM analysis showed that the MLD process had no effect on the crystallinity of the nanowires and no visible damage or defects were observed, further proof that the MLD process is more than suitable for non-destructive nanoscale doping.

Chapter 4 expanded upon the work reported in Chapter 3 by applying MLD to GaN in order to introduce Si dopants. As a proof of concept, it was shown that it is possible to dope GaN films outside of an MOCVD reactor by in-diffusing Si from a self-assembled monolayer on the surface. XPS was used to successfully verify that the functionalisation with APTES was reproducible from literature.<sup>1</sup> The highest Si dopant concentration achieved was  $2 \times 10^{19}$  at/cm<sup>3</sup>, with almost complete dopant activation and no impact on the quality of the surface, as seen by AFM. The study focused on determining the best capping and annealing conditions by analysing the Si in-diffusion via SIMS, Hall measurements and PL spectroscopy.

Chapter 5 investigated the oxide removal and surface passivation of Bi using alkyl thiols. XPS was used to study the surface chemistry of the Bi films, pre and post passivation, exploring different thiol concentrations and verifying the stability of the film towards reoxidation over a period of 10 days. AFM was used to analyse surface quality throughout the process and FTIR was employed to study the bonding environment present on the surface of the thin films. Based on NMR analysis of the reaction by-product of the functionalisation of Bi powders, it was possible to postulate that oxide removal takes place due to a catalytic reaction between bismuth oxide and the alkyl thiol. Once the oxide had been removed the thiol groups passivate the bare Bi surface and stabilises it towards ambient exposure.

### **6.2 Future Work**

The surface functionalisation approaches used in Chapters 3 and 4 are extremely adaptable for applications where different dopant atoms are required. Chapter 3 outlined the functionalisation of Ge substrates and nanowire devices with triallylarsine and diphenylphosphine oxide monolayers. To extend this work, as there are no other reports of MLD on Ge it should be possible to attempt doping employing alternative dopants such as Sb, B, Al, Ga, In. Moreover RTA was found as the limiting factor to achieve an abrupt doping profile, due to the high diffusivity of P and As in Ge, therefore it would be ideal to test alternative annealing techniques such as millisecond laser annealing or spike annealing.<sup>2,3</sup> Carbon is also known to co-dope Ge and control the diffusion depth<sup>4–6</sup>. Therefore, in order to obtain a more controllable process it would be ideal to minimise the amount of carbon in the precursor use in order to better control the elements diffusing in the substrate.

The work of Chapter 4 could be expanded in a similar fashion by exploring different dopants, such as Mg or Ge. Moreover, due to the influence of carbon and oxygen on the behaviour of the dopants being introduced, it would be interesting to explore the use of molecules with a smaller carbon skeletons, such as trimethoxysilane, vinyltrimethoxysilane and methyltrimethoxysilane. The functionalisation strategy could then be further expanded to nanowire devices, to also confirm on III-V materials that crystal integrity is maintained after the MLD process. The photopatterning prowess of APTES<sup>1</sup> could also be further investigated, with the aim of achieving area selective doping of GaN by functionalising, patterning and then in-diffusing of Si in specific areas of a sample. This approach could also be used on group IV materials as a selective process could allow for targeted doping of the source-drain areas without adding complexity to the device fabrication process.

Finally, the work carried out in Chapter 5 could be expanded to different length thiols, to check for the effect of the carbon chain length on the oxidation resistance properties of Bi films, as well as to determine surface binding and molecular packing densities. The scalability of the gas phase oxide removal and passivation process also warrants further investigation. Moreover, it would be of interest to apply the passivation to an actual device, to check how the electrical properties would be affected by the SAM and to see if, when carrying out potential subsequent steps for the fabrication of Bi based devices (*e.g.* contacting of the Bi source/drain, metal gate deposition on the Bi channel) would the chemically passivated surface remain oxide free at the end of step or will there be an impact from the deposited SAM on factors such as metal nucleation.

### **6.3 Bibliography**

- Baur, B.; Steinhoff, G.; Hernando, J.; Purrucker, O.; Tanaka, M.; Nickel, B.; Stutzmann, M.; Eickhoff, M. Chemical Functionalization of GaN and AlN Surfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2005, 87 (26), 263901. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2150280.
- (2) Chih-Chao Yang; Tung-Ying Hsieh; Wen-Hsien Huang; Hsing-Hsiang Wang; Chang-Hong Shen; Jia-Min Shieh. Sequentially Stacked 3DIC Technology Using Green Nanosecond Laser Crystallization and Laser Spike Annealing Technologies. In 2015 IEEE 22nd International Symposium on the Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits; IEEE, 2015; Vol. 2015-Augus, pp 389–391. https://doi.org/10.1109/IPFA.2015.7224423.
- Wang, C.; Li, C.; Wei, J.; Lin, G.; Lan, X.; Chi, X.; Lu, C.; Huang, Z.; Chen,
  C.; Huang, W.; Lai, H.; Chen, S. High-Performance Ge p-n Photodiode Achieved With Preannealing and Excimer Laser Annealing. *IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett.* 2015, 27 (14), 1485–1488. https://doi.org/10.1109/LPT.2015.2426016.
- (4) Chroneos, A.; Bracht, H.; Grimes, R. W.; Uberuaga, B. P. Vacancy-Mediated Dopant Diffusion Activation Enthalpies for Germanium. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2008, 92 (17), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2918842.
- Brotzmann, S.; Bracht, H. Intrinsic and Extrinsic Diffusion of Phosphorus, Arsenic, and Antimony in Germanium. J. Appl. Phys. 2008, 103 (3), 033508. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2837103.
- (6) Chroneos, A.; Bracht, H. Diffusion of n -Type Dopants in Germanium. *Appl. Phys. Rev.* 2014, 1 (1). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4838215.